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COMPANY INTRODUCTION

NCIVNE

OVERVIEW

Chervon Holdings Limited (the “Company”, and together with
its subsidiaries, the “Group,” “we,” “us” or “our”) is a global
provider of power tools and outdoor power equipment (‘OPE”).
Our focus on innovation, especially lithium-ion battery system
technology, has enabled us to achieve significant scale and
rapid growth. We offer a comprehensive range of products
under a portfolio of well-recognized brands, which are tailored
to address the diverse needs of our end users around the
world. Our power tools target both industrial/professional
and consumer end users, and our OPE products target both
premium and mass-market end users. We currently own five
differentiated and well-recognized brands that cover key
geographies and segments, namely EGO, FLEX, SKIL, DEVON
and X-TRON.

We focus on user-centric innovation and product offerings,
which is supported by our integrated system of research
and development, manufacturing and sales and distribution
capabilities. Our broad end-user base for lithium-ion battery
powered products enables us to rapidly accumulate industry
knowledge, technology know-how and end-user insights.
Leveraging such knowledge and insights, we have been able
to continuously introduce new products showcasing advanced
technology and product design capabilities. We then produce
these new, user-centric products in a consistently high-
quality manner through our smart manufacturing system
and distributing them through our multi-channel sales and
distribution network. Our global operations and local market
knowledge enable us to expand market shares and meet end
user needs in our target markets. Our robust brand portfolio,
which resonates with our end users, also helps solidify our
market position.

OUR VISION

Better Tools. Better World.

OUR MISSION

Providing superior products to users worldwide through
continuous innovation, we are determined to become a global
leader in power tools and outdoor power equipment in the
lithium-ion, intelligent and digital era.
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PRINCIPAL BANKS

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
Bank of Communications — Nanjing Jiangning Branch

STOCK CODE

2285

PLACE OF LISTING

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

COMPANY’S WEBSITE

https://global.chervongroup.com

LISTING DATE

December 30, 2021
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
B2

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the
published audited financial statements, is set out below:

AEERBEREMBRFEZEXENREERAE
HE (BExEETREEXZNMBERR) #IIWT

RESULTS E
Year ended December 31,
BE12A31HILEE
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
20184 20194 20204F 20214 2022
(In US$ thousands, except per share data)
(FZ=7 - BREFERIN
Revenue I A 690,698 843,578 1,200,902 1,757,784 1,989,280
(Loss)/profit before taxation MELAT (B51R), F (14,414) 42,348 59,511 176,098 161,390
Income tax credit/(expense) FrisEiEe,/(F%) 957 (6,266)  (11,123)  (26,377)  (22,112)
(Loss)/profit for the year ERN(EE), FE (13,457) 36,082 48,388 149,721 139,278
Attributable to: AN AT E(S -
Equity shareholders of the NN BIRERRARER (14,084) 33,976 44,359 144,544 139,369
Company
Non-controlling interest JEIE PR FE RS 627 2,106 4,029 5,177 (91)
Earnings per share B AN
— Basic (cents) —HEAKR(H) (4) 9 11 36 28
— Diluted (cents) —#E (59) (4) 9 11 36 28
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND EQUITY aE  BEkER
As of December 31,
HZ12A318
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
20184 20194 20204 20214 20225
(In US$ thousands, except per share data)
(FZ=7 - BREGERIN
Assets BE
Total assets BERE 745,810 867,177 1,091,467 2,056,156 1,862,504
Equity and liabilities EEkEaE
Equity attributable to equity PANYNSIL iy 149,802 182,131 259,738 797,017 946,190
shareholders of the Company  ##
Non-controlling interests FEIE IR 17,313 18,707 24,286 - (91)
Total equity BT 167,115 200,838 284,024 797,017 946,099
Total liabilities BfE4a%E 578,695 666,339 807,443 1,259,139 916,405
Total equity and liabilities kB EATE 745,810 867,177 1,091,467 2,056,156 1,862,504
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2022 marked the first full year of Chervon as a public
company, and | am pleased to report that we continued to
make significant strides towards fulfilling our responsibilities to
our shareholders (the “Shareholders”), customers, employees,
communities and other key stakeholders. Despite the
challenging macroeconomic environment and stagnant market,
our focus on innovation has allowed us to adapt quickly to the
changing market conditions and stay ahead of the curve. In
2022, we delivered revenue of US$1,989.3 million, representing
a 13.2% year-over-year increase. Our double-digit growth
significantly outpaced the market, further strengthening our
position as an industry leader and reflecting the robustness
of our business. In particular, we saw extraordinary growth of
41.5% in our OPE products, which drove our overall revenue
increase, and we believe it will position us well for future
growth across key markets, including North America, Europe,
Oceania and Asia.

Our user-centric mindset remains at the forefront of our
strategy, and we continue to pay close attention to market
and customer and end-user needs as we grow our business.
We remain focused on innovating and making great products,
particularly in the lithium-ion battery-powered segment, which
we believe reflects long-term growth potential. In 2022, we
introduced over 200 new products in total, and lithium-ion
battery powered products accounted for approximately 85% of
the new products. We believe our comprehensive portfolio of
innovative products can fuel our continued growth in the years
to come.
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CHAIRMAN’'S STATEMENT
EERGE

Through decades of dedication and hard work, we have
built, and continued to strengthen, five well-recognized and
differentiated brands that comprehensively cover industrial/
professional and consumer power tools and premium and
mass-market OPE products. As of December 31, 2022, the
number of our EGO-branded lithium-ion batteries sold globally
increased to approximately 12 million, which attests to our
strong brand image and customer loyalty and significantly
broadens our end-user base. We also continued expanding
our touchpoints for end-users by enhancing our global multi-
channel sales and distribution network across key markets.

In 2022, we continued building the CHERVON Green Power
Industrial Park Phase Il (REFFRERIEE =), which is
expected to commence operations in the first half of 2023.
Furthermore, our upgraded CHERVON Testing Center
commenced operations in 2022, which provides us with
advanced, industry-leading testing capabilities. We also
undertook measures to transform how we manage our
business operations, including building an integrated product
development process. We believe these efforts will further
strengthen our ability to meet customer needs and lay a solid
foundation for our future growth.

Looking ahead to 20283, the macroeconomic uncertainty
caused by geopolitical tensions and trade disputes continues
to create challenges. While we acknowledge the risks and
obstacles ahead, we will remain vigilant, stay focused on our
core strengths and maintain a flexible approach in navigating
the challenging and rapidly evolving business landscape. In
particular, we will continuously invest in our product portfolio,
sales and distribution network, brand recognition, production
capacity and human capital development. Furthermore, we
believe that fulfilling our environmental, social, and governance
(“ESG”) responsibilities creates value for our Shareholders,
and we will continue to act as a responsible corporate
citizen by innovating in green products, promoting energy
conservation, reducing carbon emissions and implementing
sound corporate governance practices. We believe our
unwavering commitment to user-centric innovation, speed to
market and sustainable development will position us well to
outperform the market, capture growth opportunities across
business segments and geographies and deliver value to our
customers, end-users and Shareholders in the future.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
%ﬁrﬁlé E]Luﬁﬂ/\ﬂ TFF

BUSINESS OVERVIEW AND OUTLOOK
Business Overview

We are pleased to announce that during the year ended
2022 (the “Reporting Period”) we have
achieved strong results and further expanded our overall
competitive advantages, despite ongoing market challenges
and uncertainties. The Group’s revenue grew by 13.2%
from US$1,757.8 million in 2021 to US$1,989.3 million in
2022, significantly outperforming the market and further
strengthening our industry leadership position. During the
same year, our Original Brand Manufacturing (*“OBM”)
business grew by 22.1%. In local currency, the Group’s
revenue increased by 15.1%. Our sales continued to grow
after more than doubling from 2018 to 2021, reflecting the
robustness of our business. Extraordinary growth of revenue
from our OPE products drove our overall revenue increase,
and we believe it will position us well for future development.

December 31,
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Our OPE segment delivered strong revenue growth of 41.5%
from US$864.6 million in 2021 to US$1,223.5 million in
2022, reflecting our continued innovation and leadership in
the lithium-ion market segment. Our power tools segment
decreased by 14.7% from US$885.2 million in 2021 to
US$754.9 million in 2022, mainly due to slower market demand
and customer destocking. We will continue investing in new
product initiatives in order to gain market share, especially in
the lithium-ion and industrial/professional market segments.

Introducing new products grounded in advanced technology
and end-user insights

Leveraging our research and development capabilities,
we continued to develop new products in-house and drive
industry transformations. In 2022, we introduced over 200 new
products in total, and lithium-ion battery powered products
accounted for approximately 85% of the new products. We
believe our comprehensive portfolio of innovative products can
fuel our continued growth in the years to come.

Annual Report 2022
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Our EGO-branded products significantly contributed to our
growth in 2022, and we continued to build on its market
strengths. Our flagship EGO Z6 Zero-turn riding lawn mower
won the “2022 China Excellent Industrial Design Gold Medal”
and the “China Machinery Industry Science and Technology”
awards, which is a testament to its superior design and
innovation. Under the EGO brand, we also brought to market
an advanced trimmer product featuring the world’s first LINE
IQ™ auto-sensing technology that can monitor and feed the
length of the line for a continuous 16-inch cutting swath, while
delivering non-stop high performance trimming.

We continued strengthening the FLEX product portfolio in
2022, which marked the 100th anniversary of this legendary
brand. For example, we launched the Stack Pack™ products
under the FLEX brand, which provide a storage system that
includes tool boxes, organizer boxes and battery holders,
among others. Having been recognized by our customers
and end-users, the Stack Pack™ products won the Year 2022
Power Tool Innovation Award, which honors products with
superior, innovative features and technologies.

Furthermore, we partnered with a leading e-commerce platform
to launch the Denali by SKIL, a co-branded line of power
tools that can run on an interoperable 20V lithium-ion battery
system.

Increasing end-user recognition for our brand portfolio

Leveraging our end-user insights, advanced technologies
and global sales and distribution network, we continued to
increase end-user recognition for our proprietary brands in
their respective markets during the Reporting Period. Our five
well-recognized and differentiated brands comprehensively
cover industrial/professional and consumer power tools and
premium and mass-market OPE products, which we believe
will support our continued growth. Revenue from our OBM
business grew by 22.1% from US$1,132 million in 2021 to
US$1,381.8 million in 2022, and accounted for 69.5% of
our total revenue in 2022 (2021: 64.4%), demonstrating the
strengths of our proprietary brands. As of December 31,
2022, the number of our EGO-branded lithium-ion batteries
sold globally increased to approximately 12 million, which
attests to our strong brand image and customer loyalty and
significantly broadens our end-user base. We also expanded
the geographic reach of SK/L products to South Korea and
Thailand, which is a milestone for our business expansion in
the Asia market and helps promote our brand awareness and
global market influence.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BIRE & B AT

Enhancing our multi-channel sales and distribution network

During the Reporting Period, we continued expanding our
touchpoints for end-users by enhancing our global multi-
channel sales and distribution network across key markets,
including North America, Europe, Oceania and Asia. We
continued deepening our collaboration with leading home
centers and mass market retailers, and strengthening our
partnership with qualified distributors and local retailers to
diversify our sales channels and promote brand recognition.
We also significantly expanded distribution channels across
North America and Europe for our EGO-branded products.
Additionally, we have further enhanced our online sales
channels by collaborating with e-commerce platforms and
operating our own e-stores.

Improving our manufacturing technologies and production
management capabilities, and expanding our production
capacity

During the Reporting Period, we continued to advance our
manufacturing technologies and production management
capabilities, including making long-term investments in our
vertically integrated manufacturing system. For example, we
continued building the smart production lines in the CHERVON
Green Power Industrial Park Phase Il (RIEFTEEE TR —H)
and expect that they will commence operations in the first half
of 2023. Equipped with advanced automation technologies, the
smart production lines will also help improve manufacturing
efficiency.

Furthermore, we continued to promote the application of
industrial engineering and quality control technologies in our
production lines, while improving the level of automation and
transparency in our manufacturing process by horizontally
integrating our information technology systems. During the
Reporting Period, our upgraded CHERVON Testing Center
commenced operations, which provide us with advanced,
industry-leading testing capabilities and demonstrate our
commitment to maintaining high standards for product quality.

Implementing management transformation efforts

During the Reporting Period, we continued to invest in
promoting process-based and data-driven management
transformation initiatives, including adopting advanced
management tools and hiring top-level consulting services, to
strengthen the strategic planning and execution capabilities
of our organization. We believe that the improvement of such
capabilities will help promote our operational efficiency and
support our sustainable growth in the long term.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic

During the Reporting Period, the coronavirus disease 2019
(“COVID-19”) pandemic has affected our operations and
supply chain (including transportation time and costs) from
time to time as a result of the People’s Republic of China
(“PRC”) government-imposed restrictive measures. In
December 2022, many of such restrictive measures have been
terminated or replaced with more flexible measures. During
the same month, we experienced temporary disruptions at
our factories in Nanjing, PRC when certain of our employees
confirmed with COVID-19 infections and were absent from
work. We have resumed normal operations since the beginning
of 2023. We believe that the COVID-19 pandemic has not had
a material adverse impact on our results of operations in 2022.
However, we cannot assure you that the COVID-19 pandemic
will not have a material adverse effect on our business going
forward. Any future outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic or a
contagious disease may have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition or results of operations.

Prospects

As we look ahead to 2023, macroeconomic uncertainty
continues to cast a shadow over global markets. However,
despite the challenges, we are confident that the Company
will be able to outperform the market by continuously focusing
on our core strengths and maintaining a flexible approach.
To drive sustainable long-term growth, we will continue to
develop lithium-ion battery powered new products, expand
our multi-channel sales and distributions network, enhance
brand recognition, expand production capacities and
improve operational efficiency and invest in human capital
development. We will endeavor to consistently outperform
the market and deliver superior results for our Shareholders,
employees and communities in a socially and environmentally
responsible manner.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BIRE & B AT

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Financial Results
Revenue

The Group’s revenue increased by 13.2% from US$1,757.8
million in 2021 to US$1,989.3 million in 2022, primarily due to
the extraordinary growth of revenue from our OPE products.

Revenue by product category

Revenue from the sales of OPE products increased by 41.5%
from US$864.6 million in 2021 to US$1,223.5 million in 2022,
primarily driven by the increased sales of our EGO-branded
OPE products across key markets and SK/L-branded OPE
products in North America, as well as the expansion of our
ODM business for our OPE products with a key customer.

Revenue from the sales of power tools decreased by 14.7%
from US$885.2 million in 2021 to US$754.9 million in 2022,
after several years of rapid growth, mainly due to slower
market demand and customer destocking.

Revenue by geographic location

Our revenue generated from North America, our largest
geographic market, increased by 26.3% from US$1,187.4
million in 2021 to US$1,499.9 million in 2022, primarily due
to the growth in the sales of our EGO-branded products. Our
revenue from Europe decreased by 21.5% from US$404.2
million in 2021 to US$317.2 million in 2022, primarily due to
decreases in revenue from power tools and ODM business, as
well as depreciation in euro against US dollars. Our revenue
from China decreased by 5.7% from US$105.5 million in 2021
to US$99.5 million in 2022, primarily due to the impact of
the COVID-19 pandemic and a downturn in local real estate
markets in the PRC. Our revenue from rest of the world grew
by 19.6% from US$60.7 million in 2021 to US$72.6 million in
2022.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

Our gross profit increased by 22.1% from US$494.5 million in
2021 to US$603.9 million in 2022. During the same years, our
overall gross profit margin increased from 28.1% to 30.4%,
primarily due to (i) growth in our OBM business which had
higher profit margins and (ii) depreciation of Renminbi (‘RMB”)
against US dollars in 2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Other Revenue

Our other revenue, which primarily consisted of government
grants, sale of scrap materials and rental income, amounted to
US$7.0 million in 2022, as compared to US$5.2 million in 2021.

Other Net Loss or Gain

We had other net losses of US$52.3 million in 2022, as
compared to other net gains of US$37.9 million in 2021. Our
other net loss in 2022 was primarily attributable to (i) a net
foreign exchange loss of US$15.5 million mainly driven by
fluctuations in foreign exchange rates, (ii) a net unrealized loss
on convertible bonds of US$15.3 million, which was related
to the convertible bonds issued by Nanjing Chervon Auto
Precision Technology Co., Ltd. (FRRIEFEFEREMRD
B 7]) (“Chervon Auto Precision Technology’) that we
hold and (iii) a net realized and unrealized loss on derivative
financial instruments of US$23.3 million, which was mainly
related to our foreign currency forward contracts.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

Our selling and distribution expenses increased by 9.5% from
US$195.5 million in 2021 to US$214.0 million in 2022, primarily
due to our strategic investments in marketing activities to
improve brand recognition and maintain the momentum of
sales growth.

Administrative and Other Operating Expenses

Our administrative and other operating expenses decreased
by 13.3% from US$103.6 million in 2021 to US$89.8 million in
2022, primarily due to the impact of costs and expenses in
connection with our initial public offering in 2021.

Research and Development Costs

Our research and development costs increased by 30.9% from
US$50.2 million in 2021 to US$65.7 million in 2022, primarily
due to the Group’s accelerated investments in research and
development and new product initiatives, including hiring top
engineering talents and establishing our Beijing, PRC-based
research and development center.

Net Finance Costs

Our net finance costs increased by 34.0% from US$16.6
million in 2021 to US$22.3 million in 2022, primarily due to
higher US dollar-denominated interest rates in connection with
our supply chain financing.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BIRE & B AT

Share of (Losses)/Profits of Associates

We had a share of losses of associates of US$5.5 million
in 2022, as compared to a share of profits of associates of
US$4.4 million in 2021, which were primarily attributable to our
24.5% equity interest in Chervon Auto Precision Technology.

Profit Before Taxation

As a result of the foregoing, our profit before taxation in 2022
amounted to US$161.4 million, representing a decrease of
8.4% as compared to US$176.1 million in 2021.

Income Tax Expense

Our income tax expense was US$22.1 million in 2022,
representing a decrease of 16.3% from US$26.4 million in
2021. Our effective tax rate was 13.7% in 2022, as compared
to 15.0% in 2021, primarily due to (i) the status of Nanjing
Chervon Industry Co., Ltd (FARRIERFEHRE2AF) (“Nanjing
Chervon Industry”) as a High and New Technology Enterprise
(AREF M%), which is entitled to an enterprise income
tax rate of 15% and (ii) additional tax benefits afforded under
favorable government policies that encourage research and
development activities.

Profit For The Year

As a result of the foregoing, our profit for the year decreased
by 7.0% from US$149.7 million in 2021 to US$139.3 million
in 2022. Our net profit margin decreased from 8.5% to 7.0%
during the respective years.

Non-HKFRSs Measures: Adjusted Net Profit

To supplement our consolidated results which are prepared
and presented in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), we utilize non-HKFRSs
adjusted net profit (“Adjusted Net Profit’) as an additional
financial measure. We derive Adjusted Net Profit from profit for
the year by excluding (i) listing expenses, (ii) gain on disposal
of associates, (iii) gain on disposal of a subsidiary, (iv) net
unrealized gains on convertible bonds and (v) income tax
effects of non-HKFRSs adjustments.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Adjusted Net Profit is not required by, or presented in
accordance with, HKFRSs. We believe that the presentation
of non-HKFRSs measures when shown in conjunction with
the corresponding HKFRSs measures provides useful
information to investors and management regarding financial
and business trends in relation to our financial condition and
results of operations, by eliminating any potential impact of
items that our management does not consider to be indicative
of our operating performance such as the impact of certain
investment transactions. We also believe that the non-HKFRSs
measures are appropriate for evaluating the Group’s operating
performance. However, the use of this particular non-HKFRSs
measure has limitations as an analytical tool, and you should
not consider it in isolation from, or as a substitute for the
analysis of, our results of operations or financial conditions as
reported under HKFRSs. In addition, this non-HKFRSs financial
measure may be defined differently from similar terms used
by other companies and therefore may not be comparable to
similar measures used by other companies.

The following table reconciles our Adjusted Net Profit for the
years presented to the most directly comparable financial
measure calculated and presented in accordance with
HKFRSs, which is profit for the year:

B E 5w B AT

REBMAL I EFBMHEREEMRERRIER
BYBREENZ - HFEE - ERBEEEY
BREEAFE-HF2INIFFEFF RS LRI
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Year Ended December 31,
BZ12A31BLEE

2022 2021
202245 20214
US$’000 US$'000
EY FEr
Profit for the period AR ) 139,278 149,721
Add: oo
Listing expenses By iliba - 7,873
Loss on disposal of associates!" HEE AR EE - 677
(Gain) on disposal of a subsidiary®@ HE—MRBARZ (W)@ - (21,969)
Net unrealized losses/(gains) on AEERSRER (W) FEe 15,280 (19,230)
convertible bonds®
Income tax effects of non-HKFRSs BB B EERABROAEHZE® (3,247) 7,965
adjustments®
Adjusted Net Profit SREAF 151,311 125,037

Notes:

wfiz

BHERMR021FEERGRRAEEEAR
N B VR P A R

(1) Represents the loss on disposal of our interests in Nanjing Suquan (1)
Investment Co., Ltd. (IR & RIEEEIRBRAF) in 2021.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BIRE & B AT

(2) Represents the gain on disposal of our interests in Nanjing
Jiuhao Electromechanical Industry Co., Ltd. (B RIEHKE
EEAER QA (“Jiuhao Electromechanical’) in 2021.

(3) Represents the net unrealized losses or gains on our
investment in the convertible bonds issued by Chervon
Auto Precision Technology.

(4) Represents income tax effects of non-HKFRSs adjustments.

Liquidity and Financial Resources
Financial Position

The Group continued to maintain a strong financial position. As
of December 31, 2022, the Group had US$466.7 million in cash
and cash equivalents (December 31, 2021: US$665.0 million),
including approximately HK$2,053.0 million (equivalent to
US$263.1 million) in remaining net proceeds from our initial
public offering. 32.1%, 62.1%, 1.4% and 4.4% of the cash and
cash equivalents as of December 31, 2022 were denominated
in RMB, US dollar, euro and other currencies, respectively.

Funding and Treasury Policy

The Group’s funding and finance policy aims to maintain
stable financial position and mitigate financial risks. The
Group regularly reviews its funding requirements to maintain
adequate financial resources in order to support its current
business operations as well as its future investments and
expansion plans.

Borrowings and Gearing Ratio

As of December 31, 2022, the Group had bank loans of
US$329.5 million (December 31, 2021: US$433.6 million),
which were primarily denominated in RMB, and lease liabilities
of US$22.0 million (December 31, 2021: US$23.2 million). As
of the same date, fixed-rate and floating-rate loans account for
59% and 41%, respectively, of the Group’s total bank loans.

As of December 31, 2022, short-term bank loans and current

portion of long-term bank loans collectively accounted for
58.5% of the total bank loans (December 31, 2021: 98.0%).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Group’s gearing ratio (which equals total debt (including
bank loans and lease liabilities) divided by total equity)
decreased from 0.6 as of December 31, 2021 to 0.4 as of
December 31, 2022.

Working Capital

The Group’s inventories amounted to US$600.0 million as of
December 31, 2022 as compared to US$592.0 million as of
December 31, 2021. Our inventory turnover days increased to
157 days in 2022, as compared to 127 days in 2021, primarily
due to a higher level of inventory that we carried to meet
customer needs.

The Group’s trade and bills receivables turnover days were at
47 days in 2022, as compared to 56 days in 2021, which is in
line with the credit terms we granted to our customers. We will
continue to manage our credit exposure in a prudent manner.

The Group’s trade and bills payables turnover days were 106
days in 2022, as compared to 110 days in 2021, which is
driven by a decrease in the Group’s trade and bills payables
as we managed the pace of our raw material and inventory
purchases.

Capital Expenditures

Our capital expenditures in 2022 amounted to US$72.2 million
(2021: US$81.2 million), primarily due to the expansion of our
production capacity.

Capital Commitments

As of December 31, 2022, our capital commitments (including
those contracted for and authorized but not contracted for)
for the construction of plant and buildings and acquisition
of machinery and equipment amounted to US$428.2 million
(2021: US$467.7 million) primarily for the expansion of our
production capacity.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Pledge of Assets

During the Reporting Period, certain assets of the Group were
pledged as security for bank loans, as further detailed below:

BEEERH

RBERAR - AEBEFHDEECERRRITERD
R E—HRFBOT

As of December 31,

HZ=12A31H
2022 2021
2022 20214
US$’000 UsS$'000
E3 FET
Plant and buildings B MIEF 48,145 44,226
Leasehold land HELH 22,779 25,487
Intangible assets EREE 1,162 1,459
Inventories FE8 177,596 124,040
Trade and bills receivables B 5 G IE & W R 78,862 81,562
Pledged deposits BHEAIFR 31,340 26,524
Other assets Hi&EE 7,923 4,252
Total FEE 367,807 307,550

As of December 31, 2022, the Group had pledged deposits
of US$36.5 million (December 31, 2021: US$48.3 million),
which will be released upon the settlement of letters of credit
and bills payable and by the Group or the expiry of relevant
banking facilities.

Contingent Liabilities

During the Reporting Period, the Group issued guarantees to
financial institutions in the PRC for certain indebtedness of our
independent third-party customers, who are typically qualified
distributors of ours in the PRC. As of December 31, 2022, the
maximum guarantee amount was US$7.9 million (December
31, 2021: US$10.0 million) and the guarantee issued was
US$1.3 million (December 31, 2021: US$2.1 million).
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BFHEEARE

Significant Investments Held

Details of the Group’s significant investments with a carrying
amount of 5% or more of the Company’s total assets as of

TREFIRNEBEE2022F12 A31 BEEE S

KABEEESBHIA FREAIREFHE -

December 31, 2022 are set forth in the table below.

Carrying Performance
amount as Fairvalue as  (share of loss/  Total amount
percentage percentage  net unrealized of dividends
Investment Carrying of total Fair of total loss) for received for
costasof  amount as of assets as of value as of assets as of  the yearended  the year ended
December 31,  December 31,  December 31,  December 31,  December 31,  December 31,  December 31,
2022 2022 2022 2022 2022 2022 2022
HEANE
HZaNF HEANE 1283181 HZANE
12831A2 1283182 FERR 125318
HEANE  HEANE FEE  BZanf MEER  (BEEE/ [12:3:4
1283182 12A3182 fagE 1283182 fhagE AERER £5
Investment k% REHE FEE BAt MfER Bat 78 kesg
USs§'000 USs’000 % Us$'000 % Uss’000 USs’000
TER TiR % e % TER S E
Chervon Auto Precision RERERERN
Technology
- Equity interest - R 81,753 106,566 57 188,314 101 (5,490) 510
- Convertible bonds -ERE 17,015 20,019 11 20,019 11 (15,260) -
Total &3 98,768 126,585 6.8 208,333 1.2 (20,770) 510

As of December 31, 2022, the Company, through Chervon
(China) Investment Co., Ltd. (RE(HEHEEBRQT)
(“Chervon (China) Investment”), holds (i) 64,671,068 shares,
representing approximately 24.5% equity interest, of Chervon
Auto Precision Technology and (ii) certain convertible bonds
issued by Chervon Auto Precision Technology. Chervon Auto
Precision Technology is principally engaged in the production,
sales and research and development of automotive power
systems and relevant components. Chervon Auto Precision
Technology was established in the PRC with limited liability
on March 19, 2012 and its shares are listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange (stock code: 603982.SH).
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As of December 31, 2022, the investment cost in connection
with our equity interest in Chervon Auto Precision Technology
amounted to US$81.8 million. As of the same date, the fair
value of such equity interest amounted to US$188.3 million,
which accounted for 10.1% of our total assets as of December
31, 2022. During the Reporting Period, we had a share of
losses of associates of US$5.5 million, as compared to a share
of profits of associates of US$4.4 million in 2021, in connection
with our equity interest in Chervon Auto Precision Technology.
During the same period, the dividends we received from
Chervon Auto Precision Technology in connection with our
equity interest amounted to US$0.5 million (2021: US$0.5
million).

As of December 31, 2022, the investment cost in connection
with our purchase of the convertible bonds issued by Chervon
Auto Precision Technology amounted to US$17.0 million. As
of the same date, the fair value of our investment in such
convertible bonds we hold amounted to US$20.0 million, which
accounted for 1.1% of our total assets as of December 31,
2022. During the Reporting Period, we incurred net unrealized
losses on convertible bonds of US$15.3 million, compared to
net unrealized gains on convertible bonds of US$19.2 million
in 2021, in connection with such convertible bonds we hold.
During the Reporting Period, we did not receive any dividends
from Chervon Auto Precision Technology in connection with
such convertible bonds we hold (2021: nil).

We will continue to monitor our investments in Chervon Auto
Precision Technology and explore opportunities to monetize
such investments if appropriate market opportunities arise.
For further details, please refer to “~ Material Acquisitions and
Disposals of Subsidiaries and Associates” in this section.

Except as disclosed above, during the Reporting Period, the
Group did not hold any significant investments (including any
investment in an investee company with a carrying amount of
5% or more of the Company’s total assets as of December 31,
2022).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Material Acquisitions and Disposals of Subsidiaries and
Associates

On January 28, 2022, Chervon (China) Investment, a
subsidiary of the Company, entered into a subscription
agreement (the “Subscription Agreement”), pursuant to which
Chervon (China) Investment agreed to conditionally subscribe
for the A shares of Chervon Auto Precision Technology through
a nonpublic offering (the “Proposed Subscription”) with a
total subscription amount up to RMB500.0 million (US$78.4
million equivalent) (the “Maximum Subscription Amount”).
Pursuant to the Subscription Agreement, the final total
number of A shares of Chervon Auto Precision Technology
to be subscribed shall represent not more than 10% of the
enlarged total issued share capital of Chervon Auto Precision
Technology upon completion of the non-public offering (the
“Maximum Subscription Threshold”). Chervon Auto Precision
Technology is an associate of Panmercy Holdings Limited (a
company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability and
a controlling Shareholder) and a connected person of the
Company.

On March 30, 2022, Chervon (China) Investment and Chervon
Auto Precision Technology entered into a supplemental
subscription agreement to the Subscription Agreement,
pursuant to which the parties agreed to include a supplemental
provision to the Subscription Agreement that, subject to the
Maximum Subscription Amount and the Maximum Subscription
Threshold, the minimum number of A shares to be conditionally
subscribed for by Chervon (China) Investment will be not
less than 15% and not more than 30% of the actual number
of A shares of Chervon Auto Precision Technology to be
issued through the non-public offering, while other terms and
conditions of the Subscription Agreement remain unchanged
and in full force and effect in all respects.

On November 17, 2022, Chervon (China) Investment and
Chervon Auto Precision Technology entered into a final
subscription agreement (the “Final Subscription Agreement”)
further to the Subscription Agreement and the Supplemental
Subscription Agreement. Pursuant to the Final Subscription
Agreement, Chervon (China) Investment agreed to subscribe
for 18,111,068 A shares of Chervon Auto Precision Technology
to be issued through non-public offering at a price of
RMB19.76 per share with a total subscription amount of
RMB357,874,703.68. The subscription price per share is finally
determined based on the results of enquiry.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BIRE & B AT

The Company, through Chervon (China) Investment, currently
holds 24.5% of the equity interest in Chervon Auto Precision
Technology as of the date of this annual report of the Group
(“Annual Report”). Upon completion of the Proposed
Subscription, Chervon Auto Precision Technology will not
become a subsidiary of Chervon (China) Investment.

Please refer to the Group’s announcements published on
January 28, 2022, March 30, 2022 and November 24, 2022 for
further details regarding the transaction.

Save as disclosed above, during the Reporting Period, the
Group did not have material acquisitions or disposals of
subsidiaries or associates.

Future Plans for Major Investments and Capital Assets

During the Reporting Period, save for the expansion plans
as disclosed in the section headed “Future Plans and Use of
Proceeds” in the Prospectus of the Company dated December
17, 2021 (the “Prospectus”), the Group has no specific plans
for major investment or acquisition for major capital assets or
other businesses.

Exposure to Fluctuations in Foreign Exchange Rates

The Group manufactures and sells its products in many
countries throughout the world. As a result, there is exposure
to foreign currency risk as the Group enters into transactions
and make investments denominated in multiple currencies.
For example, changes in currency exchange rates may affect
the relative prices at which the Group and its competitors sell
products in the same market and the costs of products and
services the Group requires for its operations. The Group's
predominant exposures are in US dollar, Euro and RMB. The
Group is subject to risks arising from the translation of balance
sheets and income statements of its subsidiaries to US dollars
as well as the risk arising from the export of products and
sales outside the country of manufacturing.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Group enters into foreign exchange forward contracts with
financial institutions to mitigate its exposures to fluctuations in
foreign exchange rates. Fluctuations in the foreign exchange
rates may lead to losses resulting from the Group’s exposure
to foreign exchange forward contracts or similar arrangements.
Our net foreign exchange loss in 2022 amounted to US$15.5
million (2021: US$14.1 million). Our net realized and unrealized
loss on derivative financial instruments (which primarily include
foreign exchange forward contracts) in 2022 was US$23.3
million, as compared to net realized and unrealized gain on
derivative financial statement of US$10.1 million in 2021.

Investment Risk Management

Our investment strategy is grounded in the principles of
compliance, prudence, safety and effectiveness. Each
investment decision is made based on internal vetting and
discussions, considering factors such as market dynamics,
expected returns and risks involved. We believe that our
internal strategy and policies regarding investments and the
related risk management mechanisms are adequate, and that
our investment decisions have been in full compliance with our
investment strategy and policies.

HUMAN RESOURCES

The number of employees of the Group was 6,990 as of
2022 (December 31, 2021: 6,732). The total
staff costs for the Reporting Period amounted to US$214.4
million as compared to US$189.5 million in 2021. We did
not incur equity settled share-based expenses during the
Reporting Period.

December 31,

The Group is committed to hiring, retaining and promoting top
talents across its global teams. As part of its retention strategy,
the Group offers competitive remuneration packages to its
employees,
based bonuses and long term incentive programs. The Group
also provides regular and specialized training tailored to the
needs of its employees in different departments.

including salary and allowances, performance-

As of December 31, 2022, the male-to-female ratio of the Group’s
employees is approximately 1.55 to 1. The ratio is primarily driven
by the nature of our business as we employ a higher portion of
male engineers and front-line workers. While we consider such
ratio to be in line with industry norms, we are firmly committed
to offering equal employment opportunities to all qualified
candidates based on merits and will seek to achieve relative
balance between male and female employees going forward.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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TEREREREERS

DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Pan Longquan (GB%Z) (“Mr. Pan”), aged 59 is our
principal founder, executive Director, Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer. Mr. Pan is primarily responsible for
supervising overall operations, management, strategic
planning and business development of our Group.

Mr. Pan has over 30 years of experience in the power tool
and OPE industry and 28 years of management experience
in our Group. Mr. Pan founded our principal operating
subsidiary, Nanjing Chervon Industry and has served as its
chairman since September 1997. On June 22, 1999, Mr. Pan
was appointed as our executive Director, Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer. Mr. Pan currently serves as a director in
a number of our subsidiaries and as the general manager of
Chervon (China) Investment. He is also a director of Chervon
Global Holdings Limited (“Chervon Global”) and its various
subsidiaries, which are principally engaged in the production
of key automobile and mechanical components and investment
management. Mr. Pan serves as the chairman of Chervon Auto
Precision Technology, a company listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange (stock code: 603982.SH) since October 2012. Prior
to founding the predecessor company of our Group, Nanjing
Chervon International Trading Co., Ltd.* (IRRIEEEES
ABRAF]) (“Chervon International Trading”) in 1994, Mr.
Pan served as a salesperson in Nanjing Machinery, Minerals,
Metals & Medicine Import and Export Company* (R #H A&
WE BB REMEL O AQR]), a company engaged in machinery
import and export trading, from July 1988 to June 1993.

Mr. Pan received his bachelor's degree and his master’s

degree in earth sciences from Nanjing University (FIRAE) in
the PRC, in July 1985 and July 1988, respectively.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Zhang Tong (3&Rf%) (‘Ms. Zhang"), aged 51, is our co-
founder, executive Director and executive vice president for
the North America sales & marketing. Ms. Zhang is primarily
responsible for supervising overall operations, management,
strategic planning and sales and marketing development of
our Group in North America.

Ms. Zhang has over 20 years of experience in the power tool
and OPE products industry and management experience in
our Group. Ms. Zhang co-founded our principal operating
subsidiary, Nanjing Chervon Industry, and has served as
its director since September 1997. On June 22, 1999, Ms.
Zhang was appointed as our executive Director and executive
vice president for the North America sales and marketing.
Ms. Zhang currently serves as a director in a number of our
subsidiaries. She is also a director of Chervon Global and
its various subsidiaries, which are principally engaged in the
production of key automobile and mechanical components
and investment management. Ms. Zhang serves as a director
of Chervon Auto Precision Technology, a company listed on
the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 603982.SH), since
October 2016.

Ms. Zhang studied foreign trade English from Hohai University
(AKX in the PRC and graduated in July 1991. Ms. Zhang
received her master's degree in business management from
China Europe International Business School (FREXE 2T ) in the
PRC in May 2012.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

TERBREEBRER
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Mr. Ke Zuqian (#83) (‘Mr. Ke"), aged 62, is our co-
founder, executive Director and executive vice president
for manufacturing and supply chain. Mr. Ke is primarily
responsible for supervising manufacturing and production
processes and management of our Group.

Mr. Ke has over 20 years of experience in the power tool and
OPE products industry and management experience in our
Group. Mr. Ke joined Chervon International Trading in January
1996 as a technical director, and has served as a director and
a vice general manager of Nanjing Chervon Industry since
September 1997. On June 22, 1999, Mr. Ke was appointed
as our executive Director and executive vice president for
manufacturing. Mr. Ke currently serves as a director in a
number of our subsidiaries and as the general manager of
Nanjing Chervon Industry. He is also a director of Chervon
Global and its various subsidiaries, which are principally
engaged in the production of key automobile and mechanical
components and investment management. Mr. Ke serves as
a director of Chervon Auto Precision Technology, a company
listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 603982.
SH), since October 2016. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Ke
was a lecturer in Tongji University ([R/&AXZ) from July 1984 to
June 1992, a technical manager in TUV Rheinland (TUV f2E
A F]), a technical services provider, from July 1992 to May
1994 and a technical manager in TUV SUD (TUV 742 iR
‘A\]), a testing and certification provider, from June 1994 to
December 1995.

Mr. Ke received his bachelor’s degree and his master’s degree

in industrial automation from Tongji University ([E/&AX2) in the
PRC in July 1984 and April 1990, respectively.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Michael John Clancy (“Mr. Clancy”), aged 67, is
our executive Director and senior vice president for the
North America sales and marketing. Mr. Clancy is primarily
responsible for supervising overall operations, management,
strategic planning and sales and marketing development of
our Group in North America.

Mr. Clancy has extensive experience in the power tool industry
and has accumulated over 30 years of experience in corporate
management.

Mr. Clancy joined our Group in September 2018 and has
since served as the chief executive officer of Chervon North
America Inc. Mr. Clancy was appointed as our executive
Director on August 4, 2021. Prior to joining our Group, Mr.
Clancy served as the vice president for the national accounts
unit of Skil Corporation from 1978 to 1992, a power tool and
accessory supplier which was later acquired by our Group,
the vice president of the consumer business group of Rust-
Oleum Corporation, a paint supplier, from 1992 to 1995, the
president of RotoZip Tool Corp, a power tool and accessory
supplier, from 1995 to 2000 and the senior vice president
of the North American Sales organization and the project
management of Robert Bosch Tool Corporation, a power tool
and accessory supplier, from 2010 to 2016 and from 2016 to
2017, respectively.

Mr. Clancy received his bachelor’'s degree in business from
Western lllinois University in the U.S. in May 1977 and his
master’'s degree in business administration from Depaul
University in the U.S. in February 1983. Mr. Clancy has been
one of the board members of the Outdoor Power Equipment
Institute since March 2021.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEZNEHREEEBREFS

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Tian Ming (H®), aged 62, has been appointed as our
independent non-executive Director with effect from December
8, 2021. Mr. Tian is primarily responsible for supervising and
providing independent judgment to our board (the “Board”) of
directors (the “Directors”).

Mr. Tian has 20 years of extensive experience in the fields
of competitive strategy, operation management and property
investment and development. Mr. Tian worked at the Nanjing
People’s Government (BRMAREAM) from July 1991
to October 2001, with his last position being the deputy
department head. He was also the executive secretary of
Nanjing Changjiang Waterway Bureau (B Rm&/IMEEE
/&) from December 1979 to April 1991. In December 2001, Mr.
Tian founded Landsea Group Co., Ltd. (BAzFSEEIRMH AR A F),
a company principally engaged in property development, and
has since served as its director and chief executive officer.
He has been the chairman of the board of Shanghai Landleaf
Architecture Technology Co., Ltd.* (/B EERIEBRAF))
since July 2013, a company principally engaged in providing
green construction technologies related services and the
shares of which were listed on the National Equities Exchange
and Quotations Co., Ltd. (stock code: 870998.NEEQ) from
February 2017 to March 2020.

Mr. Tian has served as the chairman and an executive director
in Landsea Green Management Limited (Bis54r2EIR AR
xA]) (previously named as Landsea Green Properties Co.,
Ltd. (B4 @MEBR A R])) (stock code: 106.HK) since July
2013 and Landsea Homes Corporation, a company listed
on the NASDAQ Stock Market (symbols: “LSEA”, “LSEAW”)
since January 2021. He was appointed as a director of
Landsea Green Life Service Company Limited (BAzF4retiE
ARG B MR AF]) (stock code: 1965.HK) in December 2020, and
subsequently, its chairman of the board and a non-executive
director in January 2021 and has served since then.

Mr. Tian served on various committees, such as the vice
president of China Real Estate Chamber of Commerce (&
HEEE) from October 2016 to October 2021, the president
of the CEIBS Alumni Association from April 2017 to April 2020,
and the rotating chairman of China Urban Realty Association
(FPIREEER) from April 2018 to April 2020.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Tian received a diploma in engine management from
Nanjing Heyun School* (FIFUREE4L) (currently known
as Nanjing Maritime School* (FRMEEZR)) in the PRC in
December 1979 and a diploma in Chinese from Nanjing
Vocational Tertiary Institute* (MR L =EE24) in the PRC
in December 1988. Mr. Tian completed a master’s course
program in administrative management from Nanjing University
(AR AE) in the PRC in August 1997 and received his
master's degree in business management from China Europe
International Business School (FFEIEIFR TEEkT) (“CEIBS”)
in the PRC in September 2007. Mr. Tian was awarded the “EY
Entrepreneur of the Year” in the real estate industry by Ernst &
Young in October 2019.

Dr. Li Minghui (ZH818), aged 49, has been appointed as our
independent non-executive Director with effect from December
8, 2021. Dr. Li is primarily responsible for supervising and
providing independent judgment to our Board. Dr. Li was a
lecturer in accounting from August 2003 to July 2005 and
an associate professor in accounting from August 2005 to
November 2006 at the School of Management in Xiamen
University (EF9KE8). Dr. Li served as an associate professor
at the School of Business in Nanjing University (R AE) from
December 2006 to December 2009. Since December 2009,
Dr. Li has been a professor in accounting at the School of
Business in Nanjing University (# R AE).

Dr. Li has been an independent non-executive director of
Nanjing Zhongweixin Software Technology Co., Ltd.* (F &R+
BERERERMDER AT, a company principally engaged in
computer software development since August 2020 and has
also served as an independent non-executive director of a
number of listed companies, including Baosheng Science and
Technology Innovation Co., Ltd. (BEBEEAFKRDERAR)
(stock code: 600973.SH) from December 2014 to May 2019,
Changchai Co., Ltd. (BN BRAF) (stock code: 000570.
SZ) from March 2015 to April 2020, Jiangsu Fasten Co., Ltd.
CIEEMBIRMBRAR]) (stock code: 000890.SZ) from April
2015 to November 2019, Nanjing Securities Co., Ltd. (FREH
&1 B R A R]) (stock code: 601990.SH) from May 2016 to June
2022 and GCL Energy Technology Co., Ltd. (13 ZZsEREHE (D
APBRAT]) (stock code: 002015.S7) since June 2019.

=3
B

EERSREREEES

HAEER1979F 12 ARG R EE UTESR (R
BEAMESR) EHRER R - WH19884F
12ARGEFEEEAR T SSE2RPXUE - AL
ER1997F8 AEFRBEBE R KETRITHERELT
BRI2 0 WHR2007FOAESHEFRIEE Tt
((+BEBRIFER]) THEBRELSEMN - BEE
MR2019F 10 AR B Lk E T EHEITE R
RiE] o

ZHBEL  495% BEEABIUIERNITES -
H2021F 12 A8HRREM - THELTBEEEES
Eg I mEREE T E - ZHLR2003F8 AR
2005F7 AEFEFIRSERER T2 - I
M2005F8 B E2006F 11 AEXZR G E2RI%
o FIE L2006 F 12 AE2009F 12 BETE R
KEFERTBIHE - B2009F 12 At » FELEE
ERAREBR B -

T+ E2020F8 AREMTRE R AEEHERER
MERRA (—REERBEHBGRAEN AR
MBUIENTES  RREB2014F 128 £E2019
FEARBEBMEAFROBRAA (BHFAL -
600973.SH) * B2015% 3 A £20204F 4 A A &4
HAERAT (FHKH : 000570.8Z2) « B2015%F4
AZE2019F 11 AN IgRERBERODBER AR (BF
A TE : 000890.S7) ~ B20164F5 A E 202246 AR
EREFRDABRAD (FHNAE : 601990.SH) LA
& E2019%F 6 AR EERERHERD AR AR (F
HRAHF £ 002015.92) FL R LA BEEE T IEH
TES -

RIEERARRAT — B _FFR 31

A



BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEZNEHREEEBREFS

Dr. Li has been a director of China Audit Society (FREIZEFH2
=) since December 2009 and the vice president of Jiangsu
Audit Society* ((LEF T2 ®) since January 2019.

Dr. Li received his bachelor's degree in accounting from
Nanjing University of Science and Technology (FARIET
KE) in the PRC in June 1997 and his master's degree in
accounting from Shandong University of Economics (I F4E
EEBT) (currently known as Shandong University of Finance
and Economics (IIREFA&KXE)) in the PRC in June 2000. Dr.
Li obtained his doctorate degree in accounting from Xiamen
University (JEPTAXE) in July 2003. Dr. Li is qualified as a non-
practicing certified public accountant issued by The Chinese
Institute of Certified Public Accountants since December 2009.

Mr. Jiang Li (#3Z), aged 58, has been appointed as our
independent non-executive Director with effect from December
8, 2021. Mr. Jiang is primarily responsible for supervising and
providing independent judgment to our Board.

Mr. Jiang was the founder of Nanjing Tianjia Air-conditioning
Equipment Co., Ltd.* (FARAINZEFZEEBRAF]), which was
later renamed as Nanjing Tianjia Environmental Technology
Co., Ltd.* (FARANIRFERHEBRAF) and had been appointed
as its director and general manager in 1999, and has currently
served as the chairman of the board of the same. Mr. Jiang
served as a director of MayAir Technology (China) Co., Ltd (3£
W(FENRBRHERMHDABR2AE]) from July 2019 to March 2020
and was appointed as the chairman of its board since March
2020. Mr. Jiang has been a director of Guangzhou Smardt
Chiller Manufacturing Co., Ltd.* (BMBEE L REEREFR
‘A 7)) since January 2021. Mr. Jiang is also a member of the
National Professional Standardization Technical Committee*
(FEEXERECRTEZES).

Mr. Jiang received his master’'s degree in business
management from China Europe International Business School
(PR EPT) in the PRC in September 2009. During his career,
Mr. Jiang was nominated as an innovative enterprise talent
by the Ministry of Science and Technology* (RHXEBAIFT b2
AA) and an excellent contributor to the cause of socialism
with Chinese characteristics in Jiangsu Province* (T#&EF
FREEEHSEREEERSE). Mr Jiang was also awarded the
first prize and the second prize in China machinery industry
science and technology* (REIMWH TEMERM—FREL-F
#%) and Nanjing science and technology progress award* (/4
R RHGE 1R,
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Hu Yian (38 2L %) (“Mr. Hu”), aged 54, is our chief financial
officer. Mr. Hu is primarily responsible for overseeing overall
financial operations, financing and investment activities of our
Group.

Mr. Hu joined our Group in April 2003 and has since served
as the director and financial vice president of Nanjing Chervon
Industry. Mr. Hu currently also serves as a director in a number
of our subsidiaries. Mr. Hu has been a director of Chervon
Auto Precision Technology, a company listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange (stock code: 603982.SH), from March 2012 to
November 2022. Prior to joining our Group, he was a financial
manager of Nanjing Ericsson Panda Communication Co., Ltd.*
(ARENEREHAIEABRAT) from November 1995 to March
2003.

Mr. Hu received his bachelor’'s degree in industrial accounting
from Northeast Institute of Technology (¥itT &%) in the
PRC in June 1992 and his master’s degree in international
management from The Australian National University in
Australia in June 2001.

Mr. Wu Shuming (R%Z8#8), aged 56, is our vice president
for product solution group department. Mr. Wu is primarily
responsible for supervising and managing the research and
development system and leading technological development
of our Group.

Mr. Wu joined our Group as an engineer in Nanjing Chervon
Industry in June 1997. Mr. Wu was appointed as the general
manager of R&D of our Group in March 2010. Prior to joining
our Group, Mr. Wu was an engineer in Nanjing Soil Instrument
Factory* (FAR T HE M) from July 1989 to May 1997.

Mr. Wu received his bachelor's degree in vacuum technology
and equipment from Hefei University of Technology (& BT %
AE) in the PRC in July 1989.
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Mr. Wu Gang (=), aged 49, is our chief digital officer. Mr.
Wu is primarily responsible for overseeing the digital strategy
and information technology development of our Group.

Mr. Wu has extensive experience in managing the digital and
information system at various companies in the automotive
industry. He joined our Group as the chief digital officer on
April 26, 2021. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Wu was the IT
system project manager of SAIC General Motors Co., Ltd.
from April 1998 to July 2005, the IT application director and
the IT PMO director of SAIC Motor Corporation Limited from
August 2005 to July 2011, the chief IT director of industrial
group of Nippon China Limited from July 2011 to March 2012,
the IT director of Geely and Volvo China in April 2012 and the
chief digital officer of SAIC MAXUS Automotive Co., Ltd. from
February 2017 to July 2020.

Mr. Wu received his bachelor’'s degree in computer science
and technology from Shanghai Jiao Tong University (/&%
BARE) in the PRC in July 1996 and his master's degree in
business administration from Fudan University (EEAZ) in
the PRC in January 2008.

Mr. Zhang Ding (E£), aged 44, was appointed as our vice
president for product management on April 1, 2020 and
resigned with effect from March 4, 2022. Mr. Zhang was
primarily responsible for overseeing the product planning and
product management for our Group across all brands and
categories.

Mr. Zhang joined our Group in March 2003 as the sales
manager of Nanjing Chervon Industry. From 2006 to 2020,
Mr. Zhang held various positions in Nanjing Chervon Industry,
including the product manager, the product management
director and the product management senior director, and had
been the vice president for product management of Nanjing
Chervon Industry from April 2020 to March 2022.

Mr. Zhang received his bachelor’'s degree in English from
Guangdong University of Foreign Studies (ER/MNEINE KE) in
the PRC in June 2001 and his master’'s degree in international
marketing management from The University of Leeds in the UK
in November 2002.
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Ms. Shan Xiaodong (), aged 56, is our vice president
for human resources. Ms. Shan is primarily responsible for
overseeing human resources planning and management of our
Group. Ms. Shan joined our Group in May 2017 as the vice
president for human resources in Nanjing Chervon Industry.

Prior to joining our Group, Ms. Shan was a lecturer in School
of Economics and Management of Inner Mongolia University
(AERHABLEHEERER) from 1995 to 1996. Subsequently,
Ms. Shan held senior human resources management positions
in various companies, including serving as a human resources
and administrative manager at BP China Ltd. from 2001 to
2003, the vice president for Asia Pacific human resources
(BERANERBE) of Hexion Inc. (previously Momentive
Specialty Chemicals) from 2003 to 2015 and the vice president
for human resources of Shanghai Fortune Map Trading Limited
(EBEBEEE SERAT]) from 2015 to 2017.

Ms. Shan received her bachelor’'s degree in economic
management from Fudan University (B KX2) in the PRC in
July 1988 and her master's degree in management from Bl
Norwegian School of Management in Norway in February 1999.

Mr. Peter John Melrose, aged 57, is our vice president for
the European sales & marketing. Mr. Melrose is primarily
responsible for supervising overall operations, management,
strategic planning and sales and marketing development of
our DIY power tools and OPE business in Europe. Mr. Melrose
joined our Group as a general manager of Chervon Europe
Limited in June 2007 and was appointed as the managing
director of EGO Europe GmbH since November 2015. Mr.
Melrose has been a managing director of Chervon GmbH
since November 2022. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Melrose
began his career with Black & Decker and held various sales,
marketing and product development positions before joining
NEC (UK) LTD as the European marketing manager. Mr.
Melrose continued his career in marketing with one of the UK’s
foremost companies (Centrica plc) within its energy supply
business (British Gas Trading Ltd) and re-joined the power
tool industry in Europe as a commercial director with Global
Machinery Company Pty. Mr. Melrose received his bachelor’s
degree in civil engineering from Hatfield Polytechnic in
the UK in July 1988 and his master's degree in business
administration (MBA) with a major in strategic marketing from
Hull University in the UK in July 1997.
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Dr. Christian Neuner, aged 47, is our vice president for FLEX.
Mr. Neuner is primarily responsible for supervising overall
operations, management, strategic planning and sales and
marketing development of the FLEX brand product.

Dr. Neuner joined our Group in August 2014 as the vice
president of corporate strategy and development of Nanjing
Chervon Industry. Dr. Neuner has subsequently held positions
in a number of our subsidiaries, including the managing
director of Chervon GmbH from October 2016 to March 2023,
the managing director of FLEX Elektrowerkzeuge GmbH since
May 2017, the managing director of Flex Geschéaftsfuhrungs
GmbH since June 2017 and the chief executive officer of Flex
Verwaltungs GmbH & Co. KG since January 2018. Prior to
joining our Group, Dr. Neuner served as a project manager of
Roland Berger Strategy Consultants GmbH from May 2003 to
October 2010 and a principal of Roland Berger Management
Consultants (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. from October 2010 to July
2014.

Dr. Neuner received his master's degree in business
administration with a major in marketing and production and
his doctorate degree in business administration from the
University of Bayreuth in Germany in May 2002 and April 2009,
respectively. Dr. Neuner has been one of the board members
of the European Power Tool Association (EPTA) since January
2020 and has been elected as the vice president of the
German Power Tool Association (ZVEI) in July 2021.

* For identification purposes only

36 Chervon Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022

Christian Neunerf* ' 475 ' &R{FIFLEXH B4
H FTEEEEEBFLEXREERNEEREE &
I BRSAREI AR B E A R R -

Neunerf =R 2014F8 AMAREE - EEER
REREOCEBELERELAH - Neunerfi L
BEEREMZEXWMBEAREE - BFEH2016510
AZE2023%3 A# I Chervon GmbHMESZAK
12 - 8201795 AREEFLEX Elektrowerkzeuge
GmbHHEFRKIE - 5201756 ARLEEFlex
Geschaftsfihrungs GmbHE)E = 484832 & 52018
F1 A ¥ETFlex Verwaltungs GmbH & Co. KG
BT E, o INAREERT - Neunerid 72003
F5H3E2010%F 10 A#EERoland Berger Strategy
Consultants GmbH&JIE B 4€12 - WX 2010510 A
E20M4FTAREEWRARERER (LB BRA
AIMAEEA o

Neunert& 5 IR 20025 A 22009 F 4 A5
B0 22 (75 K22 (University of Bayreuth) T & 12
BLE(XEmEEEEE) RIFEEELE
il » Neunert§ £ 52020F 1 A ABMEE T AR
Z(EPTA)MESEEME 72— WH2021F7 A&#
AEREHTAHSZVENWRIESEE -



BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Mr. Hu Yian (#3L%) was appointed as one of the joint
company secretaries of our Company on August 4, 2021,
which took effect on the same day.

For biographical details of Mr. Hu, please see “—Senior
Management” in this section.

Ms. Mok Ming Wai (E#%) (“Ms. Mok”) was appointed
as one of the joint company secretaries of the Company on
August 25, 2022, which took effect on the same day.

Ms. Mok is currently an executive director of Corporate
Services of Tricor Services Limited. She is a Chartered
Secretary, a Chartered Governance Professional and a fellow
of both The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute
(formerly The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries)
and The Chartered Governance Institute (formerly The Institute
of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators). Ms. Mok
holds a degree of Master of Science in Applied Accounting
and Finance. She has over 25 years of experience in the
corporate secretarial field and has been providing professional
corporate services to Hong Kong listed companies as well as
multinational, private and offshore companies.
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The Board is pleased to present this Annual Report and the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the Reporting Period. All references in this section to other
sections, parts of or notes in this Annual Report, form part of
this Directors’ Report section.

GLOBAL OFFERING

The Company was incorporated in Hong Kong as a private
company with limited liability under the predecessor ordinance of
the Companies Ordinance (which was in force from time to time
before March 3, 2014) on February 19, 1999, the shares of which
(the “Shares”) were listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on December
30, 2021 (the “Listing Date”). The prospectus of the Company
dated December 17, 2021 (“Prospectus”) has been published
on the websites of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk)
and the Company (https://global.chervongroup.com).

PRINCIPAL BUSINESS

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Group is principally engaged in researching, developing,
manufacturing, testing, sales, and after-sale services for power
tools, outdoor power equipment and related products. Analysis
of the principal activities of the Group during the Reporting
Period is set out in note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group and a discussion
and analysis of the Group’s performance during the Reporting
Period are set out in the sections headed “Chairman’s
Statement” on pages 7 to 8 and “Management Discussion and
Analysis” on pages 9 to 25 of this Annual Report.

An account of the Group’s key relationships with its key
stakeholders is provided in the section headed “Chairman’s
Statements” on pages 7 to 8 of this Annual Report and *
Relationship with Key Stakeholders” under this section. An
analysis of the Group’s performance during the Reporting
Period using financial key performance indicators is set out
in the section headed “Financial Summary” on page 6 and
“Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 9 to 25 of
this Annual Report.
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Compliance with Laws and Regulations

During the Reporting Period, as far as the Board is aware, the
Group has complied with the relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the Group in all material aspects.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The Directors are aware that the Group’s financial condition,
results of operations, businesses and prospects may be
affected by a number of risks and uncertainties. The key
risks and uncertainties identified by the Group are set out as
follows:

Principal Risks and Uncertainties Relating to the Industry and
Overall Economy

Unfavorable economic and geopolitical conditions in
the markets in which we operate, such as the trade
tensions between China and the United States, may
adversely affect our sales.

We face active competition and resulting pricing
pressures, and we may not be able to compete
effectively against current and future competitors.

Competitor innovations, customer and end-user
preferences and production and market conditions in
the power tools and OPE industry may change rapidly,
and we may not be able to sufficiently and promptly
respond to such changes.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties Relating to Our Products

Changes in customer and end-user preferences,
inability to maintain mutually beneficial relationships
with large customers, inventory reductions by
customers and inability to penetrate new channels of
distribution could adversely affect our business.

The inability to develop and introduce new products
at favorable margins, or low customer demand for new
products, could adversely impact our business.

Unsatisfactory performance of or defects in our
products may harm our reputation, lead to product
returns or recalls and subject us to significant product
liability litigations.
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Any mishandling of our battery cells and battery packs
may cause safety accidents and disruptions to the
operation of our facilities.

We may fail to maintain our brand position among our
targeted end-user groups, and market perception and
end-user acceptance of our brands may suffer.

We are subject to various regulatory and customer-
imposed guidelines and may not be successful in
maintaining an effective quality control system.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties Relating to Our Operations

Our business depends in part on our ability to protect
our intellectual property rights and operate without
infringing on the rights of third parties.

Our business depends on third-party suppliers to meet
our requirements for high-quality production and timely
delivery of raw materials and components.

Our manufacturing capabilities depend on labor supply
and middle management, and we may not be able to
recruit, train and retain qualified personnel or maintain
a sufficient workforce.

Our distributors may engage in misconduct or other
improper activities, as a result of which, we may be
exposed to regulatory investigations, penalties or other
negative consequences.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties Relating to Our Financial
Condition

40

We may not be able to obtain adequate financing on
commercially reasonable terms on a timely basis, or at
all, and any debt financing may contain covenants that
restrict our business or operations.

We may not achieve optimal results in future
acquisitions,
businesses, or may encounter difficulties in integrating
and developing the acquired assets or investments
successfully.

investments, partnerships or new

Changes in taxation on our business may materially and
adversely affect our business, financial condition and
results of operations.
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Principal Risks and Uncertainties Relating to Regulatory
Compliance

° We may not be able to obtain, maintain and renew
various permits, licenses, certificates, consents and
other approvals from administrative authorities.

° Failure in complying with quotas, duties, tariffs or other
restrictions on imports and exports may expose us to
increased costs and delay the transportation of our
products to market.

o We are subject to national and local environmental and
health and safety directives, laws and regulations, and
the violation of which may materially and adversely
affect our business, results of operations and financial
condition.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties Relating to Doing Business in
the PRC

o The economic, political and social conditions in China,
as well as government policies, laws and regulations,
could affect our business, financial conditions and
results of operations.

o Uncertainties with respect to the PRC legal system
could limit the legal protections available to us and
any litigation in China may be protracted and result in
substantial costs and diversion of our resources and
management attention.

. Fluctuations in the value of the RMB and the PRC
government’s control over foreign currency conversion
may adversely affect our business and results of
operations.

For details regarding the Company’s risk management system,
please refer to the section headed “Risk Management and
Internal Control” in the Corporate Governance Report on
pages 89 to 92 of this Annual Report.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Board is responsible for evaluating and managing
material ESG issues. Company management is responsible for
developing the Company’s ESG strategy, policy and reporting,
including assessing and managing climate-related risks, with
oversight provided by the Board. For environmental matters,
our Environmental, Health and Safety (“EHS”) department
and equipment management department are responsible
for managing environmental and climate-related risks
arising from our business operations. The EHS department
identifies key environmental factors, establishes operational
control requirements and procedures and conducts relevant
monitoring and inspections. The EHS department also reviews
and updates the operational control procedures on an annual
basis in accordance with changes to key environmental
factors, applicable laws and regulations and compliance
assessments.

During the Reporting Period, we had not been subject to
any material fines or other penalties due to non-compliance
in relation to environmental protection laws and regulations
that had a material adverse impact on our operations and,
so far as our Directors are aware after making all reasonable
enquiries, there was no threatened or pending action by any
environmental government authorities in respect thereof.

For details of the Company’'s environmental policies
and performance, please refer to the Company’s 2022
Environmental, Social and Governance Report.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
REPORT

During the Reporting Period, the Group has complied with the
“comply or explain” provisions in the Environmental, Social
and Governance Reporting Guide as set out in Appendix 27
to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).

Further details of the Group’'s ESG matters including
environmental policies and performance are set out in the
Company’s 2022 Environmental, Social and Governance
Report.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Group's
largest customer and five largest customers accounted for
approximately 49.8% and 70.5% (2021: 40.9% and 64.7%)
respectively of the Group’s total revenue; and the Group’s
largest supplier and five largest suppliers accounted for
approximately 10.8% and 27.9% respectively of the Group’s
total purchases (2021: 9.3% and 14.7%).

As far as the Directors are aware, none of the Directors, their
associates or any Shareholders who owned more than 5% of
the Company’s share capital had any interest in the five largest
customers or suppliers of the Group.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the Reporting Period are set out
in the consolidated financial statement on page 108 of this
Annual Report.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has recommended the payment of a final dividend
of US$0.0718 per ordinary share (equivalent to HK$0.5600 per
ordinary share) for the year ended December 31, 2022 (2021:
US$0.0715 per ordinary share (equivalent to HK$0.5577 per
ordinary share)).This proposed final dividend is subject to the
approval of the Shareholders at the annual general meeting of
the Company (the “AGM”) to be held on Friday, June 2, 2023,
and will be paid to those Shareholders whose names appear
on the Company’s register of members as of Monday, June 12,
2023.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS/RECORD
DATE

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Tuesday, May 30, 2023 to Friday, June 2, 2023, both days
inclusive, in order to determine the identity of the Shareholders
who are entitled to attend the AGM, during which period no
share transfers will be registered. To be eligible to attend the
AGM, all transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged for registration with the Company’s
share registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17/F Far
East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong before
4:30 p.m. on Monday, May 29, 2023.
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Record date for determining the entitlement of the
Shareholders to the final dividend (if approved by the
Shareholders in the AGM) is Monday, June 12, 2023. To qualify
for the final dividend, all transfers forms accompanied by the
relevant share certificates must be lodged for registration
with the Company’s share registrar, Tricor Investor Services
Limited, at 17/F Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road,
Hong Kong before 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, June 7, 2023.
The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Thursday, June 8, 2023 to Monday, June 12, 2023, both days
inclusive, on which dates no share transfers will be registered.

DIVIDEND POLICY

Pursuant to the dividend policy adopted by the Company (the
‘Dividend Policy”), the declaration of dividends is subject to
the discretion of the Board, and, if necessary, the approval of
the Shareholders. In considering the declaration and payment
of dividends, the Board shall take into account the Group's
results of operations, cash flows, financial condition, statutory
and regulatory restrictions on the payment of dividends by
the Company, the Company’s capital requirements, future
business plans and prospects and any other factors that the
Board may consider relevant. Any declaration and payment,
as well as the amount, of any dividend will also be subject
to the articles of association of the Company (the “Articles
of Association”) and all applicable laws and regulations.
The Directors may reassess the Dividend Policy from time to
time. Further details of the Dividend Policy are provided in
the Corporate Governance Report on pages 93 to 94 of this
Annual Report.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 6 of
this Annual Report. The summary does not form part of the
audited consolidated financial statements.

BANK BORROWINGS

Details of the bank borrowings of the Group for the year ended
December 31, 2022 are set out in note 23 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM GLOBAL OFFERING

The Company received net proceeds (after deduction of
underwriting commissions and related costs and expenses)
from its Global Offering (as defined in the Prospectus),
including the full exercise of the over-allotment option, of

approximately HK$3,470.1 million (the “Net Proceeds”).

As stated in the Prospectus, the intended uses and the
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balance of the Net Proceeds are set out below: BEHIT
Amount of Balance of
Net Proceeds Net Proceeds
utilized up to unutilized as of
Percentage December 31, December 31,
of total Net 2022 2022 Intended timeframe
Allocation of Proceeds ZE2022F EZE2022F for use of the
Net Proceeds B RE 12A31AH 12A318  unutilized Net Proceeds
Intended use of Net Proceeds FrBE FHEAE BAMBRE RBRAMBR FHARBARENE
FEREFERERZ BEIE HE 2L FHEEE ERFELS FENERRER
Expanding and upgrading HK$2,307.6 66.5% HK$254.6 HK$2,053.0 Before
production facilities million million million  December 31, 2024
BARFHREERN 2,307.6EBATT 66.5%  2546EESITL 2053.0EEET 2024F12A318 20
Researching and developing HK$312.3 9.0% HK$312.3 - Before
products million million December 31, 2024
EmfE 3123HBATT 9.0% 3123FESET —  2024F12A31BZH
Enhancing sales and HK$242.9 7.0% HK$242.9 - Before
distribution channels million million December 31, 2024
REHERDHEE 242 9B BB 7.0% 242 9B BATL ~-  2024%12H318ZH]
Paying interest-bearing bank HK$260.3 7.5% HK$260.3 - Before
borrowings million million December 31, 2024
ST BRITIER 260.3EEETT 75%  260.3BEHET —-  2024F12831HZH
Working capital and other HK$347.0 10.0% HK$347.0 - Before
general corporate purposes million million December 31, 2024
HEARREM—REERE 34708HBATT 10.0%  347.0BEBL - 2024F12A31BZH
Total HK$3,470.1 100.0% HK$1,417 .1 HK$2,053.0
Mt million million million
34701 BEAET 100.0% 1,4171B&EBT 2,053.08&ET
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The unutilized Net Proceeds are primarily placed in licensed
banks in PRC and Hong Kong as of December 31, 2022.
The Group intends to utilize the Net Proceeds in accordance
with the intended purposes and timelines as set out in the
Prospectus.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in note
15 to the consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the Reporting Period, the Group continued to expand
its business and spent approximately US$95.8 million on
property, plant and equipment. Details of the movements in
the property, plant and equipment of the Group during the
Reporting Period are set out in note 12 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

As of December 31, 2022, the Company’s total number of
issued Shares was 490,218,811. Details of movements in the
Company’s share capital during the Reporting Period are set
out in note 32(c) to the consolidated financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

There was no equity-linked agreement entered into by the
Company or any of its subsidiaries during the Reporting Period
or subsisted as of December 31, 2022.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Company and
the Group during Reporting Period are set out in note 32(a) to
the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Company's reserves available for distribution to the
Shareholders at December 31, 2022 amounted to US$165.1
million (2021: US$131.7 million). Details of the reserves of
the Company available for distribution to the Shareholders
as of December 31, 2022 are set out in note 32(a) to the
consolidated financial statements.
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DEBENTURE ISSUED

The Group did not issue any debenture during the Reporting
Period.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
LISTED SECURITIES

During the Reporting Period, neither the Company nor any of
its subsidiaries has purchased, redeemed or sold any of the
Company'’s listed securities.

DONATIONS

During the Reporting Period, approximately RMB2.0 million
charitable donations were made by the Group (2021: RMB1.0
million).

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company and its subsidiaries during the
Reporting Period and as of the date of this Annual Report are:

Directors of the Company:
Executive Directors

Mr. Pan Longquan (Chairman, Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Zhang Tong

Mr. Ke Zugian

Mr. Michael John Clancy

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Tian Ming
Dr. Li Minghui
Mr. Jiang Li
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Directors of the subsidiaries of the Company: AATRMBRARES :
The following directors have served on the board of the #HZE2022F12A31H ' LW FEFERAARFRNEAR
subsidiaries of the Company as of December 31, 2022: ANESSEH -
Place of
Name of Subsidiaries Incorporation
ME A E & NS T ) Name of Directors BEEps
Chervon (HK) Ltd Hong Kong Mr. Pan Longquan ERRLE
RI& (HE)BRAR 575 Ms. Zhang Tong b2
Mr. Ke Zugian TR E
Mr. Cheng Hong Kei M-
Chervon Overseas Holdings Limited  Hong Kong Mr. Pan Longquan ERRLE
RIEFINERAR DA B Ms. Zhang Tong Rzt
Mr. Ke Zugian TAE R &
Chervon (China) Trading Co.,Ltd PRC Mr. Pan Longquan BRERLE
RIE(RE) BEHBRRA HE Ms. Zhang Tong Rzt
Mr. Hu Yian AR EE
Chervon (China) Tools Sales Co., Ltd  PRC Ms. Zhang Tong b2
RUE(RE) TEHEEERAT HE
Chervon Industry Co., Ltd PRC Mr. Pan Longquan BEREE
REREBRAR HE Ms. Zhang Tong Rzt
Mr. Ke Zugian TE R &
Mr. Hu Yian AR LA
Chervon Industry (Vietnam) Co. Ltd  Vietnam Mr. Ren Dehong FREREE
FIEEE (HE) BRAF e Mr. Ke Zugian AR
Chervon China Investment PRC Mr. Pan Longquan BEREE
R (PE)REFRDF FED Ms. Zhang Tong b
Mr. Ke Zugian TERR &
Chervon North America Inc. us Mr. Pan Longquan BEREE
xH Ms. Zhang Tong Rzt
Mr. Hu Yian AR S
Chervon Canada Inc. Canada Mr. Pan Longquan BEREE
JIEYN Ms. Zhang Tong R L
Mr. Howard Drabinsky Howard Drabinsky %t 4
Chervon Europe Ltd United Kingdom Mr. Pan Longquan ERERGE
HE Ms. Zhang Tong R+
EGO Europe GmbH Germany Mr. Peter John Melrose Peter John Melrose %t 4
=5 Mr. Axel Stemmer Axel Stemmer st 4E
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Place of
Name of Subsidiaries Incorporation
MEQRER I E) R AL 3t Name of Directors BEEps
Chervon Australia Pty Australia Mr. Pan Longquan ERRLE
RAFI TR Mr. Ng Paul King-Por Ng Paul King-Porst &
Mr. Hu Yian HAREE
Chervon NZ Subsidiary Limited New Zealand Mr. Pan Longquan ERER AL
E Ms. Zhang Tong 2
Mr. Richard Charles Ashby Richard Charles Ashby 4t 4
Flex Geschaftsfiihrungs GmbH Germany Mr. Ke Zugian AR E
= Dr. Christian Neuner Christian Neunerf&+
Flex Verwaltungs GmbH & Co KG Germany General Partner : Chervon EBAFEA : Chervon
f=E Geschéftsfuhrungs GmbH Geschéftsfuhrungs GmbH
Limited partner: Chervon BREEA - REBIMER
Overseas Holdings limited BRRA
FLEX Elektrowerkzeuge GmbH Germany Dr. Christian Neuner Christian Neuneri&+
ZE
FLEX Power Tools BVBA Belgium Mr. Robert Charles de Koning Robert Charles de Koning %t £
Lk B
FLEX Power Tools B.V. Netherlands Dr. Christian Neuner Christian Neuneri& £
T 8
FLEX Elektrona adi, s.r.o The Czech Dr. Christian Neuner Christian Neunert&+
Republic Mr. Jan Skala Jan Skala%t £
P HAE
FLEX ltalia S.r.l Italy Dr. Christian Neuner Christian Neunerf§ =
BEAF Mr. Stefano Galdabino Stefano Galdabinost &
Mr. Gert Moller Gert Mollerst &
FLEX Electroportatif Machines et France Dr. Christian Neuner Christian Neuneri&+
Accessoires-FEMA EE Mr. Philippe Bayet Philippe Bayetst &
Mr. Ashley Senna Ashley Senna%t4

Flex Power Tools Limited

Flex Power Tools Middle East Fzco

SKIL B.V.

Chervon GmbH

United Kingdom
HE

United Arab Emirate
P hz A& 2 R B
Netherlands

Gl

Germany
e

Dr. Christian Neuner

Dr. Christian Neuner
Mr. Chadi Kachmar

Mr. Pan Longquan
Mr. Peter John Melrose

=

Dr. Christian Neuner
Mr.Peter John Melrose

Christian Neuneri&+

Christian Neunert&+
Chadi Kachmarst 4

BERTE
Peter John Melrose %t 4

Christian Neunert&+
Peter John Melrose 4
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In accordance with article 111 of the Articles of Association,
Mr. Michael John Clancy, Mr. Tian Ming, and Dr. Li Minghui
will retire by rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election at the forthcoming AGM of the Company.

The Company has not received any notice in writing specifying
that the resignation or refusal to stand for election is due
to reasons relating to the affairs of the Company from the
Directors.

The particulars of Directors who are subject to re-election
at the forthcoming AGM are set out in the circular to our
Shareholders dated Friday, April 28, 2023.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE FROM THE
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each independent non-
executive Director a confirmation of independence in
accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers all independent non-executive Directors to be
independent as of the date of this Annual Report.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior
management of the Group are set out on pages 26 to 37 of
this Annual Report.

CHANGES TO DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Save as disclosed in this Annual Report, there are no changes
to any information required to be disclosed in relation to
any Director pursuant to paragraphs (a) to (e) and (g) under
Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules since the publication of the
Company'’s Interim Report dated September 26, 2022.

50 Chervon Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022

RIEAZZERMAIZE 11115 - Michael John Clancy
S - ARG ERTHIBE TERAR R EERE
BFERG FHERT  WHEERBBEEERET-

ARABY EEETAEAEERNERRAEBEEH
REBRERER2ENSHBEA -

BREERRAFAS LEZRET s ESHBHRN
HEA2023F4 828H (BHR) BURE 2B -

BYFHITESNE LRI

ARAFERERBIFATESTRELDRAE
BABFEHZBIMRER - BEAFHRAY - AR
RRRERBVIINITESTHR/EIAL -

EENEREEERE

AEBEELRRAEEENEEFBIERAFES
26%378 °

FrRARFHRAAFE TSI - BARF HEA2022F9 A26
H AR HAsR & FIZELAZR - RIE ETHARAIEE13.51(2)
EFE@)ZE(e) M(QBETHEBBTMNEETHEM
BRI EEE -



DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS AND LETTERS
OF APPOINTMENTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
contract with the Company on December 8, 2021, and the
Company has issued letters of appointment to each of the
independent non-executive Directors. The service contracts
with each of the executive Directors is for an initial fixed
term of three years commencing from December 8, 2021.
The letter of appointment with each of the independent non-
executive Directors is for an initial fixed term of three years.
The service contract and the letters of appointment are subject
to termination in accordance with their respective terms. The
service contracts and the letters of appointments may be
renewed in accordance with the Articles of Association and
the applicable Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has entered,
or has proposed to enter, a service contract with any member
of the Group (other than contracts expiring or determinable
by the employer within one year without the payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation)).

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Remuneration Committee was set up for reviewing the
Group’s emolument policy and structure of the Directors and
senior management of the Group, having regard to the Group’s
operating results, individual performance of the Directors and
senior management and comparable market practices.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest
paid individuals during the Reporting Period are set out in
notes 8 and 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

RETIREMENT AND EMPLOYEE BENEFITS SCHEME

Details of the retirement and employee benefits scheme of the
Company are set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As of December 31, 2022, the interests or short positions of
each Director of the Board or chief executive of the Company
in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571
of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO") which were required to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including the
interests and short positions which were taken or deemed
to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which were
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or which were required to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) are as follows:

(i) Interest in our Company

EERFETHRAEBRRG - HERORE
HZEBRAXR

HZE2022412A31H  EEESEFTNARAR
BITRABRARBI S EEMAEEZE (EEREHE
EREST1EFSH LBAEGEN ([FFRAEMRG )
EXVED) R, - BERG EEE T HEERIEFE
H R EEGIEXVEBET7 R8N BB ME AN A ) K Bt
RETRIE R ROA R (BIEIRIEFF R EEDIE B
MWEEREAEENERAR)  EHERER
BIRBES R EIENEI52EBTEEN S LMK
BIEFMETAZEETELSRI SNIZESTA ([
E5R ) BRNEARRE REZTNER AR D
T~

(i) RELXFER

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding

interest®

Nature of interest Number of shares™ RAERL

Name of Director EEHH ERME BRoEHEE® BAtE®

Mr. Pan® EIE® Interest in controlled corporation 260,226,344 (L) 53.08%
ZEAE S

Ms. Zhang® R @ Interest in controlled corporation 98,835,550 (L) 20.16%
ZEAB RS

Mr. Ke®) fa] g £ 6) Interest in controlled corporation 27,118,822 (L) 5.53%
XY EE

Mr. Clancy® Clancy%c4®  Interest in controlled corporation 480,100 (L) 0.10%

SRR B S
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Notes:

The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in such
shares of the Company.

As of December 31, 2022, the total number of issued
Shares was 490,218,811.

These shares are held by Panmercy Holdings Limited
(“Panmercy”), which is wholly owned by Mr. Pan, who is
also a director of Panmercy.

These shares include (i) 97,637,750 Shares held by Green
Hope Limited (“Green Hope”), which is wholly owned by
Ms. Zhang and (ii) 1,197,800 Shares held by two offshore
employee shareholding platforms pursuant to an employee
incentive arrangement, of which Ms. Zhang is the sole
director. Ms. Zhang is deemed to be interested in these
Shares for the purposes of the SFO.

These shares are held by Klamm Limited (“Klamm”), which
is wholly owned by Mr. Ke, who is also a director of Klamm.

Mr. Clancy is interested in the 480,100 Shares which are
held by NP Kun Investment Limited, which is owned by Mr.
Clancy with 45.8% interests. Mr. Clancy is deemed to be
interested in these Shares for the purposes of the SFO.

Hiit -

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
FRGWE

FHILIERALRARAREROOTA -

HZEC0220F12A31BE R TR AR A
490,218,811 JZALID -

HERMBELEEZERANREZERERA
A(EEDIFA  BEENRRBHES -

HERGRIENHREERAR (BB FEH
97,637,750/ /%5 - BRMETIAKLLEEHEE
(iR —I18E B BB L U2 R EEIME
BHEBRFAEFEM,197 800D © K+
AEMETFEHE—FEF - BEIHFRPEK
Bl RETWERARZERNDTEAER

ZERhBRAER2E ([REDFE -
AHAELERERS 0 BAR/TAES -

Pl

Clancy %t £72 480,100 I8 D R A EZ © #%
ZRR M HAClancy S £ #EH 45.8% NP Kun
Investment Limited#78 o« RIFEFEHLKHAEK
Bl Clancy L £WIR ARZERM P HEAE

o
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ESEWE
(ii)  Interest in our associated corporations (i) REBEZEDHESR
Approximate
percentage of
shareholding
Name of Nature of interest Name of the associated corporation/subsidiary interest
director EE4h BatE REEE/ WEARER RERORAL
Mr. Pan BRE Interest in controlled Chervon Global 66.72%
corporation
RiEEEER Chervon Assets Management Holdings Limited 85.00%
Chervon Investment Limited 100.00%
Chervon Capital Management Limited 100.00%
Chervon Assets Holdings Limited 100.00%
Chervon (Nanjing) Management Services Co., Ltd.* 100.00%
(RE(@R)EBRBAERAF) (“Chervon Management Services')
RE(BR)EERBARAR ((REERRE])
Chervon International Trading (BRREEEE5ER A7) 85.00%
HRREERESERAT
Jiuhao Electromechanical 100.00%
RERE
Chervon Precision Technology Holdings Company Limited 92.00%
(“Chervon Precision Technology’)
REFFRIAERERAT ([ REBBH])
Chervon China Investment * (RIE(RE)REBB L) 100.00%
RE(RE) REBRDF
Chervon Auto Precision Technology (B R R & AEREZRITRHER L) 51.80%
HRREAERTRIRHBRAR
Chervon Auto Precision Technology (Europe) Limited Liability Company 100.00%
T REEER (BN AR
Chervon Auto Precision Technology (Anhui) Co., Ltd. * 100.00%

(REAERERIE(ZH)RHERAF) (‘Chervon Anhui’)
RIETERTRN (Z8) RHERAR ([REZH])
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Approximate
percentage of
shareholding

Name of Nature of interest Name of the associated corporation/subsidiary interest
director ~ EZ%E BHUE BEEE/ HEARER RERHEL L
Ms. Zhang  ®XL Interest in controlled Chervon Global 24.66%
corporation
REEERE Chervon Assets Management Holdings Limited 85.00%
Chervon Investment Limited 100.00%
Chervon Capital Management Limited 100.00%
Chervon Assets Holdings Limited 100.00%
Chervon Management Services 100.00%
REERRE
Chervon International Trading 85.00%
REERES
Jiuhao Electromechnical 100.00%
WERE
Chervon Precision Technology 92.00%
TR
Chervon China Investment 100.00%
g (RE) A
Chervon Auto Precision Technology!” 51.80%
T REEER
Chervon Auto Precision Technology (Europe) Limited Liability Company 100.00%
FREEER (BN AR
Chervon Anhui 100.00%
REZH
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Approximate
percentage of
shareholding
Name of Nature of interest Name of the associated corporation/subsidiary interest
director ~ EE%E BHUE BEEE/ HWEARER RERHEA L
Mr. Ke {Epie Interest in controlled Chervon Global 6.85%
corporation
REERRER Chervon Assets Management Holdings Limited 85.00%
Chervon Investment Limited 100.00%
Chervon Capital Management Limited 100.00%
Chervon Assets Holdings Limited 100.00%
Chervon Management Services 100.00%
REERRE
Chervon International Trading 85.00%
REERES
Jiuhao Electromechanical 100.00%
WERE
Chervon Precision Technology 92.00%
RERER
Chervon China Investment 100.00%
g (RE) A
Chervon Auto Precision Technology!” 51.80%
REREREREY
Chervon Auto Precision Technology (Europe) Limited Liability Company 100.00%
BT (BN AR
Chervon Anhui 100.00%
REZH

*

For identification purposes only
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Note:

(1) 51.80% interest in Chervon Auto Precision Technology is
represented by 27.29% personal interest indirectly held by
Mr. Pan, Ms. Zhang and Mr. Ke in Chervon Auto Precision
Technology and 24.51% interest held through the Company.

Save as disclosed above, as of the date of this Annual Report,
none of the Directors and the chief executives of the Company
had or were deemed to have any interest or short position in
the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company
or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO), which were required to be notified to the Company
under Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO or recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to
Section 352 of the SFO or otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As of December 31, 2022, to the best knowledge of the
Directors, the following persons (other than the Directors or
the chief executive of the Company) have interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company under section 336 of the SFO or which were
required to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO:

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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Hiat

(1) RNRESERBZERMMNG1.80%BmiEEL
& RAE R AR RIE TR R HE
FAEM27.29% EARELEBARAFAN
24.51% 4 ©

BREXFEEN  BEAFHRAY BEEELA
RARSTHRABRARBREAEEE (EERE
FHREEERDEXVER) ) - BERO K EEE
THBAIRRSEEREES MBI EXVEE
TR8NEAME AR EMBEIAR  RIRE
BH LB EEIIFEIS2HEACARRRATENE
RMAEAERIORE - HIRBFETREMNER
NA R PR E R SOR R ©

FERRREMALRRORABRGNE

3z UL A
ﬁﬁﬁi/ﬁ%‘.

HZE2022F 128310  RESZHAMAMN UM FATL
(ARREBLERITHABRIN RARRBRMD K
RBR D P B IRIEE A R E K FI B 33615 ET
AR RBIEAGENELDMNEZIAR « HIRIEF
HE RS GBI EXVEFE 2R3 BAEAAN R GFERN
ERIKR

Approximate
percentage of

Name of Nature of interest Number of shares™ interest®

shareholder REERE ERME RoEHEE® BHES L

Panmercy® =Ee Beneficial owner 260,226,344 (L) 53.08%
EnEBA

Green Hope® 2@ Beneficial owner 97,637,750 (L) 19.91%
EmEBA

Klamm(®) ARG Beneficial owner 27,118,822 (L) 5.53%
EnEBA

FMR LLC® FMR LLC® Interest in controlled corporation 24,525,256 (L) 5.00%
XY EE
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EEERE
Notes:

(1) The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in such
shares of the Company.

(2) As of December 31, 2022, the Company’s total number of
issued Shares was 490,218,811.

(3) Panmercy is wholly owned by Mr. Pan, who is also a
director of Panmercy.

(4) 97,637,750 Shares are held by Green Hope, which is
wholly owned by Ms. Zhang, who is also a director of
Green Hope.

(5) Klamm is wholly owned by Mr. Ke, who is also a director of
Klamm.

(6) FMR LLC holds the Shares through its direct and indirect
subsidiaries, including Fidelity Management Trust
Company, Fidelity Management & Research Company LLC,
FIAM Holdings LLC, FMR Investment Management (UK)
Limited, Fidelity Management & Research (Japan) Limited,
Fidelity Management & Research (Hong Kong) Limited,
FIAM Holdings LLC, Fidelity Institutional Asset Management
Trust Company and FIAM LLC.

Save as disclosed above, as of the date of this Annual Report,
the Directors were not aware of any persons (who were not
Directors or chief executive of the Company) who had interests
or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which would be
required, pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, to be entered in
the register referred to therein.

RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group considers investors, employees, suppliers, society,
peers, governments and clients as its key stakeholders. It is
committed to building diversified, streamlined mechanisms
for communicating with such key stakeholders. Please refer to
the Company’'s 2022 Environmental, Social and Governance
Report for further details.
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(3) RHBEELZEHRA AELTARREES-

(4) 97,637,750 mERBIFE - BIEHER L
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(6) FAHWNELZEHRER AAETARTANE

°

ot

(6) FMR LLCEBEERZRHEENEBARR
B - BIEFidelity Management Trust
Company - Fidelity Management & Research
Company LLC * FIAM Holdings LLC * FMR
Investment Management (UK) Limited -
Fidelity Management & Research (Japan)
Limited - Fidelity Management & Research
(Hong Kong) Limited ~ FIAM Holdings LLC »
Fidelity Institutional Asset Management Trust
Company & FIAM LLC °
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

We set out below a summary of the connected transactions
conducted by the Group during the Reporting Period.

Chervon Auto Precision Technology A Share Subscription
Agreement

Details of the transaction under the Chervon Auto Precision
Technology A Share Subscription Agreement are set forth
in the section headed “Management Discussion & Analysis
— Material Acquisitions and Disposals of Subsidiaries and
Associates” on pages 23 and 24 of this Annual Report.

Continuing Connected Transactions Fully Exempt from
the Reporting, Annual Review, Announcement and
Independent Shareholders’ Approval Requirements

We set out below a brief summary of the continuing connected
transactions fully exempt from the reporting, annual review,
announcement and independent shareholder’'s approval
requirements conducted by the Group during the Reporting
Period.
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BERLIRZREBERS
TXEINREERREHAETHRERZHE -

RIEFERZRRMARZ B E

BERREAERERMARRBERRR TR HNHE
BNAFREZENAAN [ EBRETNREDNT —
BEAMBARHENB AR REE AR —4 -
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RERBIR

TXEINAEERBREREETOREEE A RET
B FEERN  AERBURRIEREORE
FEXSHHE

A B FFW 59

RIGYER BBR 2



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EE e

Connected Persons of the Company

We have entered into certain transactions that will constitute

K REIEEA L
BPERTIETRS  RIBELHRAFE14A311

continuing connected transactions under Rule 14A.31 of the REXFBERLITREXREBEBERS - ZE5XH

Listing Rules upon Listing. Those transactions are entered into

TYERTHIREA L R EBE AR

with the following connected persons and their associates:

Connected person
BEAL

Connected Relationship

BAE R %

Chervon Auto Precision Technology

SR T B KR B

Nanjing Yaoquan Investment
Management Co., Limited*
(ARBRREEBERAR)
(“Nanjing Yaoquan”)

MRRERRAERAERAR ([ARBR])

Cheng & Cheng Corporate Services
Limited (“Cheng & Cheng")
EEEMERBER LR ([ERE])

Cheng & Cheng Taxation Services
Limited (“Cheng & Cheng Taxation”)
BEHBER AR ([EEBHE])

Chervon Auto Precision Technology is owned as to 27.29% by
Chervon Precision Technology, which is an indirect subsidiary
of Panmercy. As such, Chervon Auto Precision Technology is an
associate of Panmercy and therefore our connected person under
Rule 14A.13(3) of the Listing Rules.
RERERTRMAZENREZENE AR RESTRMER27.29%
B o AUt REAEBERMABENBEAN - SRE ETHRAUE
14A 133 I BB MABEEAL -

Nanjing Yaoquan is wholly-owned by Nanjing Suquan Investment Co.,
Limited* (P R&x R EEEAGMRAF]), which is owned as to 75.12% by
Mr. Xiao Jun (H #9), who was a former director of our Company in the
last 12 months.

EARBRHERMEKREEEARARZERE MERKEREETES
RARIRARAINBE12EANAIESTH O R EEF75.12% 5 o

Nanjing Yaoquan is an associate of Mr. Xiao Jun and therefore our
connected person under Rule 14A.12(1)(c) of the Listing Rules.
FARBRAESHEENBEA - BRE ETRAE14A12 (1) (C)EREM
BBEAL -

Cheng & Cheng is owned as to 50% by Mr. Cheng Hong Kei (#fEE
) and 50% by his spouse. Cheng & Cheng is an associate of Mr,
Cheng Hong Kei, a director of Chervon (HK) Limited, and therefore
our connected person under Rule 14A.12(1)(c) of the Listing Rules.
ERER BRI A REBB DRI A 50% R50%Eam o EEEARE (BE)
BRAFBEEFHERELENBEA - BARE ETRAE14A12(1)(c) 6 A
BMBEAL -

Cheng & Cheng Taxation is owned as to 50% by Mr. Cheng Hong
Kei (BfEEHL) and 50% by his spouse. Cheng & Cheng Taxation is an
associate of Mr. Cheng Hong Kei, a director of Chervon (HK) Limited,
and therefore our connected person under Rule 14A.12(1)(c) of the
Listing Rules.

BB RE L E R ERBDRIEB50% Mk50%Eam o ZEH A
RRE(FE)ARRAAEFURELENBEA - HRE ETRUE
14A12(1) ()G R PIMEEAL -
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Nanjing Chervon Auto Precision Technology Factory
Lease. During the Reporting Period, Nanjing Chervon
Industry, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
(as lessor) performed under a lease agreement with
Chervon Auto Precision Technology (the “Nanjing
Chervon Auto Precision Technology Factory Lease”),
pursuant to which Nanjing Chervon Industry leased to
Chervon Auto Precision Technology (as lessee) part
of its factory of an area of approximately 7,654.22 m?
located at No. 159 Jiangjun Avenue, Jiangning District,
Nanjing, the PRC. The transactions under the Nanjing
Chervon Auto Precision Technology Factory Lease
constitute de minimis transactions and are exempt
from the reporting, announcement, annual review and
independent shareholders’ approval requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Water Utility Bill Sharing Agreement. During the
Reporting Period, Nanjing Chervon Industry, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, performed under a
water utility bill sharing agreement with Chervon Auto
Precision Technology (the “Water Utility Bill Sharing
Agreement”), pursuant to which Nanjing Chervon
Industry procured supply of water services in respect
of the Factory for the operations of Chervon Auto
Precision Technology. Given that (1) the utility supply
service is a “consumer service” and (2) the use of the
water supply service is on normal commercial terms in
our ordinary and usual course of business, the payment
for water utility charges under the Water Utility Bill
Sharing Agreement on an at-cost basis is fully exempt
from the reporting, announcement and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under Rule 14A.97
of the Listing Rules.
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Electricity Utility Bill Sharing Agreement. During the
Reporting Period, Nanjing Chervon Industry, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, performed under an
electricity utility bill sharing agreement with Chervon
Auto Precision Technology (the “Electricity Utility Bill
Sharing Agreement’), pursuant to which Chervon Auto
Precision Technology procured supply of electricity
services in respect of the Factory for Company’s
operations. Given that (1) the utility supply service is
a “consumer service” and (2) the use of the electricity
supply service is on normal commercial terms in our
ordinary and usual course of business, the payment for
electricity utility charges under the Electricity Utility Bill
Sharing Agreement on an at-cost basis is fully exempt
from the reporting, announcement and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under Rule 14A.97
of the Listing Rules.

Nanjing Yaoquan Office Lease. Nanjing Chervon
Industry, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
performed under a lease agreement with Nanjing
Yaoquan (the “Nanjing Yaoquan Office Lease”),
pursuant to which Nanjing Chervon Industry leased
to Nanjing Yaoquan an office area of approximately
300 m? located at No. 99 West Tianyuan Road,
Jiangning Economic and Technological Development
Zone, Nanjing, the PRC. The transactions under the
Nanjing Yaoquan Office Lease constitute de minimis
transactions and are exempt from the reporting,
announcement, annual review and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.
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. Company Secretarial Services Agreement and
Tax Compliance Services Agreement. During the
Reporting Period, the Company performed under a
company secretarial services agreement with Cheng
& Cheng (the “Company Secretarial Services
Agreement”), pursuant to which Cheng & Cheng
provided company secretarial services, custody
of company records and act as the designated
representative of certain of the Company’s subsidiaries.
The Company also performed under a tax compliance
services agreement with Cheng & Cheng Taxation (the
“Tax Compliance Services Agreement’), pursuant to
which Cheng & Cheng Taxation provided routine tax
compliance services and prepare profits tax returns
and tax computations to Company and certain of its
subsidiaries. The transactions under the Company
Secretarial Services Agreement and Tax Compliance
Services Agreement, when aggregated, constitute de
minimis transactions and are exempt from the reporting,
announcement, annual review and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

Details of the related party transactions undertaken in the
normal course of business are provided under note 36 to
the consolidated financial statements. Save as disclosed in
note 36 to the consolidated financial statements, pursuant to
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, none of such related party
transactions constitutes a connected transaction or continuing
connected transaction (as the case may be).
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DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS
OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as the related party transactions as disclosed in
note 36 to the consolidated financial statements and the
section headed “Related Party Transactions and Connected
Transactions” in this Annual Report, no transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which
a Director and/or any of its connected entity had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, and no transaction,
arrangement or contract of significance between the Company
or any of its subsidiaries and the Company’s controlling
Shareholders or any of their subsidiaries, subsisted at the end
of the year or at any time during the year ended December 31,
2022.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the Reporting Period was the Company or its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement that would enable the
Directors to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares
in or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate,
and none of the Directors or any of their spouses or children
under the age of 18 were granted any right to subscribe for
the equity or debt securities of the Company or any other body
corporate or had exercised any such right.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company was entered into or existed during the Reporting
Period.
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this Annual
Report, none of the Directors or their respective associates
(as defined under the Listing Rules) had engaged in or had
any interest in any business which competes or may compete,
either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group
which would require disclosure under Rule 8.10 of the Listing
Rules.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Pursuant to the Articles of Association and subject to
applicable laws, the Company has arranged for appropriate
insurance to cover all costs, charges, losses, expenses and
liabilities incurred by any Directors or officers in the execution
and discharge of his duties or in relation thereto. The relevant
provisions in the Articles of Association and such directors and
officers liability insurance were in force during the Reporting
Period and as of the date of this Annual Report.

PUBLIC FLOAT

The Company has applied to the Stock Exchange to request
the Stock Exchange to exercise its discretion under Rule
8.08(1)(d) of the Listing Rules, and the Stock Exchange has
granted to the Company, a waiver from strict compliance with
the requirements under Rule 8.08(1)(a) of the Listing Rules.
Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and to the best knowledge of the Directors, at least
18.43% (being the minimum public float prescribed by the
Stock Exchange and the Listing Rules) of the Company’s entire
issued share capital were held by the public as of the date of
this Annual Report.
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EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The following significant event took place subsequent to
December 31, 2022:

Placing of Existing Shares and Top-Up Subscription of
New Shares under General Mandate

Unless otherwise defined, capitalized terms used this
section have the same meanings as those defined in the
announcement of the Company dated January 12, 2023.

On January 12, 2023 (before trading hours),
Panmercy, a company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited
liability and a controlling Shareholder (the “Seller’) and
China International Capital Corporation Hong Kong Securities

the Company,

Limited (the “Placing Manager”) entered into a placing and
subscription agreement (the “Placing and Subscription
Agreement”), pursuant to which, (a) the Seller has agreed
to appoint the Placing Manager, and the Placing Manager
has agreed to act as an agent of the Seller and to procure
purchasers to purchase on a best efforts basis, an aggregate
of up to 20,835,000 existing Shares (the “Sale Shares”) at the
price of HK$37.50 per Sale Share (the “Placing Price”); and
(b) the Seller has agreed to subscribe for, and the Company
has agreed to allot and issue to the Seller, an aggregate of up
to 20,835,000 new Shares (the “Subscription Shares”) at the
price of HK$37.50 per Subscription Share (being the same as
the Placing Price), in each case upon the terms and subject
to the conditions set out in the Placing and Subscription
Agreement (the “Placing and Subscription”). The closing
price per Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange as at
January 11, 2023 was HK$42.40.

The Directors are of the view that the Placing and Subscription
will benefit the Group’s long term development and broaden
the shareholder base and capital base of the Group to
facilitate future growth and development of its business, as
well as to increase the liquidity of the Shares. The Directors
(including the independent non-executive Directors) are also
of view that the Placing and Subscription is in the interests of
the Company and the Shareholders as a whole and the terms
of the Placing and Subscription Agreement, which were arrived
at after arm’s length negotiations between the Company, the
Seller and the Placing Manager, are fair and reasonable so far
as the Shareholders are concerned.
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The completion of the Placing and Subscription took place
on January 19, 2023 in accordance with the terms and
conditions of the Placing and Subscription Agreement, where
an aggregate of 20,835,000 Sale Shares were successfully
placed to no less than six placees (which are professional,
institutional and/or individual investors) (the “Placees”)
at the Placing Price of HK$37.50 for each Sale Share. As
all conditions of the Subscription have been fulfilled, the
Company allotted and issued 20,835,000 Subscription Shares
to the Seller at the Subscription Price on January 19, 2023 in
accordance with the terms and conditions of the Placing and
Subscription Agreement. The placees (and their respective
ultimate beneficial owners) were third parties independent of
the Company and its connected persons and no individual
placee has become a substantial Shareholder of the Company
upon the completion of the Placing and Subscription.

The net proceeds from the Subscription (after deducting all
fees, costs and expenses incurred by the Company and the
Seller in connection with the Placing and the Subscription)
amount to approximately HK$773 million. The net Subscription
Price, after deducting such fees, costs and expenses, is
therefore approximately HK$37.12 per Subscription Share. The
Board intends to use the net proceeds from the Subscription
mainly for the enhancement of sales and distribution channels,
research and development of products, upgrade of production
facilities, research and development of products, enhancement
of sales and distribution channels, as well as other general
working capital purposes. The intended uses and the balance
of the net proceeds from the Subscription are set out below:
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Amount of Balance of
Net Proceeds Net Proceeds
utilized up to unutilized as of
Percentage March 28, March 28,
of total Net 2023 2023 Intended timeframe for
Allocation of Proceeds EZE2023F #Z2023F use of the unutilized
Intended use of Net Proceeds hFrBRE 3528H 3H28H Net Proceeds
Net Proceeds FriS50A FHEAE BEAMSB ABARE ADAMSHERE
FEREFENRERZ FENDE MBI RIEFH REFEAS HTREER
Enhancement of sales and HK$309.2 40.0% HK$120.0 HK$189.2 Before
distribution channels million million million  December 31, 2024
IBRHE R HRE 309.2BERT 1200888 1892BEET  M2024F12A31A A
Research and development HK$231.9 30.0% HK$60.0 HK$171.9  Before
of products million million million  December 31, 2024
EE i E 23198 &AL 60.0B&EBT 17198848  M2024F12A31B 2H]
Upgrade of production facilities HK$77.3 10.0% HK$40.0 HK$37.3  Before
TR ER million million million  December 31, 2024
T13BEET 40088ET 373EEAET  M2024F12A318ZH]
Other general working capital HK$154.6 20.0% HK$50.0 HK$104.6  Before
purposes million million million  December 31, 2024
Hio—REEEL2EN 154 6B ERTT 500B8BT  104.6B&EETL M2024F12A31R ZA0
Total HK$773.0 100.0% HK$270.0 HK$503.0
FaEy million million million
T73.0EEBL 270.0B BB 503.0HBATL

Please refer to the Company’s announcements dated January
12, 2023 and January 19, 2023 for further details regarding
the placing of existing shares and top-up subscription of new
shares under general mandate.

As of the date of this Annual Report, save as disclosed above,

there was no important event affecting the Group which
occurred after December 31, 2022.

68 Chervon Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022

EREEREROEBE - REELERTREN
& HE— P - AN ARRIBEA20234F 1
A12H %2023F1 A19BHRE

HEAFHREE B EMPAEEIN - 72022F12 5
S1RABMER A EREB s EANEE -



AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company (“Audit Committee”)
has jointly reviewed with the Board the accounting principles
and practices adopted by the Group, and discussed the
Group’s internal controls and financial reporting matters with
the management. The Audit Committee has reviewed and
discussed the annual results of the Group for the Reporting
Period.

AUDITOR

KPMG was appointed as auditor of the Company for the
Reporting Period.

KPMG shall retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of KPMG as
auditors of the Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming
AGM.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining a high level of
corporate governance practices. Details of the corporate
governance practices adopted by the Company are set out in
the section headed “Corporate Governance Report” on pages
70 to 99 of this Annual Report.

By Order of the Board

Pan Longquan

Executive Director, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Hong Kong, March 28, 2023
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The Board is pleased to report to the Shareholders on the
corporate governance of the Company during the Reporting
Period.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company strives to attain and maintain high standards
of corporate governance best suited to the needs and
interests of the Group as it believes that an effective corporate
governance framework is fundamental to promoting and
safeguarding interests of Shareholders and other stakeholders
and enhancing Shareholder value. Accordingly, the Company
has adopted and applied corporate governance principles
and practices that emphasize a quality board of Directors,
effective risk management and internal control systems,
stringent disclosure practices, transparency and accountability
as well as effective communication and engagement with
Shareholders and other stakeholders.
committed to continuously enhancing these standards and

It is, in addition,
practices and inculcating a robust culture of compliance and
ethical governance underlying the business operations and
practices across the Group.

The Company has adopted the Corporate Governance Code
set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules (the “CG Code”)
as its own code of corporate governance. Save as disclosed
in this Annual Report, the Company has complied with all
applicable code provisions under the CG Code during the
Reporting Period. The Company will continue to review
and monitor its corporate governance practices to ensure
compliance with the CG Code.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

THE BOARD
Corporate Culture and Strategy

The Group instills a culture that respects and promotes
creativity, opportunities to exchange ideas and cross-
fertilization of innovative advancements and solutions. The
Board sets the tone and shapes the corporate culture of
the Company, which is underpinned by the core values of
acting lawfully, ethically and responsibly across all levels
of the Group. The Board plays a leading role in defining
the purpose, values and strategic direction of the Group
and in fostering a culture that is forward-looking, change-
embracing and competitiveness-focused. The desired culture
is developed and reflected consistently in the operating
practices of the Group, workplace policies and practices as
well as relations with stakeholders. The Board’s oversight of
culture encompasses a range of measures and tools over
time, including workforce engagement, employee retention
and training, stringent financial reporting, effective and
accessible whistleblowing framework, legal and regulatory
compliance (including compliance with the Code of Conduct
and group policies), as well as staff safety, well-being and
support. Taking into account the corporate culture in a range
of contexts, the Board considers that the culture and the
purpose, value and strategy of the Group are aligned.

Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the
Group, oversees the Group’s strategic decisions and monitors
business and performance. The Board has delegated the
authority and responsibility for day-to-day management
and operation of the Group to the senior management of
the Group. To oversee particular aspects of the Company’s
affairs, the Board has established three Board committees,
including the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee (collectively, the “Board
Committees”). The Board has delegated to the Board
Committees responsibilities as set out in their respective terms
of reference.

All Directors have carried out their duties in good faith, in
compliance with applicable laws and regulations, and in the
interests of the Company and its Shareholders at all times.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage
in respect of liability arising from legal action against its
Directors, and will conduct an annual review on such insurance
coverage.
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Board Composition

As of December 31, 2022 and up to the date of this Annual
Report, the Board comprised seven Directors, including four
executive Directors and three independent non-executive
Directors as set out below:

Executive Directors

Mr. Pan Longquan (Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and
member of Nomination Committee)

Ms. Zhang Tong

Mr. Ke Zugian

Mr. Michael John Clancy

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Tian Ming (Chairperson of Remuneration Committee and
members of Audit and Nomination Committees)

Dr. Li Minghui (Chairperson of Audit Committee and
member of Remuneration Committee)

Mr. Jiang Li (Chairperson of Nomination Committee and
member of Audit Committee)

The biographies of the Directors are set out under the
section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” of this Annual Report.

The Board considers that the composition of the Board
provides a strong independent element with a balance of
skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate for
the requirements of the business of the Company.

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this Annual
Report, the Board has met at all times the requirements under
Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules relating to the
appointment of at least three independent non-executive
directors with at least one independent non-executive
director possessing appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise.

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this Annual
Report, the Company has also complied with Rule 3.10A of the
Listing Rules, which relates to the appointment of independent
non-executive directors representing at least one-third of the
Board.
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Each of the independent non-executive Directors has
confirmed his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules and the Company considers each of them to be
independent as of the date of this Annual Report.

Save as disclosed in the biographies of the Directors as set
out in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors
and Senior Management” of this Annual Report, none of the
Directors has any personal relationship (including financial,
business, family or other material/relevant relationship) with
any other Directors or any chief executive.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors,
have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business
experience, knowledge and expertise to the Board for its
efficient and effective functioning. Independent non-executive
Directors are invited to serve on the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee.

As regards the code provision under the CG Code requiring
directors to disclose the number and nature of offices held
in public companies or organizations and other significant
commitments as well as their identity and the time involved
to the issuer, the Directors have agreed to disclose their
commitments to the Company in a timely manner.

Board Independence Evaluation

The Company has established a Board Independence
Evaluation Mechanism which sets out the mechanisms to
ensure a strong independent element on, and independent
views and input are available to, the Board. The mechanisms
among other topics, (i) appointment of independent
non-executive directors to the Board and Board committees,
(ii) independence assessments conducted by the Nomination
Committee and (iii) Board decision-making process. We
believe these mechanisms will enable the Board effectively
exercises independent judgment to better safeguard the
Shareholders’ interests. During the Reporting Period, the
Board reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the
Board Independence Evaluation Mechanism and the results
were satisfactory.
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Board Diversity Policy

To enhance the effectiveness of the Board and to maintain
the high standard of corporate governance, we have adopted
the board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”) on
December 8, 2021, which sets out the objective and approach
to achieve and maintain diversity of our Board. Pursuant to
Board Diversity Policy, we seek to achieve board diversity
by taking into consideration of various factors and objective
criteria, including but not limited to professional experience,
skills, knowledge, gender, age, cultural and education
background, ethnicity and length of service.

The Company will also take into account factors relating to its
own business model and specific needs from time to time. The
Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of having
a diverse Board and sees increasing diversity at the Board
level, including gender diversity, as an essential element
in maintaining the Company’s competitive advantage and
enhancing its ability to attract, retain and motivate employees
from the widest possible pool of available talent.

For the purpose of implementation of the Board Diversity
Policy, the following measurable objectives were adopted:

(A) at least one member of the Board shall be female;

(B) at least one-third of the members of the Board shall be
independent non-executive Directors;

(C) at least one of the members of the Board shall have
obtained accounting or other professional qualifications;

(D) at least 80% of the members of the Board shall have
more than 15 years of experience in the industry he/she

is specialized in; and

(B) at least one member of the Board shall have overseas
work experience.
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As of the date of this Annual Report, the seven Directors
of the Company have a balanced mix of knowledge, skills
and experience, including the areas of accounting, asset
management, consumer goods and computer industries.
They obtained academic degrees in various majors, including
business administration, accounting, computer and marketing.
We have three independent non-executive Directors with
different industry backgrounds, representing more than one-
third of the members of our Board. Furthermore, our Board
has a wide range of age, ranging from 49 years old to 67
years old. We currently have one female Director and one
female member of senior management, and will continue to
take steps to further promote gender diversity at all levels
of our Company, including but not limited to the Board and
management levels. In addition, the range of length of service
of the Directors is between 1 and 24 years, balancing the
needs for both fresh perspectives and leadership continuity.
The Directors also have a range of ethnicity background and
cross-border work experience. While we recognize that the
diversity at the Board can be further improved, we will continue
to apply the principle of appointments based on merits, with
reference to our Board Diversity Policy.

Our Nomination Committee is responsible for ensuring the
diversity of our Board members and compliance with relevant
codes governing board diversity under the CG Code. Our
Nomination Committee will review and revisit the Board
Diversity Policy and our diversity profile (including gender
balance) at least once annually to ensure its continued
effectiveness and discuss any revisions that may be
required, and recommend any such revisions to our Board
for consideration and approval. We will also disclose in our
Corporate Governance Report regarding the implementation
of the Board Diversity Policy on an annual basis. At present,
the Nomination Committee considers that the diversity of the
Board is sufficient.
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The Board had targeted to achieve and had achieved at
least one female Director, one member of female senior
management and appropriate balance of female employees
of the Group and considers that the Company’s current
gender diversity is satisfactory. The Nomination Committee
will continue to identify suitable female candidate(s) for
appointment to the Board based on merits against objective
criteria. Details on the gender ratio of the Group together
with relevant data can be found in the Company’s 2022
Environmental, Social and Governance Report to be published
separately.

Training and Continuous Professional Development

Each newly appointed Directors would be provided with
necessary induction and information to ensure that he/she
has a proper understanding of the Company’s operations
and businesses as well as his/her responsibilities under
relevant statutes, laws, rules and regulations. The Company
also arranges regular seminars to provide the Directors with
updates on the latest development and changes in the Listing
Rules and other relevant legal and regulatory requirements
from time to time. The Directors are also provided with
regular updates on the Company’s performance, position and
prospects to enable the Board as a whole and each Director
to discharge their duties.

Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. The Company has from time to time
updated and provided the Directors with written training
materials in relation to their roles, functions and duties.

During the Reporting Period, all Directors have been given the
training regarding the directors’ duties and responsibilities,
corporate governance and regulatory updates and relevant
reading materials including compliance manual/legal and
regulatory updates/seminar handouts have been provided to
the Directors for their reference and studying.
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Based on the information provided by the Directors, during the
Reporting Period, the Directors received the following trainings

NN
TEERMRSE

REBEFREHOEN  REHAN - EFCDEZAT
Al R B A

and updates:

Attending seminars
and/or conferences
and/or forums
relation to rules
and regulations

Reading
newspapers,
journals and

updates relating
to the economy
and business

or duties of management and
the directors  duties of directors
HEAERAR MEERRER
BOSESREZ EREEUR
WHEk, % ESREZEE
Name of Directors B4 BEK HRE BHURRHER
Executive Directors HTES
Mr. Pan Longquan ERRLE v v
Ms. Zhang Tong E 2 v v
Mr. Ke Zugian FERR A& v v
Mr. Michael John Clancy Michael John Clancy st 4 v v
Independent Non-executive Directors BYFHTES
Mr. Tian Ming HEALE v v
Dr. Li Minghui THEE L v v
Mr. Jiang Li LAV v v
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer FTERITHER

Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code requires that the roles of
chairman and chief executive officer be separate and not be
performed by the same individual.

However, the Company does not have separate chairman
and chief executive officer roles, and the responsibilities of
both chairman and chief executive officer vest in Mr. Pan
Longquan. The Board believes that vesting the responsibilities
of both chairman and chief executive officer in the same
person has the benefit of ensuring the consistent leadership
within the Group and enables more effective and efficient
overall strategic planning of the Group. Besides, with three
independent non-executive Directors out of a total of seven
Directors on the Board, there will be sufficient independent
voice within the Board to protect the interests of the Company
and the Shareholders as a whole.
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Therefore, the Board considers that the balance of power and
authority for the present arrangement will not be impaired and
this structure will enable the Company to make and implement
decisions promptly and effectively. The Board will continue
to review and consider splitting the roles of chairman of the
Board and chief executive officer of the Company at a time
when it is appropriate and suitable by taking into account the
circumstances of the Group as a whole.

Appointment and Re-Election of Directors

Each of Mr. Pan Longquan, Ms. Zhang Tong, Mr. Ke Zugian
and Mr. Michael John Clancy, each an executive Director, has
entered into an executive director service agreement with the
Company for an initial fixed term of three years commencing
from December 8, 2021 and subject to termination in
accordance with their respective terms and may be renewed in
accordance with the Articles of Association and the applicable
Listing Rules.

Each of Mr. Tian Ming, Dr. Li Minghui and Mr. Jiang Li, each
an independent non-executive Director, has entered into a
letter of appointment with the Company for an initial fixed
term of three years commencing from December 8, 2021 and
subject to termination in accordance with their respective
terms.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has entered
into, or has proposed to enter into, a service contract or letter
of appointment with the Group (other than contracts expiring or
determinable by the employer within one year without payment
of compensation (other than statutory compensation)).
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Pursuant to Article 111 (a) of the Articles of Association,
subject to the provisions of the Articles of Association, at each
AGM one-third of the Directors for the time being, or, if their
number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number
nearest to but greater than one-third, shall retire from office by
rotation. Subject to the provisions of the Ordinance, the Listing
Rules and the Articles of Association, the Directors to retire
in every year shall be those who have been longest in office
since their last election, and as between persons who became
Directors on the same day, the Directors to retire shall (unless
they otherwise agree between themselves) be determined by
lot. Every Director, including those appointed for a specific
term, shall be subject to retirement at least once every three
years.

Pursuant to Article 110 of the Articles of Association, without
prejudice to the power of the Company in general meeting
in accordance with any of the provisions of the Articles of
Association to appoint any person to be a Director, the Board
shall have power, exercisable at any time and from time to
time, to appoint any other person as a Director, either to fill
a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board, provided
that the number of Directors so appointed shall not exceed
the maximum number (if any) determined pursuant to the
Articles of Association. Any Directors so appointed shall hold
office only until the next following AGM of the Company and
shall then be eligible for reelection, but shall not be taken
into account in determining the Directors or the number of
Directors who are to retire by rotation at each AGM.

Accordingly, Mr. Michael John Clancy, Mr. Tian Ming, and Dr.
Li Minghui shall retire by rotation at the AGM and they being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and
removal of Directors are set out in the Articles of Association.
The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the
Board composition, and for making recommendations to the
Board on the appointment, re-appointment of Directors and
succession plans for the Directors.
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Board Meetings

The Company adopts the practice of holding Board meetings
regularly, at least four times a year, and at approximately
quarterly intervals in accordance with the code provision C.5.1
of the CG Code. Notices of no less than fourteen days are
given for all regular Board meetings to provide all Directors
with an opportunity to attend and include matters in the
agenda for a regular meeting.

For other Board meetings and Board Committee meetings,
reasonable notice is generally given. The agenda and
accompanying Board papers are dispatched to the Directors
or Board Committee members at least three days before the
meetings to ensure that they have sufficient time to review the
papers and are adequately prepared for the meetings and
that each Director can participate the board proceedings in
a meaningful and effective manner. When Directors or Board
Committee members are unable to attend a meeting, they
will be advised of the matters to be discussed and given an
opportunity to make their views known to the Chairman prior
to the meeting. Minutes of meetings shall be kept by the
company secretary of the Company with copies circulated to
all Directors for information and records. Minutes of the Board
meetings and Board Committee meetings are recorded in
sufficient detail about the matters considered by the Board and
the Board Committees and the decisions reached, including
any concerns raised by the Directors. Draft minutes of each
Board meeting and Board Committee meeting are sent to the
Directors for comments within a reasonable time after the date
on which the meeting is held. Minutes of the Board meetings
are open for inspection by the Directors.
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During the Reporting Period, four Board meetings and one MAWMEHA - ARFBARANAESTT &K — AR
general meeting were held by the Company. The attendance HAT - RFEHAN  SEESHREZTLLEMNIE
of each Director at the Board meetings during the Reporting  R&Za0T :
Period is set out below:
Attended/eligible to attend
BdEELE

Board meetings General meetings
Name of Directors EEEE Exges RERE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Pan Longquan EREREAE 4/4 11
Ms. Zhang Tong SRfY 2+ 4/4 11
Mr. Ke Zugian (EEEE S 4/4 1/1
Mr. Michael John Clancy Michael John Clancy %4 4/4 11
Independent Non-executive Directors BAFHTES
Mr. Tian Ming MEF%EE 4/4 1/1
Dr. Li Minghui ZHHBE LT 4/4 11
Mr. Jiang Li Bt 4/4 1/1

The CG Code requires that the chairman should at least
annually hold meetings with the independent non-executive
Directors without the presence of other Directors. During the
Reporting Period, one meeting was held between the Chairman
and the independent non-executive Directors.

Model Code for Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct
regarding Directors’ securities transactions. In response to
specific enquiries made, all of the Directors confirmed that
they have complied with the required standards as set out in
the Model Code during the Reporting Period. There has been
no non-compliance with the required standard set out in the
Model Code during the Reporting Period and up to the date of
the Annual Report.
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Delegation by the Board

The Board reserves for its decision on all major matters of
the Company, including: approval and monitoring of all policy
matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control
and risk management systems, material transactions (in
particular those that may involve conflict of interests), financial
information, appointment of Directors and other significant
financial and operational matters. The Directors may seek
independent professional advice in performing their duties at
the Company’s expense and are encouraged to access and to
consult with the Company’s senior management independently.

The daily management, administration and operation of the
Group are delegated to senior management. The delegated
functions and responsibilities are periodically reviewed by the
Board. Approval must be obtained from the Board prior to any
significant transactions entered into by senior management.

Corporate Governance Function

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out
in the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

The Board confirmed that corporate governance is a collective
responsibility of the Directors, which corporate governance
functions include:

(a) to develop and review the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance and make
recommendations to the Board;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

(c) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees

and Directors; and

(e) to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code
and disclosures in the Corporate Governance Report.
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The Board reviewed the Company’'s corporate governance
policies and practices, training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management, policies
and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements, compliance with the Model Code and written
employee guidelines, as well as compliance with the CG Code
and disclosures in this Corporate Governance Report.

BOARD COMMITTEES

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprises three members, namely Dr. Li
Minghui, Mr. Tian Ming and Mr. Jiang Li, being all independent
non-executive Directors. The Audit Committee is chaired by
Dr. Li Minghui (being the independent non-executive Director
with the appropriate professional qualifications).

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are in
compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and the CG
Code. The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to assist
the Board in, among other aspects: (i) overseeing the scope
of audit and appointment of external auditors, (ii) monitoring
the integrity of the Company’s financial statements and
accounts, as well as annual and interim reports, (iii) reviewing
the Company’s financial controls and risk management and
internal control systems, (iv) reviewing the Company’s financial
and accounting policies and practices and (iv) establishing
a whistleblowing policy and system for the Company’s
employees to raise concerns regarding possible improprieties
in financial reporting, internal control and other matters. The
written terms of reference of Audit Committee are available on
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

During the Reporting Period, two meetings of the Audit
Committee were held to discuss and consider the following
matters:

o reviewed interim and final results of the Company and
its subsidiaries for the fiscal year as well as the audit
report prepared by the auditor relating to accounting
issues and major findings in course of audit; and
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° reviewed the financial reporting system, compliance
procedures, internal control (including the adequacy of
resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programs and budget of the Company’s accounting and
financial reporting function), risk management systems,
review the annual cap of existing continued connected
transactions, and processes and the re-appointment
of the auditor; the Board had not deviated from any
recommendation given by the Audit Committee on the
selection, appointment, resignation or dismissal of the
auditor.

The attendance of each Audit Committee member at the Audit
Committee meeting during the Reporting Period is set out in
the table below:

. R SRR - ARRF - AEBEE
(BRARBEG MMBRRBETEDN
BR - BTEERKSR  HIIRELERE
ERERR) BAREERS REORAR
BRERXHNFE LR IEF A RZEENH
B EFgUEREEXZESHRIE
ZAT - BHES AR R XA B A A2 o

BEEZZEENENBREHANLFEZZESSH
MIBREN T

Attended/Eligible

to attend
Name of Directors EEMS BdE S ELE
Dr. Li Minghui BB 2/2
Mr. Tian Ming HER%E 2/2
Mr. Jiang Li Bt 2/2

During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee also met the
auditor once without the presence of the executive Directors.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee currently comprises three
members, including one executive Director, namely, Mr. Pan
Longquan, and two independent non-executive Directors,
namely, Mr. Jiang Li and Mr. Tian Ming. The Nomination
Committee is chaired by Mr. Jiang Li.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are in
compliance with the CG Code. The primary responsibilities
of our nomination committee are to, among other aspects, (i)
consider and recommend to the Board on the appointment,
removal and re-election of Directors of the Company and
(ii) review the structure, size and composition of the Board
and the Nomination Policy and the Board Diversity Policy
adopted by the Company on regular basis. The written terms
of reference of Nomination Committee are available on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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Policy on Directors Nomination

The Company has adopted a nomination policy (the

“Nomination Policy”) on December 8, 2021,

which sets out

the approach to guide the Nomination Committee in relation
to the selection, appointment and re-appointment of the
Directors. The Nomination Committee will review the Director
Nomination Policy, as appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.

The Nomination Committee will recommend to the Board for
the appointment of a Director in accordance with the following
procedures and process as set out in the Nomination Policy:

(i)

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

the Nomination Committee will, giving the consideration
to the current composition and size of the Board,
develop a list of desirable skills, perspectives and
experience at the outset to focus the search effort on
suitable candidates, where necessary;

the Nomination Committee may consult any source it
deems appropriate in identifying or selecting suitable
candidates, such as referrals from existing Directors,
advertisements, recommendations from an independent
agency firm and proposals from Shareholders with
due consideration given to the criteria as set out in the
Nomination Policy;

the Nomination Committee may adopt any process it
deems appropriate in evaluating the suitability of the
candidates, such as conducting interviews, background
checks, presentations and third-party reference checks;

upon considering a candidate suitable for the
directorship,
meeting and/or by way of written resolutions to, if
thought fit, approve the recommendation to the Board
for appointment;

the Nomination Committee will hold a

the Nomination Committee will thereafter make the
recommendation to the Board in relation to the
proposed appointment and the proposed remuneration
package; and

the Board will have the final authority in determining the
selection of nominees and all appointment of Directors
will be confirmed by the filing of the consent to act as
Director of the relevant Director (or any other similar
filings requiring the relevant Director to acknowledge or
accept the appointment as Director, as the case may
be).
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In recommending candidates for appointment to the Board, RAZEESHEREAR  ERZESBLETEE

the Nomination Committee will consider candidates on merit BIZEEBREREANED  THEHEEEEEGNEZ T
against objective criteria and with due regards to the benefits 1L - RBEMANEEAFRALY > 2FHed@
of diversity on the Board. During the Reporting Period and up  A#fEE L -

to the date of this Annual Report, there was no change in the

composition of the Board.
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During the Reporting Period, one meeting of the Nomination HR¥REHAN @ IELEE S H1T » LARS 7

Committee was held to discuss and consider the following NZEI FNEIAE :

matters:
. reviewed the structure, size and composition of the e WA EESRERE « RERAERK
Board;

. assessed independence of the independent non- e B FEITEFAE T
executive Directors;

. reviewed the Nomination Policy; . BRI B BUR
. reviewed the Board Diversity Policy; and . BRI EEENEZTILER - &
. considered the re-appointment of the retiring Directors. e ERENEMREIES -

The attendance of each Nomination Committee member at the T%%%Z?'JEA#&’iHHW REZESEIKNBEBHFERSA

Nomination Committee meeting during the Reporting Period is ZE8&&@&HE)
set out in the table below:

Attended/Eligible

to attend
Name of Directors EEMS BHEELE
Mr. Jiang Li B sE 1/1
Mr. Tian Ming AR 5% 4 1/1
Mr. Pan Longquan ERREE 1/1
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises three
members, including one executive Director, namely, Ms.
Zhang Tong, and two independent non-executive Directors,
namely, Mr. Tian Ming and Dr. Li Minghui. The Remuneration
Committee is chaired by Mr. Tian Ming.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are
in compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules and the CG
Code. The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee
are to, among other aspects, (i) make recommendations
to the Board on the Company’s policy and structure for all
Directors’ and senior management remuneration and on the
establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for
developing remuneration policy, (ii) review and approve the
management’s remuneration proposals with reference to
the Board’s corporate goals and objectives and (iii) make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages
of individual Directors and senior management. The written
terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.

During the Reporting Period, one meeting of the Remuneration
Committee was held to discuss and consider the following
matters:

° recommended to the Board the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management in respect of the year ended December

31, 2022;

o reviewed the remuneration of non-executive Directors;
and

° reviewed and recommended to the Board the

Company’s policy and structure for the remuneration of
all Directors and senior management.
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The attendance of each Remuneration Committee member at
the Remuneration Committee meeting during the Reporting
Period is set out in the table below:

TREIRMEHA - FEZ B & ZKE B

ZEEEHRNBER

Attended/Eligible

to attend
Name of Directors EEHS CHEEHE
Mr. Tian Ming AR % 4 1/1
Ms. Zhang Tong 2 11
Dr. Li Minghui BT 1/1

Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management

The aggregate remuneration (including fees, salaries,
bonuses, allowances, benefits in kind and pension scheme
contributions) payable to the Directors during the Reporting
Period was approximately US$2.5 million.

The remuneration of the Directors is determined with reference
to salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment
and responsibilities of the Directors and performance of the
Group. Details of the remuneration by band of the members
of the Board and senior management of the Company, whose
biographies are set out on pages 26 to 37 of this Annual
Report, during the Reporting Period, are set out below:

EEREREEETH

NREHIN BNEENFIAE (8RS - &
CTEAT - B EVERFIRBEESITEHRI) OA
SEBET -

\S]

EEHFMAB2EANEALBRARINNFTS EF
BANFELAENBREARASBNEEET
NTEIRREHA ARFREEEXRELSRE
BE (RENEESRIINAFHRE262378) Hbz
RS ¢

Number of
individuals
Band of remuneration (US$) FMER (£5x) A"
Nil to US$500,000 T E500,000%E T 13
Over US$500,000 BiE500,000% 7T 1
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FINANCIAL
REPORTING IN RESPECT OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
the financial statements of the Company for each financial
period to ensure that they give a true and fair view of the
affairs of the Company and the Group and of the Group’s
results and cash flows.

Senior management has provided to the Board such
explanations and information as are necessary to enable the
Board to carry out an informed assessment of the Company’s
financial statements, which are put to the Board for approval.
The Company has provided all members of the Board with
monthly updates on the Company’s performance, positions
and prospects.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions which may cast significant
doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement by the auditor regarding its reporting
responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements of the
Company is set out in the Independent Auditor’'s Report on
pages 100 to 107 of this Annual Report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for (i) maintaining sound and
effective internal control and risk management systems in
order to safeguard the Company’s assets and its Shareholders’
interests and (ii) reviewing the effectiveness of the Company’s
internal control and risk management systems on an
annual basis so as to ensure that internal control and risk
management systems in place are adequate. Such systems
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of
failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.
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Our internal audit department is responsible for performing
independent review of the adequacy and effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control systems. The
Company has established comprehensive risk management
and internal control processes through which the Company
monitors, evaluates and manages the risks that the Company
is exposed to regarding its business activities and operations,
which include but are not limited to procurement management,
sales management, inventory management, research and
development management, investment management, credit
risk, related party transaction controls, information disclosure
controls, human resources, IT management and other financial
and operational controls and monitoring procedures. Examples
of the relevant risk management and internal control measures
are as follows:

Financial Reporting Risk Management — The Company has
in place a set of accounting policies in connection with its
financial reporting risk management, such as financial report
management policies, budget management policies, financial
statements preparation policies and financial department and
staff management policies.

Information System Risk Management — The Company has
implemented relevant internal procedures and controls to
ensure that user data is protected and that leakage and loss
of such data is avoided.

Internal Control Risk Management — The legal & compliance
department of the Company reviews and updates the forms
of contracts the Company enters into with its customers and
suppliers and other relevant due diligence materials.

Human Resources Risk Management — The Company has in
place an employee handbook approved by its management
and distributed to all of its employees, which contains internal
rules and guidelines regarding best commercial practices,
work ethics, fraud prevention mechanism, negligence and
corruption. A whistle blowing policy has also been adopted to
detect and identify potential improprieties and bring issues to
the attention of senior management, the Audit Committee and
the Board.
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Investment Risk Management - The investment strategy of
the Company is grounded in the principles of compliance,
prudence, safety and effectiveness and the Company
considers criteria including (i) size, expected returns and
associated risks; (ii) compliance with applicable laws and
regulations; (iii) consistency with our growth strategy; (iv)
appropriateness of enterprise resource allocation; and (v)
optimization of our portfolio when making investment decisions.

ESG Risk Management — The Company undertakes measures
to manage ESG risks and issues covered under relevant
international standards, such as reduction of greenhouse gas
emissions, use of environmentally friendly resources, as well
as production safety and employee health.

The risk management procedure of the Company is based
on the well-defined risk identification standards, risk monitor
responsibilities and risk control measure of each major
classification. The management of the Company actively
monitors the regional economy, trends of power tools and
outdoor power equipment industry, reliance on continuing
connected transactions and changes in applicable laws
and regulations, and assesses income and expenditure
and absorptive capacity of business expansions. The risk
management procedure of the Company clearly specifies
the management duties, authorization and approval of
each party in respect of the major risk identification and
management, and develops clear written policy for significant
risk management process and circulate it to all members
of management and staffs. The Company’s internal control
procedures are designed to provide reasonable assurance for
achieving objectives, including efficient and stable operations,
reliable financial reporting and compliance with applicable
laws and regulations. The Company’s management will review
the risk assessment report on a quarterly basis and reports to
the Board on a semi-annual basis.

During the Reporting Period, the Board has conducted
a review of the effectiveness of internal control and risk
management system of the Group and is of the view that such
system is effective and adequate.
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During the Reporting Period, the Company has adopted
various measures to ensure the effective implementation of
its internal control and risk management system, including
(i) establishing the Audit Committee to review and supervise
its financial reporting process and internal control system;
(ii) adopting various policies to ensure compliance with
the Listing Rules, including but not limited to aspects
related to risk management, connected transactions and
information disclosure; (iii) organizing training sessions
for its Directors and senior management in respect of the
relevant requirements of the Listing Rules and duties of
directors of companies listed in Hong Kong; (iv) conducting
regular internal training for its employees and management
on applicable laws and regulations to ensure awareness
and compliance, which cover various aspects of employee
behavior during the ordinary business operations; and (v)
appointing Guotai Junan Capital Limited as its compliance
adviser to advise on ongoing compliance with the Listing Rules
and other applicable securities laws and regulations in Hong
Kong.

The Company has adopted other internal rules and policies
on December 8, 2021, which include procedures for handling
inside information in accordance with the SFO and the
Listing Rules to ensure the confidentiality of handling inside
information and the publication of respective disclosure to
the public as soon as practicable. The Company will make
timely disclosure of information that is unlikely to maintain
confidentiality, so as to ensure effective protection of the rights
and interests of investors and stakeholders.

WHISTLEBLOWING PROCEDURES AND ANTI-
CORRUPTION POLICIES

The Company has in place a whistleblowing policy for
employees of the Company and those who deal with the
Company to raise concerns, in confidence and anonymity,
with the legal & compliance department and the Company’s
management and the Audit Committee about possible
improprieties in any matters related to the Company.
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The Company has also in place an anti-corruption policy to
safeguard against corruption and bribery within the Company.
The Company has an internal reporting channel that is open
and available for employees of the Company to report any
suspected corruption and bribery. Employees can also make
anonymous reports to the legal & compliance department,
which is responsible for investigating the reported incidents
and taking appropriate measures. The Company continues
to carry out anti-corruption and anti-bribery activities to
cultivate a culture of integrity, and actively organizes anti-
corruption training and inspections to ensure the effectiveness
of anti-corruption and anti-bribery. For example, during the
Reporting Period, the Company held anti-corruption trainings
and briefings for its employees. There was no material non-
compliance in relation to bribery and corruption during the
Reporting Period.

DISCLOSURE POLICY

The Company has adopted other internal rules and policies on
December 8, 2021, which includes procedures for disclosure
policy and provides a general guide to the Company’s
directors, officers, senior management and relevant employees
in handling confidential information, monitoring information
disclosure and responding to enquiries. Control procedures
have been implemented to ensure that unauthorized access
and use of inside information are strictly prohibited.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company adopted the Dividend Policy on December
8, 2021, which outlines the principles and guidelines that
the Company intends to apply in relation to the declaration,
payment and distribution of dividends to the Shareholders.

According to the Dividend Policy, subject to the Articles of
Association of the Company and all applicable laws and
regulations, the Board after taking into account several factors,
has absolute discretion on whether to declare and distribute
dividends.

The Board will take into consideration, if it decides to pay
dividends, the Company’s operational results, cash flows,
financial condition, statutory and regulatory restrictions
on the payment of dividends by the Company, the capital
requirements, future business plans and prospects and any
other factors that the Board may consider relevant.
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The Company has adopted a general annual dividend policy of
declaring and paying dividends on an annual basis of no less
than 20% of the Company’s total net profit attributable to the
Company for any particular year. The declaration of dividends
is subject to the discretion of the Directors, and, if necessary,
the approval of the Shareholders. A decision to declare or
to pay any dividends and the amount of any dividends will
depend on various factors, including but not limited to the
Company’s results of operations, cash flows and financial
conditions, operating and capital expenditure requirements,
distributable profits as determined under applicable laws,
the Articles of Association, market conditions, the Company’s
strategic plans and prospects for business development,
contractual limits and obligations, payment of dividends to
the Company by its operating subsidiaries, taxation, and
any other factors determined by the Board from time to time
to be relevant to the declaration of dividend payments. The
Company’s future declarations of dividends may or may not
reflect its historical declarations of dividends. In addition, the
Directors may reassess the Company’s Dividend Policy in the
future.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration for the audit and non-audit services provided
by the auditor to the Company during the Reporting Period
was approximately as follows:

ARABERM—MRFEREERE  BEASEFNH
ARREIEFNBEBENTDR20%EET IR Rk
NFEERS - BREERAEERNBEEEN (BFR)
PRRSIRHLAE o B SOR N 0] BB HDRTE R AR
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MELEE R RERMBARN - ELERERH
XFER  RBEEREREENAHIENE - 5
ERMA - WHRR - AR A ARG B N R
EAIR  ARRGIREMLE ELMBERRMARA
XKRE  RBEREEFETHETHT KK EE
BEEREMERZ - AR ARORESRATEE
HATRE T ERREBAERBEIR - 1S - EERIK
A B EAR RN IREHE -
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% BB 5 B

RI|EHA - RBE R AR BREHE NIRRT
RIS FBBLAE R T

Amount

S8

(US$’000)

Type of Services R 7 48 Bl (F%m)

Audit services Ei R 912

Non-audit services related to tax consultation BRI SE AR FER AT RIS -

Total @t 912
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COMPANY SECRETARIES

Directors have access to the services of the joint company
secretaries to ensure that the Board procedures are followed.
Mr. Hu Yian, one of the joint company secretaries, is
responsible for advising the Board on corporate governance
matters and ensuring that Board policy and procedures and
applicable laws, rules and regulations are followed.

In order to uphold good corporate governance and ensure
compliance with the Listing Rules and applicable Hong Kong
laws, the Company also engaged Ms. Mok Ming Wai™®), an
executive director of the Corporate Services Department of
Tricor Services Limited (a global corporate services provider),
as another joint company secretary to assist Mr. Hu in
discharging his duties as company secretary of the Company.
Ms. Mok’s primary corporate contact person at the Company
was Mr. Hu.

During the Reporting Period, Mr. Hu and Ms. Mok have
undertaken not less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training respectively in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules.
Note: Ms. Chow Yuk Yin lvy resigned as the joint company
secretary on August 25, 2022, and Ms. Mok was appointed
as a joint company secretary on the same day.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
the Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations
and understanding of the Company’s business, performance
and strategies. The Company also recognizes the importance
of timely and non-selective disclosure of information, which
will enable Shareholders and investors to make the informed
investment decisions.

To promote effective communication, the Company adopts a
shareholders’ communication policy which aims at establishing
a two-way relationship and communication between the
Company and the Shareholders to ensure that Shareholders’
views and concerns are appropriately addressed. The
Company has several channels to communicate and engage
with the Shareholder as described below:

. The AGM provides an opportunity for constructive
communication between the Company and the
Shareholders. The Chairman and the chairpersons
of the Board Committees of the Company or their
delegates will attend the AGMs to answer Shareholders’
questions. The Auditor will also attend the AGMs to
answer questions about the conduct of the audit, the
preparation and content of the auditor's report, the
accounting policies and auditor independence.

o The Company maintains a website of the Company
at https://global.chervongroup.com, where up-to-date
information on the Company’s business operations
and developments, financial information, corporate
governance practices and other information are
available for public access.

o Latest information of the Group including annual and
interim reports, announcements and other corporate
communications which will be sent to the Shareholders
and/or published are updated on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company on a timely basis.
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° Investor/analysts briefings and one-on-one meetings,
media interviews and marketing activities for investors,
among other channels, will be available where
necessary in order to facilitate communication between
the Company, Shareholders and the investment
community. The Directors and Company employees
who have contacts or dialogues with investors, analysts,
media or other interested outside parties are required
to comply with the relevant disclosure obligations
and requirements under the Listing Rules and other
applicable laws.

° Shareholders may submit requisitions to move a
resolution at the AGM, convene a general meeting,
propose a person for election as a director at a general
meeting or enquiries or concerns with the Board, among
other rights, in accordance with the applicable laws and
procedures under the section headed “Shareholders’
Rights” below.

o The Hong Kong branch share registrar of the Company
serves the Shareholders in respect of share registration,
dividend payment and related matters.

The Company regularly reviews its shareholders’
communication to ensure that it has been implemented
in a proper and effective manner. Having considered the
various channels of communications and engagement with
the Shareholders, the Company considers its shareholders’
communications policy to be effective during the Reporting
Period.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, separate
resolution on each substantially separate issue will be
proposed for voting at a general meeting, including the
election of individual Directors.

All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be voted
by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will
be posted on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange in a timely manner after each general meeting.

According to Article 62 of the Articles of Association and the
Companies Ordinance, the Shareholders may: (i) move a
requisition to move a resolution at the AGM; (ii) requisition to
convene an extraordinary general meeting; and (iii) propose a
person for election as a Director at a general meeting.
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Requisition to Move a Resolution at an AGM

In accordance with section 615 of the Companies Ordinance, a
requisition to move a resolution at the AGM may be submitted
by any number of Shareholders representing not less than
2.50% of the total voting rights of all Shareholders having the
right to vote on that resolution at the AGM, or not less than 50
Shareholders having the right to vote on that resolution at the
AGM. The requisition must identify the resolution and must be
authenticated by the person(s) making it. The requisition must
be deposited at the Registered Office (as defined below), for
the attention of the joint company secretaries, not later than 6
weeks before the AGM to which the request relates, or if later,
when the Notice of AGM is dispatched.

Requisition to Convene General Meeting

Shareholders holding not less than 5% of the total voting rights
of all the members having a right to vote at general meetings
of the Company can deposit a requisition to call a general
meeting pursuant to sections 566 to 568 of the Companies
Ordinance. The requisition must state the general nature of
the business to be dealt with at the meeting, and must be
authenticated by the person(s) making it. The requisition must
be deposited at our Registered Office for the attention of the
joint company secretaries.

Proposing a Person for Election as a Director at a
General Meeting

If a Shareholder wishes to propose a person for election as
a Director at a general meeting, he/she must give a written
notice to that effect to the joint company secretaries. The
written notice must include the personal information of the
person proposed for election as a Director as required by
Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules and be signed by such
Shareholder and the person proposed for election as a
Director indicating his or her willingness to be appointed or re-
appointed and consent of publication of his or her personal
information. Such notice shall be given within the period (or
a longer period as may be determined by the Directors from
time to time) commencing no earlier than the day after the
dispatch of the notice of such meeting and ending no later
than seven days prior to the date appointed for such meeting.
Such details and procedures are available on the Company’s
website. For requesting the Company to circulate to
Shareholders a statement with respect to a matter mentioned
in a proposed resolution or any other business to be dealt with
at a general meeting, Shareholders are requested to follow the
requirements and procedures as set out in section 580 of the
Companies Ordinance.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Procedure in Relation to Raising Enquiry and Concerns
with the Board

Shareholders of the Company wishing to make any enquiry to
the Board may do so in writing to the Company since verbal or
anonymous enquiries would not generally be dealt with by the
Company.

Shareholders who intend to put forward their enquiries about
the Company to the Board may send their enquiries to the
registered office (the “Registered Office”) of the Company
at Unit 04, 22/F, Saxon Tower, 7 Cheung Shun Street, Lai
Chi Kok, Kowloon, Hong Kong by mail, telephone (+86 25
84994002) or e-mail chervon-ir@cn.chervongroup.com.

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholder(s) must deposit the
original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement,
or enquiry (as the case may be) to the address above and
provide their full names, contact details and identification in
order to give effect to such requisition, notice or statement,
or enquiry. Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as
required by law.

CHANGE IN CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Company adopted the amended and restated Articles of
Association on December 8, 2021, which has been effective
from December 16, 2021. During the Reporting Period, the
said amended and restated Articles of Association did not
have any change.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

BN 2 AR S

Independent auditor’s report to the members of
Chervon Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements
of Chervon Holdings Limited (“the Company”) and its
subsidiaries (“the Group”) set out on pages 108 to 248, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at December 31, 2022, the consolidated statement of profit
or loss, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for
the year then ended and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at December 31, 2022 and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (“the Code”) and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional

judgement,

consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the

were of most significance in our audit of the

BN 2B AR S

BREESEE

RRETFRASBRBERMANEXHE - BAERM
B AHENGEEVBBRRARAEENER - %F
FREAERMEFBRGAMBRRIHABRE
EITRIEN - BT SHRSTRREHERFNESR -

consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion

on these matters.

Revenue recognition

WARER

Refer to note 4 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on page 144 to 145.

B2 E RN T4 RE 144F
The Key Audit Matter
BRETEE

145 B S 5TIHR ©

How the matter was addressed in our audit

RMREBETEEEHESENT X

The Group’s revenue principally comprises sales of
power tools, outdoor power equipment and related
products.

EEENRATEBEHEEEH TR  FHIEDR
EEfm o

%5 N B RE

Contracts for different products with different types of
customers have a variety of different terms. Such terms
may affect the timing of the recognition of sales to these
customers. Management evaluates the terms of each
contract in order to determine the appropriate timing of
revenue recognition.

BARBRESHATRERTT LNAONERZTE - Z5K
A ‘ﬁ%%%ﬁlﬁtggﬁﬁéﬁmﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ c BEEEMNEENE
WK - ABE R AR S ERME o

Revenue from sales of products is recognised when
the control over the goods is transferred to customers,
which is generally at the point in time when the goods
leave the Group’'s warehouses, when the goods are
delivered at the customers’ premises or when the goods
are loaded on board of shipping, in accordance with the
terms of sales contracts with customers.

EmEERARERNIEHIRER TEPERER - MIREH
EAONER  BRBH RO BEERER EXERE

i BRXERPEMR RS REH M -

Our audit procedures to assess the recognition of
revenue included the following:

BEAIFHERABEROETRFRETIRIA

o obtaining an understanding of and assessing
the design, implementation and operating
effectiveness of key internal controls in relation
to revenue recognition;

. TR EEE B B AR A B A SRS
MERIERET ~ BB TR E

. inspecting customer contracts, on a sample
basis, to identify performance obligations and
terms and conditions relating to the transfer of
control of the goods and assessing the Group’s
timing of revenue recognition with reference
to the requirements of prevailing accounting

standards;
. SRBIBITEENRTE - MERERSE QAR
HA 88 R 15 47 ) M AR B A B ) 2 TS DA BRI A
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BN 2 AR S

Revenue recognition

LON 32

Refer to note 4 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on page 144 to 145.

BRI E I BIREN FARE144F 145 AR E5THFE ©
The Key Audit Matter
BRETER

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EMRBABETPEERBSENSR

We identified the recognition of revenue as a key audit
matter because revenue is one of the key performance
indicators of the Group and therefore there is an
inherent risk of manipulation of the timing of revenue
recognition by management to meet specific targets or
expectations.

BPERABARBREZER  BRAR BEXENH

MEEEE, — WEFEEEEHEBMAMAERSEAZD
FE B RS IEHME A R -
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comparing revenue transactions recorded
during the current year, on a sample basis, with
invoices, sales contracts, customer acceptance
notes, customs declaration forms, sales
statements, and other underlying documents,
where appropriate, to assess whether the
related revenue was recognised in accordance
with the Group’s revenue recognition
accounting policies;

KRZHNAFERNFESHRARER - HESK
EFRWE  BREPRE  HEBRKRLEMMARX
H (@A) ETHMEELY - U EEERAZE
ERE BERENBARRSFERER

comparing, on a sample basis, specific
revenue transactions recorded before and after
the financial year end date with underlying
documentation, which included goods delivery
notes, customs declaration forms, goods
acceptance notes, and sales statements, where
appropriate, to assess whether the revenue
had been recognised in accordance with the
contract terms and in the correct financial year;

K22 SR BEF 4 B AR RS E WA BERE
B(EERERRMNE  BHRRER ERBRKER
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Revenue recognition

PN 324

Refer to note 4 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on page 144 to 145.
BRI BRI TARE 144 145 HR) R 51

The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our audit
BRETER BMREFERPEETHEENSR
° confirming, on a sample basis, the amount of

sales transactions for the year ended December
31, 2022 directly with customers and inspecting
underlying documentation to reconcile the
difference between the transaction amounts
confirmed by customers and the Group's
accounting records; and

. mﬁ%%ﬁ§m2¢mﬂmamiﬁﬁﬁﬁ§ﬁ
ETHEXZINESHE  INEFERRR ST HE
i aﬁl%5£ﬁ2ﬁmg%§ﬁV%ﬁm%
B R

° inspecting journal entries relating to revenue
which met specific risk-based criteria, enquiring
of management the reasons for posting such
journal entries and checking the details of
the journal entries to relevant underlying
documentation.
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INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S
REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all the information included in the
annual report, other than the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This
report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

considered material if,

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or

as fraud may involve collusion,

the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.

BN 2B AR S
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Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’'s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the
Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on

our independence and, where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’'s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Chan Ting Yuen.

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

28 March, 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

meBEmK

For the year ended December 31, 2022 (Expressed in US dollar (“USD"))

B2 2022F 1231 HIFEE  (KZE [ /3T)

Year ended December 31,
BE12A31BLEE

2022 2021
20224 20214
Note USD’ 000 USD’000
k=3 FEx FET
Revenue WA 4 1,989,280 1,757,784
Cost of sales SHE R A (1,385,407)  (1,263,276)
Gross profit EF 603,873 494,508
Other revenue HaA 5(a) 7,038 5,180
Other net (loss)/gain Hith (B518) Wz B 5 5(b) (52,254) 37,887
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHEAX (214,014) (195,507)
Administrative and other operating expenses  {TH M EAb4E &5 (89,765) (103,610)
Research and development costs A AR (65,733) (50,151)
Profit from operations &R 189,145 188,307
Net finance costs WIS AN F 58 6(a) (22,265) (16,617)
Share of (losses)/profits of associates FEAR B AR (B18),/ FIiE 16 (5,490) 4,408
Profit before taxation R B AT U 6 161,390 176,098
Income tax expense FSHim < 7 (22,112) (26,377)
Profit for the year F ] FH 139,278 149,721
Attributable to: BT AL FES :
Equity shareholders of the Company RA A= AR R 139,369 144,544
Non-controlling interests FEIE IR (91) 5177
Profit for the year FRFE 139,278 149,721
Earnings per share SREF 11
Basic (USD) BER (%) 0.28 0.36
Diluted (USD) S ACS) 0.28 0.36

The notes on pages 116 to 248 form part of these financial

statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

=IAN
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For the year ended December 31, 2022 (Expressed in US dollar (“USD"))
A FE2022F 1231 HIFFE (KT [T /37)

Year ended December 31,
BZE12A31BLEE

2022 2021
2022F 20214
Note USD’ 000 USD’000
et FTEx FEr
Profit for the year FRFE 139,278 149,721
Other comprehensive income for the year FREMEEmKE 10
(after tax adjustments) (HIERER)
Item that will not be reclassified to profit or loss: T & EHHEE 8w
HIEE
Remeasurement of net defined benefit liability, ATRMNEEFHE 193 46
net of tax (MBRFIE) EFTE
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to BEtE N EEFT S E 1R
profit or loss: HIEE
Exchange difference on translation of financial LAThEE S (M3EETT) (13,365) 8,131
statements of subsidiaries with functional BRENB AR BRE
currencies other than US dollar (“USD") O DE 5 = 5B
Other comprehensive income for the year FREMZEKE (13,172) 8,177
Total comprehensive income for the year FRE2EKEEE 126,106 157,898
Attributable to: BT AL FE4S -
Equity shareholders of the Company AAERERR R 126,197 152,675
Non-controlling interests FEIE I i (91) 5,223
Total comprehensive income for the year FRAZHEKREEEE 126,106 157,898

The notes on pages 116 to 248 form part of these financial

statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e MR

At December 31, 2022 (Expressed in US dollar (“USD"))

R2022F12H31H (KUZFEL[Fr/T)

As at December 31,

M12A831H
2022 2021
20224 20214
Note USD’000 USD’000
i TER FET
Non-current assets *RBEE
Properties, plants and equipment mE - BERZE 12 233,224 193,464
Right-of-use assets CREEE 13 44,631 48,919
Intangible assets BV EE 14 1,162 1,459
Interest in associates REE R AR ER 16 106,566 66,492
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables Tﬁﬁmlﬁ 1R & & H A0 FEIGR 21 5,851 12,091
Financial assets at fair value through Qﬁﬁﬁﬁzﬂﬁxﬁbuﬂ\“ﬁﬁﬁ“ 17 6,202 6,011
profit or loss (“FVPL") (TARAEENZEEEH T AEH
Bal)MemEE

Deferred tax assets R IBE E 27(b) 30,879 26,878
428,515 355,314

Current assets RBEE
Financial assets at FVPL WRREBETEAEEZHT AL HES 17 20,019 38,031

NeREE

Derivative financial instruments TEEMmI A 18 2,288 4,744
Inventories FE 19 599,999 592,024
Right to returned goods asset REIEYEESER 4,417 3,073
Trade and bills receivables B 5 EWGRIE e IR 1R 20 220,220 298,379
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TE[IFIE  (RES K E M EUFIIE 21 78,654 43,303
Taxation recoverable Bk 27(a) 5,184 7,958
Pledged deposits ERER 22(b) 36,495 48,340
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBREEED 22(a) 466,713 664,990
1,433,989 1,700,842

Current liabilities nREBAE
Bank loans BITER 23 192,904 424,948
Derivative financial instruments PTEemTAE 18 3,581 155
Lease liabilities MEARE 24 7,583 6,114
Trade and bills payables BHRNFIERENRE 25 294,452 513,252
Other payables and accruals HinENRERETER 26 177,166 205,404
Taxation payable FERT IR 27(a) 9,710 8,251
Warranty provision REHEE 28 19,030 19,655
Refund liabilities from right of return REENOERFTEE 29 6,432 4,252
710,858 1,182,031
Netcurrentassets = "B&EE®E .. Teisl 518811
Total assets less current liabilities HEERRBERE 1,151,646 874,125

The notes on pages 116 to 248 form part of these financial

statements.

110 Chervon Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022

F116E248 B MM TR ZET BIHREN—3 5 -



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

“re ISR IR

At December 31, 2022 (Expressed in US dollar (“USD”))
Ra022F12/31H (KUET/ZET]37)

As at December 31,

MW12A31H
2022 2021
2022 20214
Note USD’ 000 UsD’000
k=3 e FET
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Bank loans RITER 23 136,589 8,698
Lease liabilities HEAE 24 14,460 17,121
Warranty provision RIERE 28 38,059 32,291
Deferred income PRI W 2 30 3,709 4,150
Defined benefit retirement plans obligation RERMNBENRG &R 31 473 771
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIEEE 27(b) 12,257 14,077
205,547 77,108
NET ASSETS EEZE 946,099 797,017
CAPITAL AND RESERVES B R #E
Share capital &N 32 502,654 444,621
Reserves [k 32 443,536 352,396
Total equity attributable to equity AATERRREEESEE 946,190 797,017
shareholders of the Company
Non-controlling interests R R (91) -
TOTAL EQUITY - E gt ) 946,099 797,017

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors

on 28 March, 2023.

Pan Longquan
BRER
Director

5=

The notes on pages 116 to 248 form part of these financial

statements.

Zhang Tong

(37
Director

B=%
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Noa—1
l\ﬂ—\ Iﬁ/ N A

For the year ended December 31, 2022 (Expressed in US dollar (“USD"))

B2 2022F 1231 HIFEE  (KZE [ /3T)

Year ended December 31,
BE12A31BLEE

2022 2021
2022F 20214
Note USD’ 000 USD’000
M et FEx FEr
Operating activities KeETY
Cash generated from operations KERMB3HRS 22(c) 46,339 166,605
Tax paid BHIA 27(a) (28,426) (23,583)
Tax refund BRI IE 27(a) 5,151 15,179
Net cash generated from operating activities K& EEMESRESFHE 23,064 158,201
Investing activities REEE
Payment for the acquisition of properties, IREEWEE - BB MRS (72,186) (81,153)
plants and equipment EOEREEN
Proceeds from disposal of properties, plants HEME - WE KRB 662 94
and equipment H) P15 308
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets HENRAREEFEZR 255,018 250,567
measured at fair value through profit or loss H#er AZHER
B &R EENEHIE
Payment for acquisition of financial assets WL AR BETER (253,555) (264,015)
measured at fair value through profit or loss HEH AZHER
B & R E E MR
Acquisition of interest in associates, net W B = A R AR (50,340) -
FEE
Disposal of subsidiaries, net HEMBAR - F5E 22(f) - 32,740
Disposal of associate, net HERE AT - JFFE - 1,287
Dividends received B S - 540
Interest received BUF 8 6(a) 3,959 1,051
Net cash used in investing activities RETEHMARESFE (116,442) (58,889)

The notes on pages 116 to 248 form part of these financial

statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

n\/T\

aREMER

For the year ended December 31, 2022 (Expressed in US dollar (“USD"))
A FE2022F 1231 HIFFE (KT [T /37)

Year ended December 31,
BZE12A31BLEE

2022 2021
2022F 20214
Note USD’ 000 USD’000
et e FET
Financing activities R EE
Capital element of lease rental paid ENHEEHSEREL Y 22(d) (8,755) (5,454)
Interest element of lease rental paid ENHEERSF ST 22(d) (952) (878)
Proceeds from new bank loans %ﬁf&ﬁ%ﬁ%&a’]ﬁﬁ SRIE 22(d) 493,951 643,132
Repayment of bank loans BEIRTTER 22(d) (593,910) (552,355)
Interest paid Eﬁﬂ 22(d) (12,570) (19,702)
Increase in pledged deposits for RITREE IR FFIE M (4,816) (16,111)
banking facilities
Acquisition of non-controlling interests Wi FEIE iR i 2w = (28,426)
Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares BITLBRFTIS A 32(c) 60,299 7,856
Proceeds from issue of ordinary shares LAE&’&E‘%%%HT?&? 32(c) - 401,992
by initial public offering BRI FTISFIA
Share issuance costs paid EHHXT%%‘ TR AR 32(c) (2,266) (15,506)
Dividends paid to equity shareholders ERAR AR 32(b) (35,051) (15,000)
of the Company % 2
Net cash (used in)/generated from MEEE (FA), (104,070) 399,548
financing activities FBREFE
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash ﬁﬁ&iﬁﬁ%f’% (197,448) 498,860
equivalents W), EInFEEE
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning FHNRSRREEEY 22(a) 664,990 166,937
of the year
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes SEERFEHTE (829) (807)
Cash and cash equivalents at the end FRESRBESEEY 22(a) 466,713 664,990

of the year

The notes on pages 116 to 248 form part of these financial

statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
=R RLET ek

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZETT[FET 137 - BIESEIEH)

1

(a)

116

GENERAL INFORMATION

Chervon Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in Hong Kong on February 19, 1999 as
a limited liability company with its registered office at
Unit 04, 22/F, Saxon Tower, 7 Cheung Shun Street,
Lai Chi Kok, Kin, Hong Kong. The Company’s shares
were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited on December 30, 2021.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (together, “the Group”)
are principally engaged in researching, developing,
manufacturing, testing, sales, and after-sale services
for power tools, outdoor power equipment and related
products. The information of the principal subsidiaries
is set out in Note 15.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (HKFRSs) which collective
term includes all applicable individual Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (HKASs) and Interpretations issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(HKICPA), accounting principles generally accepted
in Hong Kong and the requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. These financial statements also
comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Significant accounting
policies adopted by the Group are disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments to HKFRSs
that are first effective or available for early adoption for
the current accounting period of the Group. Note 2(c)
provides information on any changes in accounting
policies resulting from initial application of these
developments to the extent that they are relevant to the
Group for the current accounting periods reflected in
these financial statements.

Chervon Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(b)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements of the Group
for the year ended December 31, 2022 comprise the
Company and its subsidiaries and the Group’s interest
in associates and a joint venture.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements is the historical cost
basis except that the following assets and liabilities are
stated at their fair value as explained in the accounting
policies as set out below.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with HKFRSs requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect
the application of policies and reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and various other factors that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results
of which form the basis of making the judgements
about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results
may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognized in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application
of HKFRSs that have significant effect on the financial
statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty
are discussed in Note 3.

(b)

IN=RRLET e IR

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated))
(UZET[ETT 137 - BRIESEHEH)

EXREFTEE(R)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M HRRI

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZETT[FET 137 - BIESEIEH)

2

()

(d)

118

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Changes in accounting policies

The Group has applied the following amendments
to HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA to these financial
statements for the current accounting period:

- Amendments to HKAS 16, Property, plant and
equipment: Proceeds before intended use

- Amendments to HKAS 37, Provisions, contingent
liabilities and contingent assets: Onerous
contracts — cost of fulfilling a contract

None of these developments have had a material
effect on how the Group’s results and financial position
for the current or prior periods have been prepared
or presented. The Group has not applied any new
standard or interpretation that is not yet effective for the
current accounting period.

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
entity and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the entity. When assessing whether the
Group has power, only substantive rights (held by the
Group and other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that
control commences until the date that control ceases.
Intra-group balances and transactions and cash flows
and any unrealized profits arising from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in full in preparing the
consolidated financial statements. Unrealized losses
resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in
the same way as unrealized gains but only to the extent
that there is no evidence of impairment.

Chervon Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(d)

(e)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions, whereby adjustments are made to
the amounts of controlling and non-controlling interests
within consolidated equity to reflect the change in
relative interests, but no adjustments are made to
goodwill and no gain or loss is recognized.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in
that subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being
recognized in profit or loss. Any interest retained in
that former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is
recognized at fair value and this amount is regarded as
the fair value on initial recognition of a financial asset
or, when appropriate, the cost on initial recognition of
an investment in an associate or joint venture.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less
impairment losses (see Note 2(k)(ii)), unless the
investment is classified as held for sale (or included in
a disposal group that is classified as held for sale).

Associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group has
significant influence, but not control or joint control,
over its management, including participation in the
financial and operating policy decisions.

(d)

(e)

IN=RRLET e IR

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated))
(UZET[ETT 137 - BRIESEHEH)

EXRSFHE (&)
MEQARIFERES (F)

AEBB T EHRAZERAENOMNE QAR
MEBREER ST AAR AR HBEL
BRESNMNERERIFERESNSEAR
MREMAEESNES - BTRERERTE

REE ©

EAREERAY KB AR ERAE - iR
HEZM B LR A R AR - MATEL
WEBNEETER - ERERKZERER
MRERZAEME AR EREAREE
R Mt SEREREREERVHER
ROARBE s (WER) DHRERNE S
RAHEELENRERLA

RAEQRBBRRERS - BRIFREWI A
BERE (B A ARBIEHENHESE
W) RIE QR EEERAR R EE B
BIBR (R EE2(K)(iT)) °

BE LT

BERNRAAKEHEAEATENEHH
BN BT R SR (RS R
BRGEBEORTE) NER -

FRIBERARAT —E-_—FFR 119



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

wm

B HmRM T

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZETT[FET 137 - BIESEIEH)

2

(e)

120

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Associates (continued)

An investment in an associate is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements under the equity
method, unless it is classified as held for sale (or
included in a disposal group that is classified as held
for sale). Under the equity method, the investment is
initially recorded at cost, adjusted for any excess of the
Group’s share of the acquisition-date fair values of the
investee’s identifiable net assets over the cost of the
investment (if any). The cost of the investment includes
purchase price, other costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of the investment, and any direct investment
into the associate that forms part of the Group’s equity
investment. Thereafter, the investment is adjusted for
the post acquisition change in the Group’s share of the
investee’'s net assets and any impairment loss relating
to the investment (see Note 2(k)(ii)). Any the Group’s
share of the post-acquisition, post-tax results of the
investees and any impairment losses for the year are
recognized in the consolidated statements of profit or
loss, whereas the Group’s share of the post-acquisition
post-tax items of the investees’ other comprehensive
income is recognized in the consolidated statements of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

When the Group's share of losses exceeds its interest
in the associate, the Group’s interest is reduced to
nil and recognition of further losses is discontinued
except to the extent that the Group has incurred legal
or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf
of the investee. For this purpose, the Group’s interest is
the carrying amount of the investment under the equity
method together with any other long-term interests that
in substance form part of the Group’s net investment in
the associate.

Unrealized profits and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and the associates are eliminated
to the extent of the Group’s interest in the investee,
except where unrealized losses provide evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred, in which case they
are recognized immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(e)

(f)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Associates (continued)

When the Group ceases to have significant influence
over an associate, it is accounted for as a disposal of
the entire interest in that investee, with a resulting gain
or loss being recognized in profit or loss. Any interest
retained in that former investee at the date when
significant influence is lost is recognized at fair value
and this amount is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition of a financial asset (see Note 2(f)).

In the Company's statement of financial position,
investments in associates are stated at cost less
impairment losses (see Note 2(k)(ii)), unless classified
as held for sale (or included in a disposal group that is
classified as held for sale).

Other investments in debt and equity securities

The Group's policies for investments in debt and equity
securities, other than investments in subsidiaries,
associates and a joint venture, are set out below.

Investments in debt and equity securities are
recognized/derecognized on the date the Group
commits to purchase/sell the investment. The
investments are initially stated at fair value plus
directly attributable transaction costs, except for those
investments measured at fair value through profit or
loss (FVPL) for which transaction costs are recognized
directly in profit or loss. For an explanation of how the
Group determines fair value of financial instruments,
see Note 33(e). These investments are subsequently
accounted for as follows, depending on their
classification.

(e)

U]

IN=RRLET e IR

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated))
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZETT[FET 137 - BIESEIEH)
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(i)

(i)

122

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Other investments in debt and equity securities
(continued)

Investments other than equity investments

Non-equity investments held by the Group are classified
into one of the following measurement categories:

- amortized cost, if the investment is held for
the collection of contractual cash flows which
represent solely payments of principal and
interest. Interest income from the investment is
calculated using the effective interest method
(see Note 2(v)(ii)).

- fair value at profit or loss (FVPL) if the investment
does not meet the criteria for being measured
at amortized cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income (FVOCI) (recycling).
Changes in the fair value of the investment
(including interest) are recognized in profit or
loss.

Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as FVPL
unless the equity investment is not held for trading
purposes and on initial recognition of the investment
the Group makes an irrevocable election to designate
the investment at FVOCI (non-recycling) such that
subsequent changes in fair value are recognized
in other comprehensive income. Such elections are
made on an instrument-by-instrument basis but may
only be made if the investment meets the definition of
equity from the issuer’s perspective. Where such an
election is made, the amount accumulated in other
comprehensive income remains in the fair value reserve
(non-recycling) until the investment is disposed of.
At the time of disposal, the amount accumulated in
the fair value reserve (non-recycling) is transferred to
retained earnings. It is not recycled through profit or
loss. Dividends from an investment in equity securities,
irrespective of whether classified as at FVPL or FVOCI,
are recognized in profit or loss as other income in
accordance with the policy set out in Note 2(v)(ii).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(9)

(h)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are recognised at fair
value. At the end of each reporting period the fair value
is remeasured. The gain or loss on remeasurement to
fair value is recognised immediately in profit or loss,
except where the derivatives qualify for cash flow
hedge accounting or hedges of net investment in a
foreign operation, in which case recognition of any
resultant gain or loss depends on the nature of the item
being hedged.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost
(which is, in the case of assets acquired in a business
combination, the acquisition date fair value). Iltems of
property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see
Note 2(k)(ii)).

The cost of self-constructed items of property, plant
and equipment includes the cost of materials, direct
labour, the initial estimate, where relevant, of the costs
of dismantling and removing the items and restoring
the site on which they are located, and an appropriate
proportion of overheads and borrowing costs (see Note

2(y)).

[tems may be produced while bringing an item of
property, plant and equipment to the location and
condition necessary for it to be capable of operating
in the manner intended by management. The proceeds
from selling any such items and the related costs are
recognized in profit or loss.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal
of an item of property, plant and equipment are
determined as the difference between the estimated
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
item and are recognized in profit or loss on the date of
retirement or disposal.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

=R RLET ek

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZETT[FET 137 - BIESEIEH)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EXRSFBE (&)
(CONTINUED)
(h)  Property, plant and equipment (continued) (h) ¥ BERRKEE)
Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of WEDNRKAERERYE  BEREEOG
property, plant and equipment, less their estimated AR A FERTE - A E AR B H
residual value, if any, using the straight line method HETRIREE (A) @ BT -
over their estimated useful lives as follows:
Estimated useful life
5T Al 6E I R
Leasehold land (see Note 2(j)) AE L (RMFE2() over the period of leases
Gishl
Plant and buildings BB REF 20 years or remaining lease terms
204F 5k Fl 4418 A7
Machinery and equipment 28 M 5-10 years
5Z10F
Software and office equipment SRR 3 - 5 years
3E5F
Motor vehicles RE 5 - 10 years
5ZE104F
Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment WY - BEREHEEE TRBS A EHRE
have different useful lives, the cost is allocated on a BRE BB ZERAGESEESS Y - I

reasonable basis between the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Both the useful life of an asset
and its residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.

Construction in progress represents properties under
construction and machinery and equipment pending
installation and is stated at cost (which is, in the case
of assets acquired in a business combination, the
acquisition date fair value) less impairment losses (see
Note 2(k)(ii)). Cost comprises the purchase costs of
the asset and the related construction and installation
costs.

Construction in progress is transferred to property,
plant and equipment when the asset is substantially
ready for its intended use and depreciation will be
provided at the appropriate rates in accordance with
the depreciation polices specified above.

No depreciation is provided in respect of construction
in progress.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

U]

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Expenditure on research activities is recognized
as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.
Expenditure on development activities is capitalized if
the product or process is technically and commercially
feasible and the Group has sufficient resources and the
intention to complete development. The expenditure
capitalized includes the costs of materials, direct
labour, and an appropriate proportion of overheads.
Other development expenditure is recognized as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred.

Intangible assets that are acquired through business
combination are stated at cost (the acquisition date
fair value) less accumulated amortization (where the
estimated useful life is finite) and impairment losses
(see Note 2(k)(ii)).

Amortization of intangible assets with finite useful lives
is charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis
over the assets’ estimated useful lives. The following
intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortized
from the date they are available for use and their
estimated useful lives are as follows:

()

IN=RRLET e IR

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated))
(UZET[ETT 137 - BRIESEHEH)

EXREFTEEE (&)
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RARERRAX
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(ii)) °

BEBAERITEAFHNETLEEBHIZE R
FHEEEMAAUEAFHANEEETHE -
T EEARAIERFHNETLEERRR
LR B AR S - W E G 8 F 3
™

Estimated useful life

st Al fE 5

Patents =R 10 years
104

Trademarks iR 10 years
106

The patents and trademark of the Group is associated
with different products arising from the combination
and acquisition from a third party. The useful lives of
patents and trademark are estimated based on the
remaining period of economic benefits to be derived
from the respective products to be produced relying on
the acquired patents and product trademark.
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(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZETT[FET 137 - BIESEIEH)

2

(M

()

(i)

126

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
(continued)

The Group estimates the period of economic benefits
to be derived from the respective products based on
the expected time period required from its discovery
to commercialization and other factors, including the
patent protection period, the historical life of similar
products, the characteristics of such technologies,
their update frequency and market requirement and
competition. Based on such assessment, the Group
considers that the expected economic useful lives of
the patents and trademark held by the Group are 10
years.

Both the period and method of amortization are
reviewed annually.

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether
the contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration. Control is conveyed
where the customer has both the right to direct the use
of the identified asset and to obtain substantially all of
the economic benefits from that use.

As a lessee

Where the contract contains lease component(s) and
non-lease component(s), the Group has elected not
to separate non-lease components and accounts for
each lease component and any associated non-lease
components as a single lease component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognizes a right-of-use asset and a lease liability,
except for short-term leases that have a lease term of
12 months or less and leases of low-value assets. When
the Group enters into a lease in respect of a low-value
asset, the Group decides whether to capitalize the
lease on a lease-by-lease basis. The lease payments
associated with those leases which are not capitalized
are recognized as an expense on a systematic basis
over the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1))
(1)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leased assets (continued)
As a lessee (continued)

Where the lease is capitalized, the lease liability is
initially recognized at the present value of the lease
payments payable over the lease term, discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that
rate cannot be readily determined, using a relevant
incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition,
the lease liability is measured at amortized cost and
interest expense is calculated using the effective
interest method. Variable lease payments that do
not depend on an index or rate are not included in
the measurement of the lease liability and hence are
charged to profit or loss in the accounting period in
which they are incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognized when a lease
is capitalized is initially measured at cost, which
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability
plus any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, and any initial direct costs
incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the right-
of-use assets also includes an estimate of costs to
dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to
restore the underlying asset or the site on which it
is located, discounted to their present value, less
any lease incentives received. The right-of-use asset
is subsequently stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses (see Notes 2(h)
and 2(k)(ii)).

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a
change in future lease payments arising from a change
in an index or rate, or there is a change in the Group’s
estimate of the amount expected to be payable under
a residual value guarantee, or there is a change arising
from the reassessment of whether the Group will be
reasonably certain to exercise a purchase, extension
or termination option. When the lease liability is
remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is
made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset,
or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of
the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leased assets (continued)
As a lessee (continued)

The Group presents
“lease liabilities”

‘right-of-use assets” and presents
separately in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

As a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease
inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an
operating lease. A lease is classified as a finance lease
if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to the ownership of an underlying assets to
the lessee. If this is not the case, the lease is classified
as an operating lease.

When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in
the contract to each component on a relative stand-
alone selling price basis. The rental income from
operating leases is recognized in accordance with Note

2(v)(ii).

Credit losses and impairment of assets
Credit losses from financial instruments

The Group recognizes a loss allowance for expected
credit losses (ECLs) on financial assets measured at
amortized cost (including cash and cash equivalents
and trade and other receivables).

Financial assets measured at fair value are not subject
to the ECL assessment.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Credit losses are measured as the present
value of all expected cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference
between the cash flows due to the Group in accordance
with the contract and the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(k)

(i)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

Credit losses from financial instruments (continued)

Measurement of ECLs (continued)

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using the
following discount rates where the effect of discounting
is material:

- fixed-rate financial assets and trade and other
receivables: effective interest rate determined at
initial recognition or an approximation thereof;
and

- variable-rate financial assets: current effective
interest rate.

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs
is the maximum contractual period over which the
Group is exposed to credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account
reasonable and supportable information that is available
without undue cost or effort. This includes information
about past events, current conditions and forecasts of
future economic conditions.

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

- 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from possible default events
within the 12 months after the reporting date;
and

- lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are expected

to result from all possible default events over
the expected lives of the items to which the ECL
model applies.
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(i)

130

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

Credit losses from financial instruments (continued)

Measurement of ECLs (continued)

Loss allowances for trade and other receivables are
always measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
ECLs on these financial assets are estimated using a
provision matrix based on the Group’s historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to
the debtors and an assessment of both the current and
forecast general economic conditions at the reporting
date.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognizes
a loss allowance equal to 12-month ECLs unless there
has been a significant increase in credit risk of the
financial instrument since initial recognition,
case the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs.

in which

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of default
occurring on the financial instrument assessed at the
reporting date with that assessed at the date of initial
recognition. In making this reassessment, the Group
considers that a default event occurs when (i) the
debtor is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the
Group in full, without recourse by the Group to actions
such as realizing security (if any is held); or (ii) the
financial asset is twelve months past due. The Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(k)

(i)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

Credit losses from financial instruments (continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition:

- failure to make payments of principal or interest
on their contractually due dates;

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in
a financial instrument’s external or internal credit
rating (if available);

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor; and

- existing or forecast changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that
have a significant adverse effect on the debtor’s
ability to meet its obligation to the Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments,
the assessment of a significant increase in credit
risk is performed on either an individual basis or a
collective basis. When the assessment is performed on
a collective basis, the financial instruments are grouped
based on shared credit risk characteristics, such as
past due status and credit risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect
changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk since
initial recognition. Any change in the ECL amount is
recognized as an impairment gain or loss in profit or
loss. The Group recognizes an impairment gain or
loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss
allowance account.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M HRRI

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)

(CESHAES AL = E L))

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 BEXEFBER (8)
(CONTINUED)
(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets (k) FGEEFEREENE(E)
(continued)
(i) Credit losses from financial instruments (continued) (i) KEEHTAMEEER (&)
Basis of calculation of interest income FEWAGTEESE
Interest income recognized in accordance with Note RIEMIFE2(v )(ii)ﬁ%‘%’]ﬂgﬂﬁli\?%%ﬂ%{?
2(v)(ii) is calculated based on the gross carrying WERERAEE  RIFMEELREER
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset & - EU:HEJ/RT MBI AR S B E R E#
is credit-impaired, in which case interest income is SEAC A (BRI AR E RS IB R E) 5T E -
calculated based on the amortized cost (i.e. the gross
carrying amount less loss allowance) of the financial
asset.
At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether a REREEY  AEEFHeREESL T
financial asset is credit-impaired. A financial asset is REERE - B8E—BRSEHEREE
credit-impaired when one or more events that have a Bt RKB S REELETFEZENEHE -
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows CREEMEEALREERE -
of the financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired CREELREEREMNZERIENTAH
includes the following observable events: REMH
- significant financial difficulties of the debtor; - B AmEERTBEE
- a breach of contract, such as a default or — REHK - A SRS NRGELK
delinquency in interest or principal payments; T’@ﬁ( ;
- it becoming probable that the borrower will enter — ERABAIRERBERENTEETH
into bankruptcy or other financial reorganization; B 5 EE MR 2k
- significant changes in the technological, market, - RIBMERNE (RIERN - M5 -
economic or legal environment that have an BEBESOAE) HEBABKANZ
adverse effect on the debtor; or 2%
- the disappearance of an active market for a — TABAMEERFESKETRED
security because of financial difficulties of the iﬁ °
issuer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(k)

(i)

(i)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

Credit losses from financial instruments (continued)

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written
off (either partially or in full) to the extent that there
is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally
the case when the Group determines that the debtor
does not have assets or sources of income that could
generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts
subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously
written off are recognized as a reversal of impairment in
profit or loss in the period in which the recovery occurs.

Impairment of other non-current assets

Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period to identify
indications that the following assets may be impaired
or, except in the case of goodwill, an impairment loss
previously recognized no longer exists or may have
decreased:

- properties, plants and equipment, including
right-of-use assets;

- intangible assets;
- interest in associates; and

- interest in subsidiaries in the Company’s
statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

=R RLET ek

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZETT[FET 137 - BIESEIEH)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

(ii) Impairment of other non-current assets (continued)

If any such indication exists, the asset’'s recoverable
amount is estimated. In addition, for goodwill, the
recoverable amount is estimated annually whether or
not there is any indication of impairment:

- Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the
greater of its fair value less costs to sell and
value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate
that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. Where an asset does not generate cash
inflows largely independent of those from other
assets, the recoverable amount is determined for
the smallest group of assets that generates cash
inflows independently (i.e. a cash-generating
unit).

- Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss
if the carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-
generating unit to which it belongs, exceeds
its recoverable amount. Impairment losses
recognized in respect of cash-generating units
are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill allocated to the cash-generating
unit (or group of units) and then, to reduce the
carrying amount of the other assets in the unit
(or group of units) on a pro rata basis, except
that the carrying value of an asset will not be
reduced below its individual fair value less costs
to sell, or value in use (if determinable).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(k)

(i)

U]

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

Impairment of other non-current assets (continued)

- Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an
impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favourable change in the estimates used
to determine the recoverable amount. An
impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not
reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to
the asset’'s carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss
been recognized in prior years. Reversals of
impairment losses are credited to profit or loss in
the year in which the reversals are recognized.

Inventories

Inventories are assets which are held for sale in
the ordinary course of business, in the process of
production for such sale or in the form of materials or
supplies to be consumed in the production process or
in the rendering of services.

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net
realizable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost
formula and comprises all costs of purchase, costs of
conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the
inventories to their present location and condition.
In the case of work in progress, costs include direct
labour and appropriate share of overheads based on
normal operating capacity.

Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Inventories (continued)

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognized as an expense in the period
in which the related revenue is recognized.

The amount of any write-down of inventories to net
realizable value and all losses of inventories are
recognized as an expense in the period the write-down
or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write-
down of inventories is recognized as a reduction in the
amount of inventories recognized as an expense in the
period in which the reversal occurs.

A right to recover returned goods is recognised for the
right to recover products from customers sold with a
right of return.
policy set out in Note 2(v)(i).

It is measured in accordance with the

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognized when the customer
pays consideration before the Group recognizes the
related revenue (see Note 2(v)). A contract liability
would also be recognized if the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration before the
Group recognizes the related revenue. In such cases,
a corresponding receivable would also be recognized
(see Note 2(n)).

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognized when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right
to receive consideration is unconditional if only the
passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

Trade receivables that contain a significant financing
component and other receivables are initially measured
at fair value plus transaction costs. All receivables
are subsequently stated at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method and including an allowance for
credit losses (see Note 2(k)(i)).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(0)

(p)

(a)
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank
and on hand, demand deposits with banks and
other financial institutions, and short-term, highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been
within three months of maturity at acquisition. Cash
and cash equivalents are assessed for expected credit
losses (ECL) in accordance with the policy set out in
Note 2(k)(i).

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at
fair value less transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated
at amortized cost using the effective interest method.
Interest expense is recognized in accordance with the
Group’s accounting policy for borrowing costs (see
Note 2(y)).

Trade and other payables (other than refund
liabilities)

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair
value. Subsequent to initial recognition, trade and other
payables are stated at amortized cost unless the effect
of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they
are stated at invoice amounts.

Refund liabilities arising from rights of returns and
volume rebates are recognised in accordance with the
policy set out in Note 2(w).

Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits and contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave,
contributions to defined contribution retirement plans
and the cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued in
the year in which the associated services are rendered
by employees. Where payment or settlement is deferred
and the effect would be material, these amounts are

stated at their present values.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Employee benefits (continued)

Short-term employee benefits and contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans (continued)

Contributions to local retirement schemes pursuant
to the relevant labour rules and regulations in the
jurisdictions in which the Group’s subsidiaries located
are recognized as an expense in profit or loss as
incurred, except to the extent that they are included
in the cost of inventories not yet recognized as an
expense.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognized at the earlier of
the dates when the Group can no longer withdraw the
offer of those benefits and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs and involves the payment of
termination benefits.

Defined benefit retirement plans obligation

The Group’s net obligation in respect of defined benefit
retirement plans is calculated separately for each
plan by estimating the amount of future benefit that
employees have earned in return for their service in the
current and prior periods; that benefit is discounted
to determine the present value. The calculation is
performed by a qualified actuary using the projected
unit credit method. When the calculation results in a
benefit to the Group, the recognized asset is limited to
the present value of economic benefits available in the
form of any future refunds from the plan or reductions
in future contributions to the plan.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

()
(iii)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Employee benefits (continued)
Defined benetfit retirement plans obligation (continued)

Service cost and net interest expense (income) on
the net defined benefit liability (asset) are recognised
in profit or loss and allocated by function as part of
“cost of sales”, “selling and distribution expenses”
or “administrative expenses”. Current service cost is
measured as the increase in the present value of the
defined benefit obligation resulting from employee
service in the current period. Net interest expense
(income) for the period is determined by applying the
discount rate used to measure the defined benefit
obligation at the beginning of the reporting period to
the net defined benefit liability (asset). The discount
rate is the yield at the end of the reporting period on
high quality corporate bonds that have maturity dates
approximating the terms of the Group’s obligations.

When the benefits of a plan are changed, or when a
plan is curtailed, current service cost for the portion
of the changed benefit related to past service by
employees, or the gain or loss on curtailment, is
recognised as an expense in profit or loss at the earlier
of when the plan amendment or curtailment occurs and
when related restructuring costs or termination benefits
are recognised.

Remeasurements arising from defined benefit retirement
plans are recognised in other comprehensive income
and reflected immediately in retained earnings.
Remeasurements comprise actuarial gains and losses,
the return on plan assets (excluding amounts included
in net interest on the net defined benefit liability (asset))
and any change in the effect of the asset ceiling
(excluding amounts included in net interest on the net
defined benefit liability (asset)).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Share-based payments

The fair value of share-based payment awards granted
to employees is recognized as an employee cost with a
corresponding increase in a reserve within equity. The
fair value is measured at grant date by reference to the
market price or the valuer’'s valuation of the underlying
shares. Where the employees have to meet vesting
conditions before becoming unconditionally entitled to
the shares, the total estimated fair value of the shares is
spread over the vesting period, taking into account the
probability that the shares will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of shares that is
expected to vest is reviewed. Any resulting adjustment
to the cumulative fair value recognized in prior years is
charged/credited to the profit or loss for the year of the
review, unless the original employee expenses qualify
for recognition as an asset, with a corresponding
adjustment to the capital reserve. On vesting date, the
amount recognized as an expense is adjusted to reflect
the actual number that vest (with a corresponding
adjustment to the reserve).

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current
tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities
are recognized in profit or loss except to the extent that
they relate to items recognized in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case the relevant
amounts of tax are recognized in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the
taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted
or substantively enacted at the end of each reporting
period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of
previous years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

®

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being
the differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their
tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused
tax losses and unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax
liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent that
it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the asset can be utilized, are recognized.
Future taxable profits that may support the recognition
of deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences include those that will arise from
the reversal of existing taxable temporary differences,
provided those differences relate to the same taxation
authority and the same taxable entity, and are expected
to reverse either in the same period as the expected
reversal of the deductible temporary difference or in
periods into which a tax loss arising from the deferred
tax asset can be carried back or forward. The same
criteria are adopted when determining whether existing
taxable temporary differences support the recognition
of deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses
and credits, that is, those differences are taken into
account if they relate to the same taxation authority and
the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse in
a period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit can
be utilized.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax
assets and liabilities are those temporary differences
arising from the initial recognition of assets or liabilities
that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit
(provided they are not part of a business combination),
and temporary differences relating to investments in
subsidiaries to the extent that, in the case of taxable
differences, the Group controls the timing of the
reversal and it is probable that the differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the case of
deductible differences, unless it is probable that they
will reverse in the future.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Income tax (continued)

The amount of deferred tax recognized is measured
based on the expected manner of realization or
settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and
liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of each reporting period. Deferred
tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and is reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow the related tax
benefit to be utilized. Any such reduction is reversed
to the extent that it becomes probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution
of dividends are recognized when the liability to pay the
related dividends is recognized.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from each
other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset
against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets
against deferred tax liabilities, if the Group has the
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the following additional
conditions are met:

- in the case of current tax assets and liabilities,
the Company or the Group intends either to
settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously; or
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(u)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Income tax (continued)

- in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities,
if they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either:

- the same taxable entity; or

- different taxable entities, which, in each
future period in which significant amounts
of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered,
intend to realize the current tax assets
and settle the current tax liabilities
on a net basis or realize and settle
simultaneously.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a
legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a
past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value
of money is material, provisions are stated at the
present value of the expenditures expected to settle the
obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle
a provision is expected to be reimbursed by another
party, a separate asset is recognized for any expected
reimbursement that would be virtually certain. The
amount recognized for the reimbursement is limited to
the carrying amount of the provision.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it
arises from the sale of goods, the provision of services
or the use by others of the Group’s assets under leases
in the ordinary course of the Group’s business.

The Group is the principal for its revenue transactions
and recognises revenue on a gross basis. In
determining whether the Group acts as a principal or as
an agent, it considers whether it obtains control of the
products before they are transferred to the customers.
Control refers to the group’s ability to direct the use of
and obtain substantially all of the remaining benefits
from the products.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income
recognition policies are as follows:

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is recognized when control over a product or
service is transferred to the customer at the amount of
promised consideration to which the Group is expected
to be entitled, excluding those amounts collected on
behalf of third parties such as value added tax or other
sales taxes.

Sale of goods

Sales of the Group’'s products are recognized as
follows:

Revenue is recognised when the customer takes
possession of and accepts the products. Payment
terms and conditions vary by customers and are based
on the billing schedule established in the contracts
or purchase orders with customers, but the Group
generally provides credit terms to customers within six
months upon customer acceptance. The Group takes
advantage of the practical expedient in paragraph 63
of HKFRS 15 and does not adjust the consideration for
any effects of a significant financing component as the
period of financing is 12 months or less.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(v)
(i)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue and other income (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

Sale of goods (continued)

The Group offers warranties for its products for up to
three years from the date of sale. A related provision
is recognised in accordance with the policy set out in
Note 2(u).

The Group typically offers customers of products
that are not made-to-order rights of return for a
period of 90 days upon customer acceptance. It also
offers retrospective volume rebates to certain major
customers of products when their purchases reach an
agreed threshold. Such rights of return and volume
rebates give rise to variable consideration. The Group
uses an expected value approach to estimate variable
consideration based on the Group’s current and
future performance expectations and all information
that is reasonably available. This estimated amount
is included in the transaction price to the extent it is
highly probable that a significant reversal of cumulative
revenue recognised will not occur when the uncertainty
associated with the variable consideration is resolved.
At the time of sale of products, the Group recognises
revenue after taking into account adjustment to
transaction price arising from returns and rebates as
mentioned above. A refund liability is recognised for the
expected returns and rebates, and is included in refund
liabilities from right of return (see Note 29). A right to
recover returned goods and corresponding adjustment
to cost of sales are also recognised for the right to
recover products from customers. This right to recover
returned goods is measured at the former carrying
amount of the inventory less any expected costs to
recover goods (including potential decreases in the
value of the returned goods).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue and other income (continued)

Revenue from other sources and other income

(a)

Rental income from operating leases

Rental income receivable under operating
leases is recognized in profit or loss in equal
instalments over the periods covered by the
lease term, except where an alternative basis
is more representative of the pattern of benefits
to be derived from the use of the leased asset.
Lease incentives granted are recognized in profit
or loss as an integral part of the aggregate net
lease payments receivable.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues
under the effective interest method using the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts through the expected life of the financial
asset to the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset. For financial assets measured
at amortised cost or FOCI (recycling) that are
not credit-impaired, the effective interest rate
is applied to the gross carrying amount of the
asset. For credit-impaired financial assets, the
effective interest rate is applied to the amortised
cost (i.e. gross carrying amount net of loss

allowance) of the asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(v)
(i)

(w)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue and other income (continued)

Revenue from other sources and other income
(continued)

(c) Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the
statement of financial position initially when
there is reasonable assurance that they will be
received and that the group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them. Grants that
compensate the group for expenses incurred
are recognised as income in profit or loss
on a systematic basis in the same periods
in which the expenses are incurred. Grants
that compensate the group for the cost of an
asset are deducted from the carrying amount
of the asset and consequently are effectively
recognised in profit or loss over the useful life
of the asset by way of reduced depreciation
expense.

(d) Dividends

Dividend income is recognized when the share
price of the investment goes ex-dividend.

Refund liabilities

A refund liability is the obligation to refund some or all
of the consideration received (or receivable) from the
customer and is measured at the amount the Group
ultimately expects it will have to return to the customer.
The Group updates its estimates of refund liabilities
(and the corresponding change in the transaction price)
at the end of each reporting period.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions are translated at the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rates
ruling at the end of the reporting period. Exchange
gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at
the transaction dates. The transaction date is the date
on which the Company initially recognizes such non-
monetary assets or liabilities. Non-monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that
are stated at fair value are translated using the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was
measured.

The results of foreign operations are translated into
USD at the exchange rates approximating the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions.
The resulting exchange differences are recognized
in other comprehensive income and accumulated
separately in equity in the exchange reserve.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset
which necessarily takes a substantial period of time to
get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalized as
part of the cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs are
expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

The capitalization of borrowing costs as part of the cost
of a qualifying asset commences when expenditure for
the asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are being
incurred and activities that are necessary to prepare
the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress.
Capitalization of borrowing costs is suspended or
ceases when substantially all the activities necessary to
prepare the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale
are interrupted or complete.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 BEXREFBER (E)
(CONTINUED)

(z) Related parties (20 BHA
(a) A person, or a close member of that person’s (a) WBATIER  BIEALTSHZALHN

family, is related to the Group if that person: TR B B A R

(i) has control or joint control over the (i) PR ek EE AL
Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; (i) WAREBAZFEALESN 5
or

(iiy  is a member of the key management (i) AEREEIAKEHLFNE
personnel of the Group or the Group's EEEKE -
parent.

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the (o)  ARFE TAEMIGLG - BNEREEASE
following conditions applies: = A Rk

(i) The entity and the Group are members of (i) ZERUASEBER—SEH
the same group (which means that each 4= WNCIRQAIE=S ST =
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary NEIDSEEES b= NRER )
is related to the others). Bt ) o

(i) One entity is an associate or a joint (i) —REBRS ERENBERN
venture of the other entity (or an associate Al E B (XS —EEM
or a joint venture of a member of a group BEBEHKE QR E AR
of which the other entity is a member). HEERE)

(iiiy  Both entities are joint ventures of the (i) MREBHRRA—F=717M5&
same third party. B

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third (iv) REBRE=ZSTEBNESE
entity and the other entity is an associate ¥ - mME—EBRZE=S
of the third entity. EREMOEENT -

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit (v) ZERRAEESNEAEFRE
plan for the benefit of employees of either RAEE ) B B BLIE B A2 SR LAY
the Group or an entity related to the BB TGS
Group.

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled (Vi) FRZEREZ(a)fTitRI A i
by a person identified in (a). S A RES o
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Related parties (continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies (continued):

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant

influence over the entity or is a member
of the key management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity).
(viii)  The entity, or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence, or
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the
entity.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the
Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business
and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and
are similar in respect of the nature of products and
services, the nature of production processes, the type
or class of customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and the nature of
the regulatory environment. Operating segments which
are not individually material may be aggregated if they
share a majority of these criteria.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND ESTIMATES

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Notes 17, 18, 20 and 33(e) contains information about
the assumptions and their risk factors relating to
fair value of financial assets and fair value of shares
granted. Other key sources of estimation uncertainty
are as follows:

(a)

(b)

Net realizable value of inventories

Net realizable value of inventories is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business less estimated costs of completion and
the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
These estimates are based on the current market
conditions and the historical experience of
selling products with similar nature. Any change
in the assumptions would increase or decrease
the amount of inventories write-down or the
related reversals of write-down made in prior
years and affect the Group’s net assets value.
The Group reassesses these estimates annually.

Impairment of trade and other receivables

The Group estimates the amount of loss
allowance for ECLs on trade and other
receivables that are measured at amortized
cost based on the credit risk of the respective
financial instruments. The loss allowance amount
is measured as the asset’s carrying amount and
the present value of estimated future cash flows
with the consideration of expected future credit
loss of the respective financial instrument. The
assessment of the credit risk of the respective
financial instrument involves high degree of
estimation and uncertainty. When the actual
future cash flows are less than expected or more
than expected, a material impairment loss or a
material reversal of impairment loss may arise,
accordingly.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
(c) Warranty provisions

The Group makes provisions under the
warranties it gives on sale of its power tools and
outdoor power equipment taking into account the
Group’s recent claim experience. As the Group
is continually upgrading its product designs
and launching new models it is possible that
the recent claim experience is not indicative of
future claims that it will receive in respect of past
sales. Any increase or decrease in the provision
would affect profit or loss in future years.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
Revenue

The principal activities of the Group are researching,
developing, manufacturing, testing, sales, and after-
sale services for power tools, outdoor power equipment
and related products. Further details regarding the
Group’s principal activities are disclosed in Note 4(b).

Disaggregation of revenue

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with
customers by business lines is as follows:

3 B R HE R A (8)

AT RERZRNEEZRR (F)
(c) RIEERHE

ZRIAKERONFRER - A%
BEEEHTARFING HREHH

EREE TR - AR ARET
HiFHRHER R L R R - &
i 5 AR T B TR TR AN
BERBRHEAMORE - BEN
E 48 DS 09 B B R B

B -

4 WAR 7D EBHRE
(a WA

AEEHISEHREHTA - B IR
BRARBEAROTE - B AN HER
ERIRTS - MEa(0) B T AEEE TR
B — B o

(i) WA SHE
HEFHMETAANKRAZER RS BENT

Year ended December 31,
BZ12A31HILEE

2022 2021
20224 20214
USD’ 000 USD’000
FEx FET
Revenue from contracts with customers FHEHEREEQF155EERE
within the scope of HKFRS 15 EEETEHHNBA
Disaggregated by major products RXrEZEmHl
— Sales of power tools —HEEHTH 754,924 885,207
— Sales of outdoor power equipment — EPIINE R 1,223,527 864,631
— Others — HAh 10,829 7,946
1,989,280 1,757,784
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(a)
(i)

(1)

REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(CONTINUED)

Revenue (continued)
Disaggregation of revenue (continued)

The Group’s revenue from contracts with customers
were recognized at point in time.

The Group’s customer base is diversified and 1 (2021:
1) customer with whom transactions have exceeded
10% of the Group’s revenues for the year ended
December 31, 2022. The total revenue from the sales
of power tools, outdoor power equipment and others
to these customers amounted to US$990 million
(2021: US$718 million) and arose in North Americans.
Details of concentrations of credit risk arising from the
customers are set out in Note 33(a).

Revenue expected to be recognized in the future
arising from contracts with customers in existence at
the reporting date

The Group has applied the practical expedient in
paragraph 121 of HKFRS 15 to its sales contracts for
goods such that information about revenue expected to
be recognized in the future is not disclosed in respect
of revenue that the Group will be entitled to when it
satisfies the remaining performance obligations under
the contracts for sales of goods that had an expected
duration of one year or less.

(a)
(i)

(1)
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154

REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(CONTINUED)

Segment reporting

The Group manages its businesses by divisions,
which are organised by a mixture of both business
lines (products and services) and geography. In a
manner consistent with the way in which information is
reported internally to the Group’s most senior executive
management for the purposes of resource allocation
and performance assessment, the Group has presented
the following reportable segments. No operating
segments have been aggregated to form the following
reportable segments.

. Power tools: sales of power tools and power
tool accessories for consumer, professional
and industrial users. The products are available
under the FLEX, DEVON, SKIL and X-TRON
brands plus original design manufacturer
(“*ODM”) customers.

° Outdoor power equipment: sales of outdoor
tools and outdoor tool accessories for premium
or professional and mass-market users. The
products are available under the EGO, SKIL
brands and some ODM private labels.

o Others: sales of parts and components to a
home appliances business.
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(b)
()

REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(CONTINUED)

Segment reporting (continued)
Information about reportable segments

For the purposes of assessing segment performance
and allocating resources between segments, the
Group’s senior executive management monitor the
results attributable to each reportable segment on the
following bases:

Revenue are allocated to the reportable segments with
reference to sales generated by those segments.

The measure used for reporting segment profit is gross
profit. Segment profit is used to measure performance
as management believes that such information is the
most relevant in evaluating the results of the respective
segments relative to other entities that operate in the
same industries.

In addition to receiving segment information concerning
segment results, management is provided with segment
information concerning revenue generated by the
segments in their operations.

Segment assets and liabilities are not regularly
reported to the Group’s executive directors and
therefore information of reportable segment assets and
liabilities are not presented in the consolidated financial
statements.

(b)
()

IN=RRLET e IR

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated))

(AZET [T IT - B = EEE)

WAR 7 &R E ()
D EEHE ()
& EEH

RTFHEDBRAALED M 2HENERER
AEESRITREREABRBATEEEE
BERE D AR S -

WAR R E

DHB ©

DHWEENHERSIEERE

RARBED B BN ERFTEENE -
MAEARGAERR I?‘%#ﬂ%mﬁ&tiﬁ
EREFESEDAFRE (BERNER—1T%

PERN R ERE) SR -
BTREENH BRANHBER  BRE
I 1B SR 6 9 BB RUB 50 2 A YA
PEER -

DHEERBELEFTHRNAEENTES
BE - AGEAMBERRPLEINREBED
MEEMABENER -

RIEFERBR AR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZETT[FET 137 - BIESEIEH)

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 4 WARDEBIERE (8)
(CONTINUED)

(b) Segment reporting (continued) (b) AE®E(E)

(i) Information about reportable segments (continued) (i) HRESEEHR ()
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with RIEW AR RRE S EE P ETTHROUA
customers by the timing of revenue recognition, as MO ARABERDE RS HEETE T
well as information regarding the Group’s reportable MASESRITREEABRENEEASE
segments as provided to the Group's senior executive EHEDABERN TR -

management for the purposes of resource allocation
and assessment of segment performance is set out

below.
Reportable segments
]E DB
Outdoor Total
Power power reportable
tools equipment Others segments
EHTH FHEDHRME Hft |ED WA
USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000
E EY FTER EY
2022 20224
Revenue from external customers REMBEFHBA
Point in time NSRS 754,924 1,223,527 10,829 1,989,280
Gross profit from external customers ~ REINPEFEREFI & 191,768 409,905 2,200 603,873
and reportable segment profit HEDEFE
Reportable segments
LERE
Outdoor Total
Power power reportable
tools  equipment Others segments
EHTE FHEDRE Aty D EA
USD'000 UsD’000 USD'000 USD'000
T FET T FTET
2021 20214
Revenue from external customers REMBEFHRA
Point in time INEIEE 885,207 864,631 7,946 1,757,784
Gross profit from external customers and R BIMNBEF R EF & 236,042 257,716 750 494,508
reportable segment profit WmE D EFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
IN=RRLET e IR

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated))
(UZET[ETT 137 - BRIESEHEH)

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 4 WAR DB ®E ()
(CONTINUED)

(b) Segment reporting (continued) (b) DIWE (E)
(i) Reconciliations of reportable segment gross profit (i) WESEENEE

Year ended December 31,
BZE12A31BHLEEE

2022 2021
2022F 20214
USD’ 000 USD’000
FXx FEr
Reportable segment gross profit HwEDHEFR 603,873 494,508
Other revenue EHapW A 7,038 5,180
Other net (loss)/gain Hth (F18) =8 (52,254) 37,887
Selling and distribution expenses HE R R (214,014) (195,507)
Administrative and other operating expenses  {TH M EAb4E &5 (89,765) (103,610)
Research and development costs (RPN (65,733) (50,151)
Net finance costs B R AN F RE (22,265) (16,617)
Share of (losses)/profits of associates FERE AR (B18), FH (5,490) 4,408
Consolidated profit before taxation BrEATAR & FE 161,390 176,098
(iii)  Geographic information (iii) M FEEH
The following table sets out the geographic information TRENAEBMRA RS TIERBEENIT
analyses of the Group's revenue and specified BERN - BEME - WFELEE  FH
non-current assets including property, plant and BEENEBREAE ([HEFRBEE]) - £
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets SR ERE - S BRAERE P A2
(“specified non-current assets”). In presenting the E DHEEEREEMNHIRAALE -

geographic information, segment revenue has been
based on the geographic location of customers and
segment assets have been based on the geographic
location of the assets.

RIBIERARAT —E-—FFR 157



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZETT[FET 137 - BIESEIEH)

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 4 WARSDHHESE (H)
(CONTINUED)

(b) Segment reporting (continued) (b) EHE(E)
(i) Geographic information (continued) (i) HEEER (E)
Revenue from external customers K EINESE I

Year ended December 31,
BZ12A31BLEE

2022 2021
2022%F 20214

USD’ 000 UsD’000

FEx FET

North Americans JbE 1,499,907 1,187,353
Europe BN 317,247 404,210
China s 99,490 105,537
Rest of the World R E i@ 72,636 60,684

1,989,280 1,757,784

Specified non-current assets HEHF B EE
As at December 31,
R12A31H
2022 2021
20224 20214
USD’000 USD’000
FTEx FEx
North Americans b 17,325 17,754
Europe B 27,233 24,753
China A 234,459 201,335
279,017 243,842
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
IN=RRLET e IR

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated))
(UZETT [T /57 - BRI H59)

5 OTHER REVENUE AND OTHER NET GAIN 5 HW AR bW F5E
(a) Other revenue (a) HugA

Year ended December 31,
HZE12A31BILLFE

2022 2021
20224 20214F
uUSsD’000 USD’000
FEx FET

Government grants (Note (i) BB (K12 3) 1,860 2,831

Sale of scrap materials BERLHE 4,814 2,089

Rental income HE W 364 260

7,038 5,180

Note: Bia -

(i) During the year ended December 31, 2022, the (i) HZE20220F12A31BLEFE - K
Group received unconditional government grants of S E151,860,000% 7T (20214
USD1,860,000 (2021: USD2,831,000), as rewards 2,831,000 7t ) MK BUT I Bh » 1F
of the Group's contribution to technology innovation AEREEHRBAFREREKEERE
and regional economic development. ARy EE2E o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZETT[FET 137 - BIESEIEH)

5

(b)

160

OTHER REVENUE AND OTHER NET GAIN 5 HW AR EMmUSFEE (E)

(CONTINUED)

Other net (loss)/gain

(b) Eft(BE) W BE

Year ended December 31,
BZ12A31BLEE

2022 2021
2022F 20214
USD’ 000 UsD’000
SFEETR FET
Net foreign exchange loss SNE BT I8 HRE (15,533) (14,126)
Net loss on disposal of properties, plants HEME - HEREEL (176) (238)
and equipment [E518 558
Net unrealized (loss)/gain on convertible bonds A2 EH A EIR (F5i8),/ (15,280) 19,230
Weas FaE
Net realized and unrealized gains on financial MR R EEEBHEES A 1,654 1,190
assets at FVPL other than convertible bonds EHERNEREENDE
B RAEEWHFE
(AR RESHBRIN)
Net realized and unrealized (loss)/gain TEeMITEMNEERR (23,297) 10,129
on derivative financial instruments REWR (B18) /RESFE
Loss on disposal of associates HEBEARNER - (677)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary (Note 22(f)) HE—RWEBAR M - 21,969
(Hizt22(f)
Others HAh 378 410
(52,254) 37,887
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(a)

(b)

IN=RRLET e IR

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated))

(AZET [T IT - B = EEE)

PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 6 RR B B0 R
Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/ BRELRTAIE &k (BT A) LTI &IBRE
(crediting): i
Net finance costs (a) WIBERAFE
Year ended December 31,
BZ12A31BILLEE
2022 2021
2022%F 20214
USD’000 USD’000
FEx FET
Interest income from bank deposits SRITEFF BULA (3,959) (1,051)
Finance income B U A (3,959) (1,051)
Interest on bank loans IRITEFF A 12,267 16,790
Other financing cost E b B RS A AR 13,005 -
Interest on lease liabilities IRITEFHF B 952 878
Finance costs PN 26,224 17,668
Net finance costs B FE R AN H A8 22,265 16,617
Staff costs (b) EIRZK

Year ended December 31,
BZE12A31HLEEE

Salaries, wages and other benefits
Contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans

Expenses recognized in respect of defined
benefit retirement plans obligation (Note 31(a))

2022 2021

20224 20214

USD’ 000 USD’000

FEx FE1

e IEREMA= 184,143 164,907

AERFERIRETEIH R 30,225 24,541

FriER BN R e FIRIK 6 9
R (Fi31(a))

214,374 189,457
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
=R RLET ek

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZETT[FET 137 - BIESEIEH)

6

(c)

162

PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (CONTINUED)

Other items

6 BR AT A ()
(c) EHftEE

Year ended December 31,
BZE12A31BLEE

2022 2021
20224 20214
USD’ 000 USD’000
SFEEE FE=1
Depreciation charge TEER
— owned properties, plants and equipment —BEYME  BEEXR 25,270 23,211
- right-of-use assets —FREEE 10,091 6,330
— investment property — AW - 37
Amortization of intangible assets ML EERE 584 296
Research and development costs (Note (i)) R A (Ha2i) 65,733 50,151
Provision for impairment loss on trade and E 5 & E A EBGRIERE 1,401 278
other receivables EERRE

Provision for write-down of inventories FEMUREE 12,248 4,803

Auditors’ remuneration 1% B A 357 B
— audit services — Bt IR 912 1,332
- non-audit services — FEEF RS - 182
Listing expenses WX - 7,873
Cost of inventories sold (Note (ii)) FrEFEMRA (Katii) 1,394,957 1,265,063

Notes:

(i)

(if)

Research and development costs include amounts
relating to staff costs, depreciation and amortization
expenses, which are also included in the respective
total amounts disclosed separately above or in Note
6(b) for each of these types of expenses.

Cost of inventories recognized as expenses
includes amounts relating to staff costs,
depreciation and amortization expenses, provision
for write-down of inventories, which are also
included in the respective total amounts disclosed
separately above or in Note 6(b) for each of these
types of expenses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(a)

NP ET e

P 5

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated))
(UZET[ETT 137 - BRIESEHEH)

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 7 BEBRRAMEBH

STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS

Taxation in the consolidated statements of profit (a) #HABERAFERE :

or loss represents:

Year ended December 31,
BZE12A318LEE

2022 2021
20224 20214
USD’ 000 USD’000
P FET
Current tax B EABE 1R
PRC Corporate Income Tax i PR IE B
Provision for the year FREE 3,034 5,547
Over-provision in respect of prior years W FE R R (28) (56)
3,006 5,491
Hong Kong Profits Tax BB
Provision for the year FREHE 16,207 12,627
Tax jurisdictions outside PRC and Hong Kong — #1892 & &5 B 7% 7] %
EEE
Provision for the year FNEAE 8,038 6,696
Deferred tax EREBIR
Origination and reversal of temporary I A FE A A B e (5,139) 1,563
differences (Note 27(b)) (Htet27(b))
Total income tax expense PSR X% 22,112 26,377
Notes: Htat -
(i) Pursuant to the income tax rules and regulations (i) BIEBBEOMERIGIEER &2
of Hong Kong, the Company and the subsidiary in 2021F [ 2022F 12 A31HILFE » &
Hong Kong were liable to the Hong Kong Profits Nal R BEBHE R B EIR16.5% KX
Tax at a rate of 16.5% during the years ended BB BFEH -

December 31, 2021 and 2022.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
=R RLET ek

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZETT[FET 137 - BIESEIEH)

7

(a)

164

INCOME TAX

IN THE CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS
(CONTINUED)

Taxation in the consolidated statements of profit
or loss represents: (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(if)

The PRC subsidiaries of the Group are subject to
PRC Corporate Income Tax (“CIT”) at a statutory
rate of 25%, except for the following specified
subsidiary:

According to the Administrative Measures
for Determination of High-Tech Enterprises
(Guokefahuo [2016] No0.32), Nanjing Chervon
Industry Co., Ltd. obtained the qualification as
a high-tech enterprise and was entitled to a
preferential income tax rate of 15% for the years
from 2019 to 2022. Nanjing Chervon Industry Co.,
Ltd. renewed the qualification in November 18,
2022 and was entitled to a preferential income tax
rate of 15% for the next three years.

According to the prevailing PRC CIT law and
its relevant regulations, non-PRC tax resident
enterprises are levied withholding tax on dividends
from their PRC resident investees for intra-group
earnings accumulated beginning on January 1,
2008, at 10% (unless reduced by tax treaties or
similar arrangements), respectively. Undistributed
earnings generated prior to 2008 are exempt from
such withholding tax.

Under the arrangement between the Mainland China
and Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
for the Avoidance of Double Taxation and the
Prevention of Fiscal Evasion with respect to Taxes
on Income and its relevant regulations, dividends
paid by a PRC resident enterprise to its direct
holding company in Hong Kong will be subject to
withholding tax at a reduced rate of 5% (if the Hong
Kong investor is the “beneficial owner” and owns
directly at least 25% of the equity interest of the
PRC resident enterprise for the past twelve months
before the dividends distribution). The Group met
the beneficial owner requirements in 2021 and 2022
and were entitled to a preferential rate of 5% since
2015.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(a)

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS
(CONTINUED)

Taxation in the consolidated statements of profit
or loss represents: (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(iii) Pursuant to the income tax rules and regulations of
the United States, the Group’s subsidiaries in the
United States was liable to United States federal
income tax at a rate of 21% and state income tax
at a rate ranging from 0.75% to 9.99% during the
during the year ended December 31, 2021 and
2022.

(iv) Pursuant to the income tax rules and regulations of
the United Kingdom, the Group’s subsidiary in the
United Kingdom was liable to the United Kingdom
corporation tax at a rate of 19% during the year
ended December 31, 2021 and 2022.

(v) Pursuant to the income tax rules and regulations of
Germany, Chervon GmbH, Flex Geschaftsfuhrungs
GmbH, Flex Verwaltungs GmbH & Co.KG, Flex-
Elektrowerkzeuge GmbH and EGO Europe GmbH
were liable to German corporate tax at a rate
between 22.825% and 26.825% determined by
municipalities during the year ended December 31,
2021 and 2022.

(vi) Pursuant to the rules and regulations of Australia,
the Group’s subsidiary in Australia was liable to
Australia corporation tax at a rate of 27.5% during
the year ended December 31, 2021 and 2022.

(vii) Pursuant to the rules and regulations of Canada, the
Group’s subsidiary in Canada was liable to Canada
corporation tax at a rate of 26.5% during the year
ended December 31, 2021 and 2022.

(viii)  Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the
Netherlands, the Group’s subsidiaries in the
Netherlands was liable to the Netherlands
corporation tax at a rate of 25% during the year
ended December 31, 2021 and 2022.

(a)

IN=RRLET e IR

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated))

(AZET [T IT - B = EEE)

REBBERAAEHR (H)

meBRBmRABIEE - ()

Hiat - (%)

(iiif)

(v)

(vi)

(vi)

(viii)

RIEERBR AR —T - —FFR

WIRERAMEH GO RER - NEEXE
EE M E A FIEEL Z£ 2021 5F 2022
F12A31H L FEEIE21% 1) =B HE
ST R A0.75% £ 9.99% KN Fir
SR EAE -

BIEEE R ETIEORER » A&
EEEBENMBAREEE2021F &
2022F 12 A1 HIEFEEIE19%HL
EH AN B o

BEEESNMmE RGN RE
3 - Chervon GmbH * Flex
Geschaftsfuhrungs GmbH ~ Flex
Verwaltungs GmbH & Co.KG - Flex-
Elektrowerkzeuge GmbHKNEGO
Europe GmbHTE&EI£20214 %2022
F12A31BIEFERAGEE QA
Tt BER22.825%%E26.825% * M
WE BT -

BIBRAF TR EA RER - NEETE
AR T B ATEEE2021E R
2021F 12 A31 AL FEEKR27.5% 1)
Tt SR AR A 2 A RIB o

BB INE KGR oA - REEAE N
ERNME QR EEIE 20215 £ 2022
F12A31 A ILFEER26.5% KTt E
BN ERXRARR °

BRI A B R ER - NEE R
R P BB A R EE B 2021 F 20224 12
A 318 1 FEEIE25% K & BN T
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(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZETT[FET 137 - BIESEIEH)

7

(a)

166

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS
(CONTINUED)

Taxation in the consolidated statements of profit
or loss represents: (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(ix) Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the
Czech Republic, the Group’s subsidiary in the
Czech Republic was liable to the Czech Republic
corporation tax at a rate of 19% during the year
ended December 31, 2021 and 2022.

(x) Pursuant to the rules and regulations of Belgium,
the Group’s subsidiary in Belgium was liable to
Belgium corporation tax at a rate of 25% during the
year ended December 31, 2021 and 2022.

(xi) Pursuant to the rules and regulations of ltalia,
the Group’s subsidiary in lItalia was liable to ltalia
corporation tax at a rate of 24% during the year
ended December 31, 2021 and 2022.

(xii) Pursuant to the rules and regulations of France, the
Group’s subsidiary in France was liable to France
corporation tax at a rate of 28% during the year
ended December 31, 2021 and 2022.

(xiii)  Pursuant to the Vietnam Investment Law and the
approval of Industry Zone Committee of Tinh Binh
Duong, the Group’s subsidiary in the Vietnam was
entitled to a tax exemption for 2021 and 2022 and
a preferential income tax rate of 10% from 2022 to
2025.

(xiv)  Pursuant to the rules and regulations of New
Zealand, the Group’s subsidiary in New Zealand
was liable to New Zealand corporation tax at a rate
of 28% during the year ended December 31, 2021
and 2022.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(b)

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED

IN=RRLET e IR

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated))
(UZET[ETT 137 - BRIESEHEH)

7 REBBERAAEHR (H)

STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS

(CONTINUED)

Reconciliation between profit before taxation and (b)

tax expense and at applicable tax rates:

HYSIAR

BREAANERRERUARBEAR R 2H

Year ended December 31,

BZ12B31BLEE

2022 2021
2022%F 20214
USD’000 USD’000
FER FET
Profit before taxation R 5% 51 1 161,390 176,098
Notional tax on profit before taxation, BEATFERER - k@ 28,139 29,641
calculated at the rates applicable to profits AREER EEE R
in the jurisdictions concerned FENHRETE
Effect of PRC tax concessions obtained EGHBRBBUR e E (2,022) (3,234)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses (Note) AR ARG & 1,853 56
(Haz)
Tax effect of non-taxable income JEEFREN RIS (410) (1,831)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognized AERTIEBENRBTE 442 2,928
Tax effect of temporary differences not recognized FRIERE R ZRBRI I £ 1,373 -
Tax effect of bonus deduction for research RS AR AN S IR O FR 75 (7,113) (3,765)
and development costs 2
Provision of withholding tax on RO BCH B TEB R (122) 2,638
undistributed profits
Over-provision in prior years M FERIEEE (28) (56)
Income tax expense FriSfif s 22,112 26,377
Note: Hit -
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses mainly represented PAIMBAZOBR B ETERUEREE N

tax effect of equity settled share-based payment expenses,
expenses incurred by entities without assessable profits

and other non-deductible expenses.

RIEERERAT — T —FFIR
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=R RLET ek

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZETT[FET 137 - BIESEIEH)

8 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section
383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and
Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information
about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are as follows:

8 EEHM
BIFES D FIEFIFE383(1)ER AT (HEZEEH

BRDBAPIE —_ MO RENEZMEMT ¢

Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’  and benefits  Discretionary scheme 2022
fees in kind bonuses  contributions Total
£4 . 2RE 20224
Ezhe ENAlE BETAL  RAGHEER st
USD’000 UsD’000 USD’000 UsD’000 USD’000
TER TEn TR Txn TEn
Chairman EER
Pan Longquan BER 30 148 231 - 409
Executive directors HiTES
Zhang Tong &Y 30 148 320 - 498
Ke Zugian iEs 30 148 261 - 439
Michael John Clancy Michael John Clancy 30 443 560 27 1,060
Independent non-executive BUFHTES
directors
Tian Ming i3 30 - - - 30
Li Minghui TR 30 - - - 30
Jiang Li By 30 - - - 30
210 887 1,372 27 2,496
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DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AN
#rek

V5 R B o

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated))
(UZET[ETT 137 - BRIESEHEH)

8 ESHM (&)

Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’  and benefits  Discretionary scheme 2021
fees in kind bonuses  contributions Total
#4¢ 2ER 2021%
BzHg BHE BETA  RUGHEER by
UsD’000 USD’000 UsD’000 UsD’000 UsD’000
xR TEn TEn TEn TEn
Chairman 2R
Pan Longquan BER 16 171 445 - 632
Executive directors HTES
Zhang Tong E 16 178 445 - 639
Ke Zugian i 16 171 445 - 632
Xiao Jun (resigned on B8 (20218 F4BET) - 96 - 9 105
August 4, 2021)
Cheng Hong Kei (resigned on EE (R2021F8 A48 - - - - -
August 4, 2021) B
Michael John Clancy Michael John Clancy 16 405 409 38 868
(appointed on August 4, 2021) (R2021F8 FABERM)
Independent non-executive BUFHTES
directors
Tian Ming (appointed on MEA (72021412 48R 16 - - - 16
December 8, 2021) EZ)
Li Minghui (appointed on IR (12021412 A8 H 16 - - - 16
December 8, 2021) EZ)
Jiang Li (appointed on B3 (R2021%512A8H 16 - - - 16
December 8, 2021) BZH)
112 1,021 1,744 47 2,924
Note: Bis -

All the executive directors are key management personnel
of the Group during the year ended December 31, 2021
and 2022 and their remuneration disclosed above include
those for services rendered by them as key management

personnel.

FIBMITE BEE 20216 % 2022412 A31
BLEFEHALAEBNEZEREAL - Ll
BRENTHNREE(EATEEBEABRMER
EHEE -
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(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZETT[FET 137 - BIESEIEH)

9 INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS 9 REHMAL

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, e FTMORAZEAP - WE (20214 -
two (2021: four) are directors whose emoluments are NE) EEOFMEM TSR KR - HAEA
disclosed in Note 8. The aggregate of the emoluments M EB BN T

in respect of the remaining individuals are as follows:

Year ended December 31,
BZ12A31BLEE

2022 2021

20224 20214

USD’000 UsSD’000

TFEEn FET

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ¥4 - 2B LR EYHZE 1,576 1,302
Discretionary bonuses BB TE4T 1,702 1,975
Retirement scheme contributions RIRET IR 95 71
3,373 3,348

The emoluments of the five (2021: five) individuals with BREHFMORSR (20214F : AR) BAAHNFF

the highest emoluments are within the following bands: BAE LA T EA

Year ended December 31,
BZ12A31HLEE

2022 2021

2022F 20214

Number of Number of

individuals individuals

fEAZE (EPN-4=

USD nil to USD500,000 T EILE500,000%E T 1 -

USD500,001 to USD1,000,000 500,00137C % 1,000,000% 7T 3 5

USD1,000,001 to USD1,500,000 1,000,0013€ 7% 1,500,000 7T 1 -

None of the Directors of the Company has waived any HE20224F12A31 B IFEE - BmEARNT
emoluments for the year ended 31 December 2022. EEZNETAEFE -

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors RREEER  AEEREOEESSRES

or the five highest paid individuals (including directors SHMAL (AEEERES) ZABE - £

and employees) as an inducement to join or upon AINAKNEB S INAKEBE BB IES

joining the Group or as compensating for loss of office BELE o

during both years.
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(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated))
(UZET[ETT 137 - BRIESEHEH)

H 2 E WS
EEfh 2N RS AR D BB R E

10 OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 10

Tax effects relating to each component of other
comprehensive income

Exchange
differences
on translation

Remeasurement

of financial of net defined
statements  benefit liability Total
BEM KRR RERAEE
WERZELE FHEEHTE st
UsSD’000 USD’000 UsSD’000
FEx FExx FEx
For the year ended BZE2021F12H31H
December 31, 2021 IEFE
Before-tax amount HATSE 8,131 33 8,164
Tax expense MIARM X - 13 13
Net-of-tax amount HNRHIE &5 8,131 46 8,177
For the year ended BZE2022F12A31H
December 31, 2022 IEFE
Before-tax amount BAl e (13,365) 141 (13,224)
Tax expense HEMX - 52 52
Net-of-tax amount HRTIE &5 (13,365) 193 (13,172)
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(UZETT[FET 137 - BIESEIEH)

11 EARNINGS PER SHARE 11 g 1% 2 F
(a) Basic earnings per share (a) BRELXER
The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per BRERAREERANOFAEENARAGIER
share is based on the profit attributable to equity [i% 32 & 45 78 139,369,000 7T (2021 4F :
shareholders of the Company of USD139,369,000 144,544,00037T) @ E@AR A INEFIEGT
(2021: USD144,544,000) and the weighted average of =R
ordinary shares calculated as follows:
Weighted average number of ordinary shares BB T2
Year ended December 31,
BZE12A31BLEE
2022 2021
20224 20214
Ordinary shares at the beginning of the year FRHY i AR 479,431,411 390,000,000
Effect of right issues (Note) AR E (Hit) = 5,781,540
Effect of issuance of ordinary shares under RIE R BT 8317 - 9,016,660
the Share Incentive Scheme LTimRr R e
Effect of shares issued by initial public LAE R AREE T BEITRD - 197,030
offering (Note 32(c)(ii)) VB (H1aE32(c)(ii)
Effect of shares issued by public offering *ETF?L%E@E%%ME/X@%EJ 10,018,982 -
pursuant to the over-allotment option ERRBETROHTE
(Note 32(c)(iii)) (/Wﬁf.?.?(c)(///))
Weighted average number of ordinary shares — FAE R H) I @AL INHE F 98 489,450,393 404,995,230
at the end of the year
Note: Hat -
Pursuant to the resolution passed by the board of directors RIBARREZSR2021F3 417 BEBAR
of the Company on March 17, 2021, the Company o AR RIAER T X ERRIA1.008TTHR
issued and allotted a total of 5,844,911 shares by way of BB IT AL A5T5,844 911G - HE
rights issue at the subscription price of HKD1.00 to the RERKZOFTEET TBBERAE - LLEE
shareholders. The calculations of the basic earnings per BEZBTHENTE  RUORZEREETIR
share were adjusted retrospectively to include the effect of HIFTE B R BT R — & o
the number of shares issues as if such shares were issued
and outstanding for all periods presented.
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11
(b)

EARNINGS PER SHARE (CONTINUED)
Diluted earnings per share

The calculation of diluted earnings per share is based
on the profit attributable to equity shareholders of the
Company of USD139,369,000 (2021: USD144,544,000),

IN=RRLET e IR

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated))
(UZET[ETT 137 - BRIESEHEH)

11 SRERN(E)
(b) EBREIZERF

SHRESBFNNFEENARAERRK
HEAE A5 139,369,000k 7T (2021 4 ¢
144,544,000%70) + LBRHMNEF I EG

and the weighted average number of ordinary shares =R
calculated as follows:
Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted) TR INEFE (#E)
Year ended December 31,
BZ12A31BLEE
2022 2021
20224 20214
Weighted average number of ordinary R B E 3 AR N T 15 21 489,450,393 404,995,230
shares at the end of the year
Effect of equity settled share-based DAt B B AN BETER - 1,800,977
transactions RGWE
Weighted average number of ordinary RERE T AR Nt F 58 489,450,393 406,796,207
shares(diluted) at the end of the year (%)
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(UZETT[FET 137 - BIESEIEH)

12
(a)

174

PROPERTIES, PLANTS AND EQUIPMENT 12 Y% BERRE
Reconciliation of carrying amount (a) REEYHE
Software,
Machinery motor vehicles
Plant and and and office  Construction
buildings equipment equipment  in progress Total
B4 "ER
BERET BERRE WARME ERIE st
USD’ 000 UsD’ 000 UsD’ 000 UsD’000 USD’ 000
FER SV FER TR FER
Cost: BA
At January 1, 2021 7202151 A1H 114,464 116,225 40,577 10,847 282,113
Additions NE 826 33,866 12,486 25,042 72,220
Transfers Eb 1,753 - 1,136 (2,889) -
Disposals HE (151) (5,309) (1,855) - (7,315)
Disposal of a subsidiaries HEMRBAR (373) - (35) - (408)
Exchange adjustment R AR 1,150 (358) (253) 456 995
At December 31, 2021 and R2021E12A318 K 117,669 144,424 52,056 33,456 347,605
January 1, 2022 20221 1A
Additions NE 753 33,449 8,701 38,249 81,152
Transfers Eih 7,673 501 2,153 (10,327) -
Disposals HE (1,007) (17,030) (972) - (19,009)
Exchange adjustment X AR (9,940) (11,925) (1,116) (3,644) (26,625)
At December 31, 2022 2022512 A431H 115,148 149,419 60,822 57,734 383,123
Accumulated depreciation: ~ Z3t7E :
At January 1, 2021 M2021F1A18 (47,496) (69,550) (22,047) - (139,093)
Charge for the year FEER (5,285) (13,047) (4,879) - (23,211)
Written back on disposals HEEER - 5,294 1,807 - 7.101
Disposal of a subsidiaries HEMRBAT 258 - 32 - 290
Exchange adjustment BN AR (111) 782 101 - 772
At December 31,2021 and 2021123318 & (52,634) (76,521) (24,986) = (154,141)
January 1, 2022 20221 A1H
Charge for the year FEER (5,158) (12,047) (8,065) - (25,270)
Written back on disposals HERERD 841 16,592 452 - 17,885
Exchange adjustment [ 4,587 4,995 2,045 - 11,627
At December 31, 2022 2022612 A31H (52,364) (66,981) (30,554) = (149,899)
Net book value: RERE:
At December 31, 2021 12021512 831H 65,035 67,903 27,070 33,456 193,464
At December 31, 2022 1202212 431H 62,784 82,438 30,268 57,734 233,224
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12

(a)

PROPERTIES, PLANTS AND EQUIPMENT 12
(CONTINUED)

Reconciliation of carrying amount (continued) (a)
Note:

Certain properties, plants and equipment of the Group

were pledged as security for bank loans (see Note 23).
Details are set out as follows:

IN=RRLET e IR

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated))
(UZETT [T /57 - BRI H59)

M - BERRE (&)

SREEYIR (&)
Wit :

AEENETYE  BFERRECERRTE
FHRIRYIEA (REE23) < FHIBMT -

As at December 31,

A12831H
2022 2021
20224 20214
Plant and buildings W E R EF 48,145 44,226
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(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)

(CESHAES AL = E L))

13

176

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use assets
by class of underlying asset is presented below:

EREEE

RIEREEERE S MERREEREFE
DITEAT -

Plant and Leasehold
buildings land Total
BMEREF HE L st
uUsSD’ 000 uUsSD’000 USD’000
FEr S FER
Cost: R :
At January 1, 2021 R2021F1H1H 24,441 31,432 55,873
Additions NE 11,971 - 11,971
Disposals HE (1,528) - (1,528)
Exchange adjustment TE H #3 % (12) 726 714
At December 31, 2021 and R2021F12A31B K 34,872 32,158 67,030
January 1, 2022 20221 A1H
Additions NE 8,815 - 8,815
Disposals R (3,184) - (3,184)
Exchange adjustment b P (1,500) (2,711) (4,211)
At December 31, 2022 R2022F 12 A31H 39,003 29,447 68,450
Accumulated depreciation: =5
At January 1, 2021 R2021F1A1H (8,449) (4,795) (13,244)
Charge for the year FEER (5,694) (636) (6,330)
Written back on disposals S B ] 1,528 - 1,528
Exchange adjustment PE 3 & 54 (119) (65)
At December 31, 2021 and 2021412 831 B & (12,561) (5,550) (18,111)
January 1, 2022 20221 H1H
Charge for the year FEEH (9,460) (631) (10,091)
Written back on disposals HE R D 3,184 = 3,184
Exchange adjustment T H 5 688 511 1,199
At December 31, 2022 ©K2021F12831H (18,149) (5,670) (23,819)
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(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated))
(UZET[ETT 137 - BRIESEHEH)

13  RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (CONTINUED) 13 FHREEE (8)
Plant and Leasehold
buildings land Total
BEREF HELH et
UsSD’000 UsSD’000 UsSD’000
FEx FEx FEx

Net book value: AR FE

At December 31, 2021 R2021%F12A31H 22,311 26,608 48,919

At December 31, 2022 MR2022412A31H 20,854 23,777 44,631

Notes: KBia -

(i) The Group obtains the right-of-use certain land in (i) AEBTEFRBES T0FMNLEHEE
the PRC under several operating lease agreements B ESHE T A A% - R2022
of 50 years. As at December 31, 2022, the carrying F12A31H  HEEABEELHH
amounts of leasehold land held for own use were BRE{E /A23,777,000% 7T (20214
USD23,777,000 (2021: USD26,608,000). 26,608,000 7T ) °

(i) The Group has obtained the right to use certain (ii) AREEP2022F 1 2021F12A31H1E
office and warehouse properties through tenancy FERAHEERRESETHAERE
agreements during the years ended December 31, EMERNFERE HENTHHRE A1
2022 and 2021. The leases typically run for a period ZE134F -

of 1to 13 years.
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13 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (CONTINUED) 13

The analysis of expense items in relation to leases
recognized in profit or loss is as follows:

EREEE (&)

HNEREANEEEENRZER ST
T

As at December 31,

M12H31H
2022 2021
2022%F 20214
USD’000 USD’000
F=715 FEr

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets by &R & E 18 B 2D &{F &
class of underlying asset: BENEER

- Leasehold land —HE T 631 636
- Plant and buildings — BEREF 9,460 5,694
10,091 6,330
Interest on lease liabilities (Note 6(a)) HEBERNE (Mit6(a)) 952 878
Expense relating to short-term leases HEHAESEENAY 2,082 2,326

Details of total cash outflow for leases and the maturity
analysis of lease liabilities are set out in Notes 22(e)
and 24, respectively.

Certain right-of-use assets of the Group were pledged
as security for bank loans (see Note 23). Details are set
out as follows:

HERRERERHEEABINHL OB
D RIE R FE22(e) K224 »

AREWETEREEECER/RITERK
YRR (RIRE23) « FHIBMAT -

As at December 31,

MW12831H
2022 2021
20224 20214
USD’ 000 USD’000
Epy FET
Leasehold land HELH 22,779 25,487

178 Chervon Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4= A

IN=RRLET e IR

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated))

14

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

14 EREE

(AZET [T IT - B = EEE)

Patents Trademarks Total
=R mE st
uUsSD’ 000 uUSD’000 USD’000
FEx FEx FERr
Cost: AN :
At January 1, 2021 R2021%F1A1H 902 2,172 3,074
Exchange adjustment P H fA % (3) - (3)
At December 31, 2021 and MR2021F12H31B K 899 2,172 3,071
January 1, 2022 2022%1A1H
Disposals HE 33 253 286
Exchange adjustment P& 5 (2) - (2)
At December 31, 2022 R2022% 12 A31H 930 2,425 3,355
Accumulated amortization: S £
At January 1, 2021 202141 81H (432) (888) (1,320)
Charge for the year FEER (79) (217) (296)
Exchange adjustment M 5, 3R % 4 - 4
At December 31, 2021 and F2021412 831 A K (507) (1,105) (1,612)
January 1, 2022 20221 A1H
Charge for the year FEER (115) (469) (584)
Exchange adjustment M H A 3 - 3
At December 31, 2022 H20229F12A31H (619) (1,574) (2,193)
Net book value: BREFE ¢
At December 31, 2021 R2021%F12A31H 392 1,067 1,459
At December 31, 2022 R2022%12A31H 311 851 1,162
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14 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED) 14 BEEE (&
Note: Htat -
Certain intangible assets of the Group were pledged as AEBMNETEREECEARITERERY
security for bank loans (see Note 23). Details are set out as R (RM3E23) - FHET -
follows:
As at December 31,
M12A831H
2022 2021
20224 20214
USD’ 000 USD’000
FEx FET
Intangible assets B EE 1,162 1,459
15 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 15 REBARNKRE
The following list contains the particulars of subsidiaries TREBIIARRET X ELERNEEES -
of the Company which principally affected the results, BENEBNNBRARFE - riERGHER
assets or liabilities of the Group. The class of shares REE - BRIESHEHA -
held is ordinary unless otherwise stated.
Place and Particulars of
date of issued and Proportion of
Company name establishment paid-in capital ownership interest Principal activities
RAER RIBER A BETREAERREE FrERRRL A TEER
Held by the  Held by a
Company  subsidiary
RABE WEBARESE
Chervon (China) Investment Co., Ltd. The PRC USD120,000,000 100% - Investment holding
(RE(RE)REBRAE) (Note (a)) August 2, 2016
Rl (B REBRAR (Hit(a) i 120,000,000% 7T 100% - REER
201658 A2H
Nanjing Chervon Industry Co., Ltd. The PRC USD265,000,000 100% - Production of tools,
(ERRERNBARDE) (Notes (a) and (b)) September 26, 1997 research and
development, sales
ARRERBERDA (Wit(a) R (b)) i 265,000,000 100% - EEIA -HE - HE
199749 A26H
Chervon (China) Trading Co., Ltd. The PRC USD6,200,000 - 100%  Sales of power tools
(RE(FRENEHBRAT) (Note (a) March 29, 2006 and outdoor power
equipment
R&(HE)BHERRE (Wit(a) i 6,200,000% 7T - 100% HEEHTARFHEN
200653 A29H B
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(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated))
(UZET[ETT 137 - BRIESEHEH)

15

INVESTMENTS

IN SUBSIDIARIES 15

RHBLRNKRE (&)

(CONTINUED)
Place and Particulars of
date of issued and Proportion of
Company name establishment paid-in capital ownership interest Principal activities
RAER Rt R A BEATREAEAREE FrERERLY) TERH
Held by the  Held by a
Company  subsidiary
ARAKE WELRKE
Chervon (China) Tools Sales Co., Ltd. The PRC Renminbi(*RMB") - 100%  Sales of power tools in
(FUE(RE) TAHEERAR) (Note (a)) June 28, 2010 66,506,700 the PRC
i (Bl TAHEBRAR (Mt (a) el ARBE(TARE]) - 100% REEHEEHIA
201046 H28H 66,506,7007C
Chervon (HK) Ltd. Hong Kong Hong Kong 100% - Trading and financial
November 8, 2010 Dollar ("HKD") management
5,000,000
K& (BE)BRAR i 5,000,000 100% - BALKER
201061788 (M)
Chervon Overseas Holdings Co., Ltd. Hong Kong USD7,148,520 100% - Investment holding
August 6, 2013
Chervon Overseas Holdings Co., Ltd. a5 7,148 520% 7T 100% - REER
201358 A6H
Chervon Industry (Vietnam) Company Limited ~ Vietnam Vietnamese Dongs - 100%  Production of gardening
January 21, 2020 ("VND") tools
46,600,000,000
REEX (B8)ERAF i 46,600,000,000 - 100% HEEBIA
2020%1A21R HEE(EEE])
Chervon Canada Inc. Canada CAD1,500,001 - 100%  Sales of power tools
October 31, 2016 and outdoor power
equipment
Chervon Canada Inc. mex 1,500,001 MEATT - 100% HEBHIARFNGNRE
2016108318
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15 INVESTMENTS

IN SUBSIDIARIES 15

RHBLRNKRE (&)

(CONTINUED)
Place and Particulars of
date of issued and Proportion of
Company name establishment paid-in capital ownership interest Principal activities
RAER RIBER A BEATREAEARESE FrERREL ) TERH
Held by the ~ Held by a
Company  subsidiary
RAABE WELRRE
Chervon Australia PTY Limited Australia AUD1,500,000 - 100%  Sales of power tools
July 31,2016 and outdoor power
equipment
Chervon Australia PTY Limited YN 1,500,000 7T - 100% HEZHTERPIEN
20167 A31A B
Chervon North America Inc. The United States USD300,000 - 100%  Research in the North
February 25, 2005 American market,
product design, sales
and services
Chervon North America Inc. e 300,000% T - 100% LEWEWE  EmEE
2005%2A25R HE LR
Flex Geschaftsfuhrungs GmbH Germany Euro(“EUR")25,000 - 100%  Investment holding
May 3, 2013
Flex Geschaftsfuhrungs GmbH 2 25,0008 7t ([BX7e)) - 100% HEER
2013F5A30
Flex Verwaltungs GmbH & Co., KG Germany EUR19,000,500 - 100%  Production of FLEX
May 22, 2013 brand, design, sales
and services
Flex Verwaltungs GmbH & Co., KG 2 19,000,5008( 7T - 100%  EEFLEX@IE « &
201355228 HERIRT
Flex-Elektrowerkzeuge GmbH Germany EUR3,580,100 - 100%  Production of FLEX
November 27, 1980 brand, design, sales
and services
Flex-Elektrowerkzeuge GmbH ZH 3,580,100 7T - 100%  EEFLEX@E - &G
1980411 A27H HERRE
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15

INVESTMENTS

IN SUBSIDIARIES 15

RHBLRNKRE (&)

(CONTINUED)
Place and Particulars of
date of issued and Proportion of
Company name establishment paid-in capital ownership interest Principal activities
RAER RIBER A BEATREAEAREE FrERERLY) TERH
Held by the  Held by a
Company  subsidiary
ARAKE WELRKE
Chervon GmbH Germany EUR25,000 - 100%  Sales of power tools
July 1, 2016 and outdoor power
equipment
Chervon GmbH 2 25,0001 - 100% HEEHTARPHYS
201657 A1H R
EGO Europe GmbH Germany EUR50,000 - 100%  Operation of EGO brand,
November 20, 2015 sales, and services
EGO Europe GmbH ZH 50,0008(T - 100% EEEGOmIE - S RRH
201511 208
Flex Elektrondradi, s.r.o The Czech Republic (CZK500,000 - 100%  Sales of power tools
June 18, 2008 and outdoor power
equipment
Flex Elektronéradi, s.r.0 RRHNE 500,000B(7T - 100% HEEHTARFHNESN
200856 184 #
Flex Italia S.r.l. Italy EUR50,000 - 100%  Sales of power tools
July 11, 2012 and outdoor power
equipment
Flex ltalia S.r . BAAH 50,0007 - 100% HEEHTARPHNEN
201267 A11A &
Flex Electroportatif Machines ET Accessoires  France EUR10,000 - 100%  Sales of power tools
July 11, 2012 and outdoor power
equipment
Flex Electroportatif Machines ET Accessoires ~ &E 10,0008 - 100% HEEHTERPIGN
20124 7A11R HiE
Flex Power Tools BVBA Belgium EUR95,167,585 - 100%  Sales of power tools
May 15, 2005 and outdoor power
equipment
Flex Power Tools BVBA il 95,167,58580T - 100% HEEHTARPHEN
2005F5A4158 i
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15 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 15 MRKEBATNKRE (&)

(CONTINUED)
Place and Particulars of
date of issued and Proportion of
Company name establishment paid-in capital ownership interest Principal activities
RRER RIBER A BEATREAEARESE FrERERLA TEER
Held by the ~ Held by a
Company  subsidiary
RAABE WELRRE
Flex Power Tools B. V. The Netherlands EUR31,800 - 100%  Sales of power tools
January 24,2012 and outdoor power
equipment
Flex Power Tools B. V. G 31,8001 - 100% HEEHTARPHEN
20121 248 B
Skil B.V. The Netherlands EUR50,000 - 100%  Do-It-Yourself business
August 12,2016 design in Europe,
operations and sales
Skil B.V. G 50,0008 7T - 100% BB EHHE
20168 A12R SERHEE
Flex Power Tools Ltd. The United Kingdom GBP1 - 100%  Sales of power tools
November 9, 2020 and outdoor power
equipment
Flex Power Tools Lid. B ES - 100% HEEHTARPHEN
2020511598 #
Flex Power Tools Middle East FZCO The United Arab AED2,000,000 - 70%  Sales of power tools
Emirates and outdoor power
April 13,2022 equipment
Flex Power Tools Middle East FZCO MRk A B RE 2,000,000 - 0% BEEHTARFHNES
202264 A13A #
Chervon Europe Limited The United Kingdom GBP1 - 100%  Sales of power tools
June 7,2007 and outdoor power
equipment
Chervon Europe Limited EE 1545 - 100% HEEBIARFHNGSN
200756 A7H Hi
Chervon NZ Subsidiary Limited New Zealand New Zealand Dollar - 100%  Sales of power tools
May 3, 2021 (“NZD")1,500,100 and outdoor power
equipment
Chervon NZ Subsidiary Limited Gl 1,500, 1005 BT - 100% HETHTARFHNEG D
2021%5A3H (ras]) &
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15

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

Notes:

(a) These entities are limited liability companies
established in the PRC. The official names of these
entities are in Chinese. The English translation of
the Company names is for identification purpose
only.

(b) On January 4, 2022, Nanjing Chervon Industry Co.,
Ltd. (AREWHEZEERAF]), a subsidiary of the
Company, completed the renaming process and
made its official name as Nanjing Chervon Industry

Co., Ltd. (AR RERHERAR).

None of the Group’s subsidiaries has a material non-
controlling interest.

15

IN=RRLET e IR

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated))
(UZETT [T /57 - BRI H59)

RHBLRNKRE (&)

Hit :

(a) ZEERBRAETERINEREMER
c REERNESBEATXEHE -
ARBENRBRERERIZA -

Ell

a}

(b) R2022F 1 4H » RAFRKME A A
MREAEEBRAAITK TERF
B OIRERAEREZERBRABERAD
Ej °

AEBEMANE QR EEHERERS
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(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZETT[FET 137 - BIESEIEH)

16 INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES 16 REEE AT RRES
The following list contains the particulars of the Group’s IR KRB EAEEE SRR
associate:
Proportion of ownership interest
as At December 31,2022
2022612331 AR ERE LA
Form of Place of Particulars of Group’s Held
business incorporation issued and effective by the  Held by a
Name of associate structure and business paid-up capital interest  Company subsidiary  Principal activities
EREIR BEATREH rEH WEAR

NGRS ERRERL  EBBE 53 EREE ARARA BE  TEER

Nanjing Chervon Auto Incorporated ~ The PRC Renminbi (“RMB") 24.51% - 24.51%  Manufacturing,
Precision Technology Co., 263,837,041 Research and
Ltd. (F’i/‘?\%ﬂf‘m@% R3] development
BRHBR L) (“Chervon and sales of auto
Auto Precwswn Technology”) parts
(Note)

HRRENERTR FEMEX L il? ARB(TAR%]) 24.51% - 2451% B HER
RABRAT ([ RERE 263,837,041 71 HERETRM
BRRA) (i)

Note: Htat -

Nanjing Chervon Auto Precision Technology Co., Ltd. Eﬁ7‘?\7?”%5ﬁ$%§%?§?ﬁfﬁifﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁé2012

was established in the PRC with limited liability on March F3A19B7EH IEJZZ?‘%EKE" FERE

19, 2012 and is principally engaged in the production, BB NEGREETHEHNEE - HE RH

sales and research and development of automotive power o HRMDE HIJ?J"\\L/M *ZZ P B (RER

systems and relevant components. Its shares are currently 5 : 603982.SH.)

listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code:

603982.SH).
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16

INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

Note: (continued)

In September 2016, the Group acquired 38.8% of the
equity interest in Chervon Auto Precision Technology from
Nanjing Chervon Industry Co., Ltd. of USD19,400,000
(RMB129,776,300 equivalent). In November 2016, Chervon
Auto Precision Technology reduced its registered capital
and the Group reduced its investment to RMB46,560,000
on a pro rata basis. In March 2017, the proportion of the
Group’s interest in Chervon Auto Precision Technology has
been diluted to 31.04% due to the new financing obtained
by Chervon Auto Precision Technology and further diluted
to 23.28% in April 2019 due to the listing of Chervon
Auto Precision Technology on Shanghai Stock Exchange.
In June 2020, the proportion of the Group’s interest in
Chervon Auto Precision Technology has been diluted to
23.10% due to the new issuance of shares and increased
to 23.12% due to the repurchase of the shares by Chervon
Auto Precision Technology in 2021.

In November 2022, the Group further purchased
18,111,000 shares of Chervon Auto Precision Technology
with a total subscription amount of RMB357,875,000
(USD50,340,000 equivalent) and the proportion of the
Group’s interest increased to 24.72%. In December 2022,
the proportion of the Group’s interest in Chervon Auto
Precision Technology has been diluted to 24.51% due to
the new issuance of shares.

The associate above is accounted for using the equity
method in the consolidated financial statements.

16

IN=RRLET e IR

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated))
(UZET[ETT 137 - BRIESEHEH)

REE QR ERE (&)

Hiat - (%)

20164F9 A + AL ELA19,400,000% 7T (48
ERARK129,776,3000) B R REREE
RN FHE RIE B RS E FR T 38.8 % AR AE ©
R2016F 11 A + RIETBEREEHEITHIRHR
MEAX  MAKEZLOIEREREEARE
46,560,000 ° 20173 A » AR RIERE
BERNRETRE  AEERRETERR
BT ERS L HIE B8 EE31.04% » WH 2019
FARARRERERBTRMN EEEHZSH
S EEE23.28% © 0202046 A ¢ A&
R R L T B B T A M 2 e I R BT R
BMEEE23.10% » WHE R IE/FBRERREMR
2021 FEEIRDMILINZE23.12% °

R2022F 11 A AERE—FSEERERSE
BRI 18,111,000 %% - WiEREAAR
#357,875,0007T (#8%& 7 50,340,000%7T)
NEBIER LI ZE24.72% R 2022F12
A REBERRERBEREE M6 &= 0 A
MEITRM B #EE£24.51% ©

ERFAABERRERE BB MRTIHIRAE

E/fTA% °

FRIBERARAT —E-_—FFR
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(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZETT[FET 137 - BIESEIEH)

16

188

INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED) 16

Summarized financial information of the material
associate, Chervon Auto Precision Technology,
adjusted for any differences in accounting policies,

EEBER

and a reconciliation to the carrying amount in the DK

consolidated financial statements are disclosed below:

B AT MR ()
25U 5 BT M B T
MERBRHREERETT B LRE
AHMBRETEESTLTHE  REW

December December
31, 2022 31, 2021
2022F 20214
12H31H 12H31H
USD’000 UsD’000
FEx FET
Gross amounts of Chervon Auto Precision RIESERBZRMESE
Technology’s
Current assets mEBEE 359,499 252,668
Non-current assets IEMENE E 546,475 294,726
Current liabilities BN EE (288,158) (182,628)
Non-current liabilities FEMBEAR (208,595) (77,171)
Equity = (409,221) (287,595)
Revenue 'ON 258,677 250,472
(Loss) /profit from continuing operations FIEREETS (B51R), I8 (23,243) 18,912
Other comprehensive income Hith 2wz 569 101
Total comprehensive income FHREREE (22,674) 19,013
Dividend received BB 510 540
Reconciled to the Group’s interest in HASERRIESERE
Chervon Auto Precision Technology B SEiR
Gross amounts of net assets of Chervon Auto  RI&FEFH M EEFE 409,221 287,595
Precision Technology RERE
Group’s effective interest AEBERER 24.51% 23.12%
Group’s share of net assets of Chervon Auto AEE N RIERBERER 100,278 66,492
Precision Technology it &EFE
Goodwill B 6,288 -
Carrying amount of in the consolidated RAEVBHREANRED 106,566 66,492
financial statements
Market value 5 {E 188,314 343,228
Group’s share of Chervon Auto Precision ARG [ R R R B R R
Technology's
(Loss)/profit from continuing operations BB RS (B1E),/ FE (5,543) 4,373
Other comprehensive income Hh 2w e 139 23
Deemed gain on dilution of interest in an WR BRI E R RN 53 35
associate T # B e
Total comprehensive (loss)/income 2HE (E518) Wa=iBsE (5,351) 4,431
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(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated))
(UZET[ETT 137 - BRIESEHEH)

17 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 17 UAREBE:IEBEH®ETAZHIE

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS mHNEmEE
As at December 31,
M12H31H
2022 2021
20224 20214
USD’000 USD’000
FEx FET
Financial assets at FVPL — non-current B\ QA REEFEBHBEH A
EHEENSRMEE — B
- Insurance product - {%Fﬁ%uﬁﬁ _______________________________ 6,202 6,011
Financial assets at FVPL — current RAREEFTEEESEHFTA
EHEXNEREE - Y
- Convertible bonds —AgEgREs 20,019 38,031
26,221 44,042
The Group’s non-current balances of financial assets at REBENURAREEAZAHZH A AZHE
FVPL represent a life insurance product issued by an EHERMEEMFFANBMEREBIEF =R
independent third-party insurance company. BRARIHELAASRBER °
The Group’s current balances of financial assets at REBPR2022F 2021 F 12 A1 HU AR
FVPL as at December 31, 2022 and 2021 represent BEEAEEHZHT A AEHEZNEREE
convertible bonds issued by Chervon Auto Precision KB AR A BRI R IS T B R BT TR P R
Technology trading securities which are held by the RES  AAEBEFEERSEH -
Group for trading purposes.
The analysis on the fair value measurement of the FHEAEEFREHEENAABETESD
Group's above financial assets is disclosed in Note MR EE R FI7E33(e) ©
33(e).
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(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZETT[FET 137 - BIESEIEH)

18 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 18 fT4£€mI A
As at December 31,
R12831H
2022 2021
2022F 20214
USD’ 000 UsD’000
FEx FET
Assets BE
— Foreign currency forward contracts (Note (i)  — SMERHIA L (A5 ()) 2,288 4,583
— Foreign currency option contracts (Note (i) — SN ERRES XY (MTaE () - 161
2,288 4,744
Liabilities =R
— Foreign currency forward contracts (Note (7))  — SMERHIE L (A1) 3,579 86
— Foreign currency option contracts (Note (i) — SN ERRES XY (M2 () 2 63
— Interest rate swap contract (Note (ii)) — RG89 (B 52 (i)) - 6
3,581 155

Notes: Htat -

() The Group entered into several foreign currency (i) REBBE FIRITRIL 7 & T INE = 5
forward contracts and foreign currency option BHRINEHRESH - Mﬁﬁﬁ,ﬁ\%;lfx
contracts with certain banks to mitigate the %E&@\ﬁ?ﬂﬁﬁ’]ﬁﬁ% K% P R
currency risk arising from certain of its bank loans EENEBRERE
and receivables denominated in USD and EUR.

(ii) The Group entered into an interest rate swaps (ii) REBERITEI L T FEIEHEL - A
contracts with bank to mitigate the risk of interest BIEE TRZBF R ENRITERE
rate fluctuation arising from certain bank loans at A B R RORE) RS o
floating interest rate.

The fair value changes of above derivative financial FilifTEERMI AN A BEEESNEMF

instruments were recognised in other net gains and Wzt RSB IER -

losses.

The analysis on the fair value measurement of the AL EeMEENARBESEDNHESE
above financial assets is disclosed in Note 33(e). M EE33(e) °
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19
(a)

INVENTORIES

Inventories in the consolidated statements of

financial position comprise:

IN=RRLET e IR

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated))
(UZETT [T /57 - BRI H59)

19 HFE
(a) HEAEUBRRRTWESEE:

As at December 31,

W12A31H
2022 2021
20224 20214
USD’000 USD’000
FEx FE
Raw materials R # 163,128 140,451
Consumables JHFEM 7,862 6,565
Semi-finished goods F K 29,049 53,354
Finished goods X oh 416,944 399,088
616,983 599,458
Write down of inventories FEMR (16,984) (7,434)
599,999 592,024
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(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZETT[FET 137 - BIESEIEH)

19 INVENTORIES (CONTINUED) 19

(b) The analysis of the amount of inventories (b)
recognized as an expense and included in profit
or loss is as follows:

F& (%)

BRABEIRTABEZENEFESE I TN
T :

Year ended December 31,
HE12A31ALLEE

2022 2021
20224 20214
USD’ 000 UsD’000
E FET

Carrying amount of inventories sold EEFERAE
Written-off of inventories FEMOR
Provision for write-down of inventories FEMOR B

1,385,407 1,263,276
(2,698) (3,016)
12,248 4,803

1,394,957 1,265,063

All inventories are expected to be recovered within one
year.

(c) Certain inventories of the Group were pledged as (c)
security for bank loans (see Note 23). Details are
set out as follows:

FBFERA BN —FARKE -

FEENETFEEERRTERERY
R (RKEE23) - FERIAOT -

As at December 31,

M12A318
2022 2021
20224 20214
USD’ 000 UsSD’000
X FET
Inventories FE 177,596 124,040
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(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated))
(UZET[ETT 137 - BRIESEHEH)

20

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 20 EZRWFEREREE
As at December 31,
A12A318
2022 2021
20224 20214
Note USD’000 UsD’000
k23 SEET FET
Trade debtors and bills receivable, ESRERREREKREE
net of loss allowance MREERE
— measured at amortised cost — IRESER AN AT 2 (i)
Trade receivables B 5 WA 168,017 168,880
Bills receivables K EE 1,174 10,945
169,191 179,825
- measured at FVOCI —UAR{EBENEEEEE) (ii)
sTAEMEE KSR E
Trade receivables B 5 FEWRIE 51,029 118,554
220,220 298,379

All of the trade and bills receivables are expected to be

recovered within one year.

Bills receivable primarily represent short-term bank
acceptance notes receivable that entitle the Group
to receive the full face amount from the banks at
maturity, which generally ranges from 3 to 12 months
from the date of issuance. Historically, the Group had

A o

experienced no credit losses on bills receivable.

FRIBERARAT —E-_—FFR

=y S EE
AX ST 7=

A EE

FT A B 5 BURIA R B R B IEFH R —F

FEUL 22 45 = 25 B, T A 5 (B4 ) DA A B BR B
B ERTTUR 1 B BR Y 2 SR EE A FE U HA SR 1T
BRTEBERITASRAE
3ZE12M8A - B AEBRBIERREE
HIREEBENER
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(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZETT[FET 137 - BIESEIEH)

20 TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 20 ESZEWFREREKER (&)

(CONTINUED)

(i) As at December 31, 2022, certain trade debtors () M2022%12 4311 + 78,862,0003%
of USD78,862,000 (2021: USD81,562,000) were JC (20214 : 81,562,000 7T) &
pledged as securities for bank loans of the TE S RUGIEE DRI EHRIEAR
Group (see Note 23). SEERITERER (RFE23) -

(i) Certain amounts of the Group’s trade debtors (i) AEBUAABENEAEEEZHTA
and bill receivables measured at FVOCI are HEfh 2z E 5 KR IE & EIR
trade debtors factored to banks in accordance EENETESERRBEYGIEEE
with receivables purchase agreements. These R MIRITRIZRE 5 FEUGRIE © 5t
factored trade debtors were held for both WEE DR RIEEFEZFER
collection of contractual cash flows and sales. EHEZEKGIE - B S EKGRIER
The contractual cash flows of the trade debtors AHERSRERERBNR - ARE
comprised solely payments of principal and BEEHNREMIE WS AER - W8
interest. Changes in fair value are recognised HEEBERNERAER -
in other comprehensive income, except for the
recognition in profit or loss of ECLs.

Aging analysis BRIER 20 AT

As of the end of the reporting period, the aging analysis HERETHR  EREZABHRINKREERR

of trade and bills receivables, based on the invoice HHE 5 EUGRIE R EREE R BRI DT

date and net of loss allowance, is as follows: N

As at December 31,
MW12A31H
2022 2021
20224 20214
USD’000 UsSD’000
ST FET

Within 6 months 6EAA 166,216 175,598

Over 6 months but within 12 months 6{E A A FER121E A RN 2,650 3,731

Over 12 months 12{@ A A _E 325 496

169,191 179,825

Trade and bills receivables are due within 30 — 180
days from the date of billing. Further details on the
Group’s credit policy and credit risk arising from trade
and bills receivables are set out in Note 33(a).
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(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated))

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 21

RECEIVABLES

(AZET [T IT - B = EEE)

BANRE RESRAMERRE

The Group AEE As at December 31,
MW12831H
2022 2021
20224 20214
USD’000 UsSD’000
FEx FET
Current IRt
Value added tax recoverable AU [l B R 11,165 34,358
Other tax recoverable E ftb aJ Ug Bl 7 18 2,240 495
Prepayments for: BT TR FUE
Materials and expenses R R S 61,911 5,445
Advances to employee M{EEEH A ERN 1,116 865
Other deposits and receivables HaRE e M EWFRTE 2,222 2,140
78,654 43,303
Less: loss allowance B R - -
78,654 43,303
Non-current JERNHA
Prepayments for properties, plants and Y~ BB REEBTEN KA 3,224 9,709
equipment
Advances to staff Mg EEH BN 2,627 2,382
5,851 12,091
The Company b /N As at December 31,
M12H31H
2022 2021
2022 20214
USD’000 USD’000
FEx FE=1
Current BN ER
Amounts due from subsidiaries JEYHT B A B RUA 269,539 8,235

All of prepayments, deposits and other receivables
current balances are expected to be recovered or

recognized as expense within one year.

BNHE - RES AR FIAN AR
HISE IR BN — F AR B S ER R -
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(CESHAES AL = E L))

22 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 22

PLEDGED DEPOSITS

BeRRcEBYUREERER

(a) Cash and cash equivalents comprise: (a) HERBELZEEYEE:
As at December 31,
R12A831H
2022 2021
20224 20214
USD’ 000 UsSD’000
qFESm FET
Cash at bank R{TR S 466,654 664,926
Cash in hand FHEB® 59 64
466,713 664,990
Notes: et -
As at 31 December 2022, cash and cash equivalents MR2022%F12A31H iR FEAEIRE
situated in Mainland China amounted to USD227,992,000 LIREEEYEF /227,992,000 5T (2021
(2021: USD222,560,000). Remittance of funds out of 1 222,560,000%7T) © & L FE A
Mainland China is subject to relevant rules and regulations EESTINEEFIBERESE -
of foreign exchange control.
(b) Pledged deposits comprise: (b) EREREE:
As at December 31,
M12A31H
2022 2021
20224 20214
USD’000 USD’000
TEx FET
Pledged deposits for EARTF R
- issuance of bills payable — BITENEE 5,155 21,816
— issuance of banking facilities — BEERITRLE 31,340 26,524
36,495 48,340

The pledged deposits will be released upon the
settlement of letters of credit and bills payable and by
the Group or the expiry of relevant banking facilities.

196 Chervon Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022

ERERBERAEEEEEARNENRE
SHARBAIRTTRLE B HIR AR -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

22

(c)

4=\ H

V5 R B o

wIN [ 7

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated))
(UZET[ETT 137 - BRIESEHEH)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 22
PLEDGED DEPOSITS (CONTINUED)

Reconciliation of profits before taxation to cash (c)

generated from operations

BB A HREERERENH K

RERBREESEYRECERER (R)

Year ended December 31,

BE12ANALEE
2022 2021
20225 20214
Note USD’000 USD’000
i3 S T£n
Profit before taxation BRI 161,390 176,098
Adjustments for: HE:
Depreciation of properties, plants and equipment 0% BERIENE 6(c) 25,270 23,211
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 6(c) 10,091 6,330
Depreciation of investment property RENENE 6(c) - 37
Amortization of intangible assets EVEERSE 6(c) 584 296
Net finance costs gy et 6(a) 22,265 16,617
Share of losses/(profits) of associates ElEBenaEE/(FE) 16 5,490 (4,408)
Net losses on disposal of properties, ﬁ@%% BEREENEETE 5(b) 176 238
plants and equipment
Net unrealized gains on convertible bonds TBRREFRERNEFE 5b) 15,280 (19,230)
Net realized and unrealized gains on financial DA BEGFEREEEFARH 5b) (1,654) (1,190)
assets at FVPL other than convertible bonds Tﬁ M HEENBERRE
""""" BRI TE (TRRERRN)
Net realized and unrealized loss/(gain) on TESRIEHNCEERAER 5b) 23,297 (10,129)
derivative financial instruments BB/ ()38
Loss on disposal of an associate HE-—RBEARNEE 5b) - 677
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE-RHBARMLES 5(b) - (21,969)
(Reversal)/provision for impairment loss on B REMENEN R ESE 6(c) 1,401 278
trade and other receivables (BmE)/ %M
Provision for write-down of inventories HFEMRAE 6(c) 12,248 4,803
Amortization of deferred income Bt (93) 99
Foreign exchange (gain)/loss X () EE (4,185) 11,838
Operating profit before changes in EEESHBANEENR 271,560 183,596
working capital
Decrease/(increase) in pledged deposits BAGEHRD)/%m 16,661 (10,057)
Increase in inventories FEEM (17,525) (305,131)
Decrease/(increase) in trade and bills receivables BHRIGIE R EREER D /() 63,753 (44,289)
Increase in prepayments, deposits and BERFIE  RES REMREREEEN (35,086) (3,003)
other receivables
(Increase)/decrease in right to returned goods asset R EZEMER (2i)/ HD (1,344) 2,545
(Decrease)/increase in rade payables BRRMATE R/ £l (218,800) 265,723
(Decrease)fincrease in other payables and accruals ~ EtERFEREHER (i), 210 (40,212) 75,206
Increase in warranty provision RIEREEN 5,208 6,057
Increase/(decrease) in refund liabilities from EREFINEREREN/(BD) 2,180 (3,966)
right of return
Decrease in defined benefit retirement REBHERAEETRD (56) (76)
plans obligation
Cash generated from operations mEmsRe 46,339 166,605
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(CESHAES AL = E L))

22 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 22 Ha2RkEASEEYKSEHAER(E)
PLEDGED DEPOSITS (CONTINUED)
(d) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (d) ®BEETBELENEBEHE
activities
The table below details changes in the Group's TRHFLTASEERERHELNEEN
liabilities from financing activities, including both cash 28 (BRASKIFRTEY) - RELTHE
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing Emﬁffﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬁ%iﬁi%fﬁﬁﬁiﬁ$
activities are liabilities for which cash flows were, or EireRemERNE s BHF I EAK
future cash flows will be, classified in the Group's Q REEHNESRENAE -
consolidated cash flow statements as cash flows from
financing activities.
Bank Interest Lease
loans payable liabilities Total
BITEN EAFIE HEAE ‘st
USD’ 000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’ 000
TER TER TER TEn
(Note 23) (Note 26) (Note 24)
(Hf3223) (Kfi226) (Biet24)
At January 1, 2021 M2021F1 818 337,861 3,062 16,678 357,601
Changes from financing cash flows: BER&HELE :
Proceeds from bank loans RITERAEFIE 643,132 - - 643,132
Repayment of bank loans BERTER (552,355) - - (552,355)
Capital element of lease rentals paid BERHEERSMNELRS - - (5,454) (5,454)
Interest element of lease rentals paid ENHEERSHFEDD - - (878) (878)
Interest paid BERFLE - (19,702) - (19,702)
Total changes from financing cash flows BEAR & RELEEE 90,777 (19,702) (6,332) 64,743
Exchange adjustments ERRAR 5,008 602 40 5,650
Other changes: Hin 25 :
Increase in lease liabilities from FRIUFHHEEER - - 11,971 11,971
entering into new leases MEAEEM
during the year
Interest expenses (Note 6(a)) FEHZ (f1i26(a) - 16,790 878 17,668
Total other changes Hin S E)EE - 16,790 12,849 29,639
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(d)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND
PLEDGED DEPOSITS (CONTINUED)

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing

activities (continued)

IN=RRLET e IR

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated))
(UZETT [T /57 - BRI H59)

22 RERASEEYRECERER (H)

(d) ®BEIBELENEEHIRE

Bank Interest Lease
loans payable liabilities Total
RITER EAFIE HEAE @gt

USD’ 000 UsD’ 000 USD’ 000 USD’ 000
TEn Txn TR TERT

(Note 23) (Note 26) (Note 24)

(Kfi£23) (Hizt26) (Kfit24)

At December 31, 2021 and M2021512831B R 433,646 752 23,235 457,633
January 1, 2022 2022%F181H
Changes from financing cash flows: RER&FELEH :
Proceeds from bank loans RITEFAEHIE 493,951 - - 493,951
Repayment of bank loans BBBTER (593,910) - - (593,910)
Capital element of lease rentals paid ENEEREMNERTH - - (8,755) (8,755)
Interest element of lease rentals paid ERHERSNT S - - (952) (952)
Interest paid BERFE - (12,570) - (12,570)
Total changes from financing cash flows BAE & RESEEE (99,959) (12,570) (9,707) (122,236)
Exchange adjustments EHFAR (4,194) - (1,252) (5,446)
Other changes: Hit2g
Increase in lease liabilities from FRRTUHHEEEEN - - 8,815 8,815
entering into new leases HEEEEM
during the year
Interest expenses (Note 6(a)) FBHZ (f1i26(a) - 12,267 952 13,219
Total other changes Hith & EaEsE - 12,267 9,767 22,034
At December 31, 2022 2022 12H31H 329,493 449 22,043 351,985
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(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZETT[FET 137 - BIESEIEH)

22 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 22 HREeRREZEYRCEHERE)
PLEDGED DEPOSITS (CONTINUED)

(e) Total cash flow for leases (e) HEBRSREHAREE
Amounts included in the cash flow statement for leases FFAAHERSRERNSBBEENTSE

comprise the following:

Year ended December 31,
BZE12A31BLEE

2022 2021
20224 20214
USD’ 000 UsSD’000
SPEETE FEx
Within operating cash flows REEBEEREN 2,082 2,326
Within financing cash flows RREHREREN 9,707 6,332
11,789 8,658
These amounts relate to the following: FZEFIRETYXIAAR

Year ended December 31,
BZ12A31BLEE

2022 2021

20224 20214

USD’000 USD’000

FE5x FET

Lease rentals paid ENHEERES 11,789 8,658
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4= A

IN=RRLET e IR

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated))
(UZET[ETT 137 - BRIESEHEH)

22

()

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 22

PLEDGED DEPOSITS (CONTINUED)

Disposal of interests in subsidiaries

As at 31 December 2021, the Group disposed its

interests in certain subsidiaries in the PRC.

Aggregate of assets and liabilities at the date of

disposal over which control was lost:

RERBREESEYRECERER (R)

(f) HERWEBARANES

R2021F1A31H  AEERE TERFEH

PO A RS -

G

REERHEREEHENEERAGBLR

December 31,

2021

2021%F12A31H

(Notes (i)&(ii))

(B1E(i) R (ii))

USD’000

FER

Properties, plants and equipment W - BB RFE 118
Investment property WEMHE 1,231
Financial assets at FVPL AR EEEAEEE A 444

BENeRmEE

Interest in a subsidiary R—RIH B AR RS 672
Cash bk 925
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TERNRIE - RES REMERFIE 12,054
Other payables and accruals HAbFE RIB R EETE A (2,184)
Non-controlling interests IR = (1,564)
Net assets disposed EHEEEFE 11,696

Gains on disposal of interests in subsidiaries:

8 OB B R PR 3

December 31,
2021
2021%F12H31H
uUsSD’000

FER

Consideration
Net assets disposed of

RE
BEHEEEFE

33,665
(11,696)

Gains on disposal of interests in subsidiaries
(Note 5(b))

B BT B A BRI 2R R Uk 25
(Ht5t5(b))

21,969

RIEEEARA
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(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZETT[FET 137 - BIESEIEH)

22 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 22
PLEDGED DEPOSITS (CONTINUED)
(f) Disposal of interests in subsidiaries (continued) (f)

Analysis of net cash in respect of the disposal of

BeRReSEYRCEAFR (F)

HERKE QA ER (/)
BRLENMBARMNEDNFRE DTN

interests in subsidiaries is as follows: N
December 31,
2021
2021F12H31H
USD’000
FEx
Consideration RE 33,665
Less: cash disposed of B EHERS (925)
Proceeds received for disposal of interests B ERHE LD A MRS KR 32,740
in subsidiaries FTiS 508
Notes: K1t -

(i On February 24, 2021, the Group has entered into
an agreement with Chervon Management Services,
which is a related party wholly-owned by Mr. Pan
Longquan. Pursuant to the agreement, the Group
agreed to transferred 85% equity interest in Nanjing
Chervon International Trading Co., Ltd. to Chervon
Management Services for a cash consideration of
RMB47,813,800 (USD7,351,000 equivalent). The
consideration was determined with reference to the
valuation of Nanjing Chervon International Trading
Co., Ltd. performed by independent valuation firm.

(ii) On February 25, 2021, the Group has entered into
an agreement with Chervon Management Services,
which is a related party wholly-owned by Mr. Pan
Longquan. Pursuant to the agreement, the Group
agreed to transferred 100% equity interest in
Nanjing Jiuhao Electromechanical Industry Co.,
Ltd. to Chervon Management Services for a cash
consideration of RMB171,160,100 (USD26,314,000
equivalent). The consideration was determined
with reference to the valuation of Nanjing Jiuhao
Electromechanical Industry Co., Ltd. performed by
independent valuation firm. The registration of the
transfer was completed on March 8, 2021, upon
which Nanjing Jiuhao Electromechanical Industry
Co., Ltd. ceased to be the Group’s subsidiary.
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MR2021F2H248 - "EBE EEEE
REEZEHRBOEE 5 REEERS
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AREHBERAREEBEEZERARRRE
WIEEERE -
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REEZEHRBOEE 5 REETERS
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EREREREREEERBRATN
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23

NP ET e

P 5

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated))
(UZET[ETT 137 - BRIESEHEH)

BANK LOANS 23 RITEX
The maturity profile for the interest-bearing bank loans REBRAARNGERITEFN S RED
of the Group and the Company at the end of each REOZEEFERET -
reporting period is as follows:
As at December 31,
M12H31H
2022 2021
2022F 20214
USD’000 USD’000
FEx FET
Short-term bank loans ESRTTE R 133,480 367,856
Current portion of long-term bank loans RAESRITERABNEREE 5 59,424 57,092
Within 1 year or on demand 1FRIEER 192,904 424,948
After 1 year but within 2 years 1FEER2FR 101,042 784
After 2 years but within 5 years 2EFEBENSER 34,471 5,880
More than 5 years HBiB5F 1,076 2,034
136,589 8,698
329,493 433,646
At the end of each reporting period, the bank loans REREHAR - BITERERRBEREAT -
were secured and guaranteed as follows:
As at December 31,
M®12A831H
2022 2021
2022F 20214
USD’ 000 UsD’000
FEx FET
Bank loans RITERK
— Secured — HiEF 64,007 40,287
- Secured and guaranteed — BEFAER 150,762 150,570
— Guaranteed — BER 81,802 241,931
- Unsecured and unguaranteed — EE IR AR 32,922 858
329,493 433,646
REZEBBRAR —T-_FFRK 203
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(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZETT[FET 137 - BIESEIEH)

204

23 BANK LOANS (CONTINUED) 23 RITEFR(E)

Notes: KBia -

(i) The Group’s bank loans were secured by certain (i) REBOBRITERUAEENETEE
assets of the Group. An analysis of the carrying TEH I - EZ%%EE’]EEEE TR ¢
value of these assets is as follows:

As at December 31,

H12831H
2022 2021
20224 20214F
USD’ 000 USD’000
FEx FE
Plants and buildings (Note 12) BB REF (Kat12) 48,145 44,226
Leasehold land (Note 13) HELTH (H3F13) 22,779 25,487
Intangible assets (Note 14) B EE (Mt 14) 1,162 1,459
Inventories (Note 19) FE (K 19) 177,596 124,040
Trade and bills receivables (Note 20) & 5 FEW KA K FERE & (H17720) 78,862 81,562
Pledged deposits (Note 22(b)) EIIRTFR (K5E22(b)) 31,340 26,524
Other assets Hih &z 7,923 4,252
367,807 307,550
24 LEASE LIABILITIES 24 HEAE

At the end of the reporting periods, the lease liabilities

were repayable as follows:

RBEHMR HEABEREEBERNT :

As at December 31,

MW12A318
2022 2021
20224 20214
USD’ 000 USD’'000
S FEr
Within 1 year 1R 7,583 6,114
After 1 year but within 2 years 1FBER2FR 5,152 5,564
After 2 years but within 5 years 2FBBNEFR 5,873 6,776
After 5 years 5% 1% 3,435 4,781
14,460 17,121
22,043 23,235
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25

TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES

25

IN=RRLET e IR

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated))

(CESHES A == F D)

ESRNREREMNRE

As at December 31,

A12A318
2022 2021
20224 20214
USD’ 000 USD'000
SFEaTR FE7
Trade payables 2 5 e IE 271,020 468,073
Bills payable i ANE2 23,432 45179
294,452 513,252

As of the end of the reporting period, the aging analysis
of trade and bills payables, based on the invoice date,

is as follows:

BHERSHR  ERBERAHNEZ BN

ARENZEARESTOT

As at December 31,

M12A318
2022 2021
2022 F 20214
USD’000 USD’000
TFEEm FET
Within 3 months 3EAMA 220,610 458,426
3 to 12 months 3Z=12{@A 73,842 54,826
294,452 513,252

All of the trade and bills payables are expected to be
settled within one year or repayable on demand.

MEESENFIBARENRERR; BN —F

PR BRI -

RIEZEBRARAT — B _FFR
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=R RLET ek

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZETT[FET 137 - BIESEIEH)

26 OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

26 HMENTRERETER

As at December 31,

R12831H
2022 2021
20224 20214
USD’ 000 UsD’000
F=E FE7
Other payables and accrued charges (Note) — EAbFEf AN B2 (FaF) 134,753 165,628
Salaries, wages, bonus and benefits payable [Eff#EH& ~ TE « {E4A REF 25,355 28,976
Payables for purchase of properties, plants BEWE  REMERED 5,393 2,912
and equipment FERTFRIE
Interest payables FERFILE 449 752
Other tax payables HEaFiE 11,216 7,136
177,166 205,404
All of the other payables and accruals are expected to Ffr*ﬁ_E‘rlﬂﬂ’iﬁ%ﬁﬁ&ﬂg%%)ﬂﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁé—i
be settled within one year or repayable on demand. NEE N BIRERER
Note: Het -
Other payables and accrued charges primarily comprise HthENFELRES SN T EZREEHEES
accruals for marketing and advertising fee, utility expenses, BA - DRFEEMAY  REBREMHASZAE
service fee and other expenses. FEA -
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27

(a)

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Current taxation in the consolidated statements

of financial position represents:

IN=RRLET e IR

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated))
(UZET[ETT 137 - BRIESEHEH)

27 HZEMBRRARPHOFEHR
(a) HREMBMRERFHENABIRE -

As at December 31,

MW12H31H
2022 2021
20224 20214
USD’ 000 USD’000

SFEag FEx
At the beginning of the year REF] (293) 15,347
Provision for the year: FREE
- PRC Corporate Income Tax — B EMEH (3,034) (5,547)
- Hong Kong Profits Tax — BENEN (16,207) (12,627)
— Income tax for tax jurisdictions outside — PR RBEBRINGE EE (8,038) (6,696)

PRC and Hong Kong EEENMEH
Over-provision in respect of prior years ERABRTFERBERE 28 56
Tax paid: BEAHIE -
- PRC Corporate Income Tax — REERER 2,591 12,351
- Hong Kong Profits Tax — BENEN 16,754 7,555
— Income tax for tax jurisdictions outside — PR RBEBRINGE FE 9,081 3,677
PRC and Hong Kong EEEMNMEN

Tax refund EIERIE (5,151) (15,179)
Exchange adjustment M H PR (257) 770
At the end of the year RER (4,526) (293)
Represented by: 18
Taxation recoverable AU [ % TE 5,184 7,958
Taxation payable FERIBIIE (9,710) (8,251)

(4,526) (293)
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(CESHAES AL = E L))

27

(b)

208

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 27 #MREMBRERPHOAEH (F)

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(CONTINUED)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognized (b) CRERNELZEHBEEEREER:

represents:

(i) The components of deferred tax assets (i) RERE BN R RERAELER A
recognized in the consolidated statements of BEMEKRBY REAEEHINT -
financial position and the movements are as
follows:

Fair value

change of

financial

Defined assets at

benefit FVPL and

Provision  Unrealized retirement derivative

forasset profits on Deductible  Deferred  Accrued plans financial
impairment inventories tax losses income  expenses obligation Leases instruments Total

UAREE

fEEH

-E DN

EBBEN

SHEER

RERH kX

B AER WO il IEHR
RERE FENE  WEEE  BEWA  EHEX  SHESH HE ABEED Eh
USD’'000  USD’000  USD'000  USD'000  USD'000  USD'000  USD’'000  USD'000  USD'000
TER Tin iR FEn Tin iR FEn i FER

At January 1, 2021 R2021E181A 2,260 11,860 5,506 622 3,698 181 7 44 24,178

Recognized in profit or loss ~ RERAER 487 5226 (2,183) (15) (288) - 7 (63) 3,201

Recognized in other RERZERER - - - - - 13 - - 13

comprehensive income Bl

Exchange adjustment EH A% (265) - (237) 14 (29) 3 - - (514)

At December 31,2021 and 52021512318 K 2482 17,086 3,116 621 3,381 197 14 (19) 26878

January 1, 2022 202241818
Recognized in profitor loss B 2,097 5,873 (1,462) 1) @5m) - 20 613 4,493
Recognized in other REBZERER - - - = = (52) = = (52)
comprehensive income R
Exchange adjusiment EHAR (104) - (193) (53) n) (18) 2 1 (440)
At December 31, 2022 12000512 A31E 4415 22,959 1,461 557 73 127 32 595 30879
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27

(b)

AN
#rek

V5 R B o

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated))
(UZET[ETT 137 - BRIESEHEH)

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 27 SZEHMBERRERBDWFAESH (&)
STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(CONTINUED)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognized (b) CERREMNEEHRBEEREER @ (F)

represents: (continued)

(i) The components of deferred tax liabilities (i) AR
recognized in the consolidated statements of afE

financial position and the movements are as

follows:

Fair value

change of

financial assets

Depreciation at FVPL and

B BARER AR IR TR A
ARCER D R EREFHMT

of properties, derivative
plants, and financial ~ Undistributed

equipment instruments profits Total

A REETE

BHESEFHHA

ERBRENeR

BERITESH

n¥- -BER IENAARER
RENE 25 AOBAE @it
UsD’ 000 USD’ 000 USD’ 000 USD’ 000
TER TER SE TER
At January 1, 2021 M202151H18 (1,958) (2,718) (4,353) (9,029)
Recognized in profit or loss B AR 54 (2,180) (2,638) (4,764)
Exchange adjustment AR (45) (68) (171) (284)
At December 31, 2021 and 20215128318 R (1,949) (4,966) (7,162) (14,077)

January 1, 2022 2022F1R1H
Recognized in profit or loss REZE MR (3,636) 4,160 122 646
Exchange adjustment R A% 280 290 604 1,174
At December 31, 2022 12022612 A31H (5,305) (516) (6,436) (12,257)
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(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZETT[FET 137 - BIESEIEH)

27

(b)

(c)

210

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 27 #HKREUERRRPHOFEH (E)
STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(CONTINUED)
Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognized (b) CERREMNEEHRBEEREER & (E)
represents: (continued)
(iiiy  Reconciliation to the consolidated statements of (iiiy  BEEEPBARRNRAEER
financial position:
As at December 31,
M12A318
2022 2021
20224 20214
USD’000 UsSD’000
FEx FET
Net deferred tax assets recognized RERE B S AR R R N TR A IR 30,879 26,878
in the consolidated statements of HEEEFE
financial position
Net deferred tax liabilities recognized RERE BB R AR IR T (12,257) (14,077)
in the consolidated statements of HEBEFE
financial position
18,622 12,801
Deferred tax assets not recognized (c) HMAEBRNELZEHREEE

In accordance with the accounting policy set out in
Note 2(t), the Group did not recognize deferred tax
assets of USD8,681,000 as at December 31, 2022
(2021: USD8,239,000), in respect of cumulative tax
losses USD38,524,000 as at December 31, 2022 (2021:
USD36,436,000). It was not probable that future taxable
profits against which the losses can be utilized will be
available in the relevant tax jurisdiction and entities.
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27

(d)

28

IN=RRLET e IR

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated))
(UZET[ETT 137 - BRIESEHEH)

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 27 #HGREMBRERPHOAEH (F)
STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(CONTINUED)
Deferred tax liabilities not recognized (d) HRERVWELZHEERE
At December 31, 2022, the Group did not recognize M2022F12A318  ARETEFEAEH
deferred tax liabilities of USD14,653,000 (2021: M@ ARAAI 2 IERAE111,994,000E T
USD12,167,000), in respect of distributable profits of (20214 : 115,946,000 1) ERIELEFR 1B
the Group’s subsidiaries amounted to USD111,994,000 B81514,653,0003 7T (20214 : 12,167,000
(2021: USD115,946,000), respectively. As the Group ET) c HRAEEZEFEZEWNBEAFTMN
controls the timing of the reversal of temporary RKORFMBEEENYEREZERLNERE - B
differences associated with undistributed profits of HEwETR A BRRRTRATEDRASE
its subsidiaries and it has been determined that it =BT 8 A & BT B ELAY R 9 R BB B | T B
is probable that certain portion of the undistributed o Bk - R2022F12 /8318 @ #ERER
profits earned by the Group's subsidiaries will not LR KA BE R AT B R R 2R 99 R A9 R 99 Ik A
be distributed in the foreseeable future, therefore no HEENELEHIBEAE -
deferred tax liabilities arisen from above mentioned
undistributed profits not probable to be distributed in
the foreseeable future was recognized as at December
31, 2022.
WARRANTY PROVISION 28 RIEEHE
Total
st
USD’000
FER
At January 1, 2021 H2021%1A1H 45,950
Provision in the year FEEE 24,514
Utilization of provision A RE (18,457)
Exchange adjustment RS (61)
At December 31, 2021 and January 1, 2022 R2021F 12 A31H &2022F1A1H 51,946
Provision in the year FEEE 35,753
Utilization of provision EAEE (30,545)
Exchange adjustment TE i Fa % (65)
At December 31, 2022 R2022F 12 A31H 57,089
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(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZETT[FET 137 - BIESEIEH)

28 WARRANTY PROVISION (CONTINUED) 28

Reconciliation to the consolidated statements of
financial position:

RIEEHE (&)
BERA M BN EZAOLER

As at December 31,

M12H31A
2022 2021
20224F 20214
USD’000 USD’'000
TEx FET
Warranty provision — current RIERHE — BV 19,030 19,655
Warranty provision — non-current RIS — JERNER 38,059 32,291
57,089 51,946

Under the terms of the Group’s sales agreements, the
Group will rectify any product defects arising within
two or three years of the date of sale. The warranty
provision represents management’s best estimate of
the Group’s service commitments arising from products
sold, based on past claims.

IRIEAN S B A 35 W 1R - AN BBALIE
HEARMERMA=ZFAEENEAERR
- REBBEEEBENBERRBEAE
B & E mE SN RIS ASE T EH B R =
flist e

29 REFUND LIABILITIES FROM RIGHT OF 29 REEREFHNENRERE

RETURN

Total

#atr

USD’ 000

FEx

At January 1, 2021 MR20214181H 8,218

Provision in the year FEEE 8,639

Utilization of provision AR (12,605)

At December 31, 2021 and January 1, 2022 R2021F 12 A31 B & 202241 81H 4,252

Provision in the year FEEREG 23,809

Utilization of provision EyARE (21,629)

At December 31, 2022 202212 A31H 6,432
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29

30

31
(a)

REFUND LIABILITIES FROM RIGHT OF
RETURN (CONTINUED)

Under the terms of the Group’s sales agreements,
the Group will rectify any product return arising within
six months of the date of sale. The refund liabilities
represent management’'s best estimate of the Group's
service commitments arising from products sold, based
on past experiences.

DEFERRED INCOME

As at December 31, 2022, deferred income represented
unamortized conditional government grants amounting
to USD3,709,000 (2021: USD4,150,000), for land
levelling compensation.

EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS
Defined benefit retirement plans obligation

The Group has defined benefit retirement plans
(“Plans”) for its employees in the German subsidiaries.

The Group provides pension benefits for those
employees who retire in the form of life-long annuities.
These are in-line with usual German market practice
and do not constitute any unusual or company-specific
risks or require any specific regulatory framework to be
taken into account. The costs of the Plans are solely
funded by the Group.

The calculation is performed by qualified staff of Kern
Mauch & Kollegen GmbH, an independent actuarial
firm. The actuarial valuations of the defined benefit
retirement obligation were performed in accordance
with HKAS 19 “Employee Benefits” by actuaries using
the projected unit credit method.

29

30

31
(a)

IN=RRLET e IR

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated))

(AZET [T IT - B = EEE)

ROEMNNRAREE ()

IR A R L 5 6 R K - ARG TE
1 B A1 7 8 A PO A O E A28 R -
A EEEEEER B AR AR A
B A R 0 TR TS AR IR T f 1 O
it o

R2022%F12H31H  IEIEWRFHIEE

T TR E W RSB &R
3,709,0003E 7T (20214 : 4,150,000%7T) ©

B ERIKEF
RERAMBAKTEIRS

AEBEREREENBARNESSERE
BARARETE (T5HE1)) -

AEBUKEFEOEARRKERERMER
RERA - = —RNBETSME 30
ATEREMETARRFERRIERE
BEMFENEEER - ABKATEZHA
SEBAT

AETVABILEE AFKern Mauch &
Kollegen GmbHH) & &% B T#1T - AER
MERAEBNBEGERBEMEATRRE
UEEERBEESGTEREZ19%[EER
FIEATT -
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(UZETT[FET 137 - BIESEIEH)

31 EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS 31 EERKER (&)

(CONTINUED)

(a) Defined benefit retirement plans obligation (a) HREBAEKTERKE (&)

(continued)

(i) The amounts recognized in the consolidated (i) REEPTBERRRPERN SN
statement of financial position are as follows: N
As at December 31,
MW12H31H
2022 2021
20224 20214F
USD’000 USD’000
GFEEn FET
Present value of defined benefit AEBFRRETEIEBH 473 771
retirement plans obligation RE
(i)~ Movements in the present value of the defined (i)  AEBFBRAKFEEBHREE
benefit retirement plans obligation:
As at December 31,
M12H31H
2022 2021
20224 20214
USD’000 USD’000
FFEEn FET
At the beginning of the year REF A 771 972
Remeasurements effect recognized in ~ REMEE R AERNER
other comprehensive income FrERE
— Actuarial gain — BERE (193) (46)
— Exchange adjustment —EH R (49) (79)
529 847
Benefits paid by the plans BT RIER (62) (85)
Current service cost BIVAR AR 75 Ak AN 1 1
Interest cost FE A 5 8
At the end of the year RER 473 771
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31

(a)

EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS
(CONTINUED)

Defined benefit retirement plans obligation
(continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Amounts recognized in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income are as follows:

IN=RRLET e IR

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated))
(UZET[ETT 137 - BRIESEHEH)

31 EERAKER (H)

(a) REBIEBNRITEEE (H)

(i)  MNEEAEEMEMCEERERETER
HEEEmMT

As at December 31,

M12H31H
2022 2021
20224 20214
USD’ 000 USD’000
FEx FET
Current service cost BIVEA BR 75 A AN 1 1
Interest on defined benefit retirement AERABRETEERBEHE 5 8
plans obligation
Total amounts recognized in RERANERNESE 6 9
profit or loss (Note 6(b)) (Htit6(b))
Actuarial gain BEWKE (193) (46)
Exchange adjustment i 5 R (28) (79)
Total amounts recognized in other FOE M 2 T U R T R Y (221) (125)
comprehensive income Hme
Total defined benefit costs AEBFKAEE (215) (116)

The current service cost and the interest on
defined retirement obligation are recognized
in the following line items in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss:

(iv)  BNERRRFGRCA K SRE R KF A B
RAERROTSIAR PR

As at December 31,

MW12831H
2022 2021
20224 20214
USD’000 USD’000
FE5x F=ET
Cost of sales $HE R A 6 9
RIEERER AT T —FFR 215
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(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZETT[FET 137 - BIESEIEH)

31 EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS 31 {EEEKERN(EK)
(CONTINUED)

(a) Defined benefit retirement plans obligation (a) HREBAEKTERKE (&)
(continued)

(v)  Significant actuarial assumptions (expressed as (v) EAMBERRE (CANETFI9EET)
weighted averages) and sensitivity analysis are REBEESTIT :
as follows:

As at December 31,

MW12H31H
2022 2021
2022F 20214
USD’000 USD’000
FXx FET
Discount rate ALIR & 3.67% 0.70%
Rate of pension increase RIKS I N 1% 1%
Death rate T E RT 2018 G RT 2018 G
Retirement age RIKEFHR age 65 age 65
Staff turnover BImAE 0.00% 0.00%
The below analysis shows how the defined TASATEER T FE fE N & T A ]
benefit obligation would have increased/ FEIRE IR R £ 20% S E) Mg i, Ol

(decreased) as a result of 20% change in the )
discount rate:

As at December 31,

A12H31H
2022 2021
20224 20214
Increase Decrease Increase Decrease
in 20% in 20% in 20% in 20%

#H120% mWA20% #H120% B 20%
USD’ 000 USD’ 000 USD’000 USD’000

SFE D FXTT FEr FEx
Discount rate ALIR K (6) 6 (17) 17
The above sensitivity analysis is based on EXHRESTHREBEREELE)
the assumption that changes in actuarial AR KA R RIBE KR ZE
assumptions are not correlated and therefore HIMERA M -

it does not take into account the correlations
between the actuarial assumptions.
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31

(b)

EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS
(CONTINUED)

Defined contribution retirement plans

Pursuant to the relevant labor rules and regulations
in the PRC, the PRC subsidiaries of the Group
participate in defined contribution retirement plans
(the “Schemes”) organized by the local authorities
whereby the entities are required to make contributions
to the Schemes based on a percentage of the eligible
employees’ salaries during the years ended December
31, 2021 and 2022. Contributions to the Schemes vest
immediately. Under the Schemes, retirement benefits
of existing and retired employees are payable by the
relevant scheme administrators and the Group has no
further obligations beyond the annual contributions.
There is no forfeited contributions that may be used by
the Group to reduce the existing level of contribution.

The Group’s subsidiaries in jurisdictions other than the
PRC, make contributions to local retirement schemes
pursuant to the relevant labor rules and regulations in
the jurisdiction in which such subsidiary located.

31

(b)

IN=RRLET e IR

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated))
(UZET[ETT 137 - BRIESEHEH)

EBERKEN (F)

REMRFRKTE

IR 9E P BB M BE &5 B A AR S G0 - AR
BB B A F) 2 B i 5 M A AR A 9 R B AR
RORETEI(TFFEI]) - il - BE2021F &
2022F12A31HIEFE - EAERAEER
AEREEFESME—EB D LAFEIED
I o R EIEE M HRENEFB - BB
g HEAETEAEZNEE KRB RKE
BHENER - BREEHZIN  AEEIWLE
FT#E—EF - NEBEWEHURER
BHRFOKFRZ UK -

AEERFEAIIRDEEEROME AR
BZMBRRMEREAEERNAMS X
R ARDIR & R RET B MR 5K -

RIEERERAT — T —FFIR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

=R RLET ek

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZETT[FET 137 - BIESEIEH)

32 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 32 EX - -#EERRE
(a) Movement in components of equity (a) BREARIBDHEE
The reconciliation between the opening and closing REBSZEEDNSERIS D W RTERR
balances of each component of the Group's HRGEHRZHNEREANGEEREHEK -
consolidated equity is set out in the consolidated RABIE R R AR B R EEERZ
statements of changes in equity. Details of the changes M EE BRI T ¢
in the Company’s individual components of equity
between the beginning and the end of the year are set
out below:
The Company A a]
Reserves
3]
Share Other Retained Total
capital reserve profits
BA  HttEE REFE #st
Note USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000
23 FER FER TER TER
At January 1, 2021 M2021F1 /18 50,279 21,077 159,548 230,904
Changes in equity for 2021: 2021 FryfEm i d
Loss and total comprehensive FRBER - - (12,799)  (12,799)
income for the year RN EERE
Issuance of ordinary shares under RBHREITL AR 749 - - 749
right issues
Issuance of ordinary shares under the — 1RIERGHE BT Z 7,107 - - 7,107
Share Incentive Scheme BEITEAR
Appropriation of dividends BERE 32(b) - - (15,000)  (15,000)
Issuance of ordinary shares by initial ~ AEXAFHEETR 386,486 - - 386,486
public offering, net of issuance costs 47 iBA%
(FABRBATAA)
Balance at December 31, 2021 and R2021F 123318 & 444,621 21,077 131,749 597,447
January 1, 2022 2022F 1 A1 HM&E#
Changes in equity for 2022 2022 F )t & B
Profit and total comprehensive FAFER - - 68,434 68,434
income for the year RN EERE
Appropriation of dividends BERE 32(b) - -  (35,051) (35,051)
Issuance of ordinary shares by NEARHABEESR 32(c) 58,033 - — 58,033
initial public offering, net of BITERR
issuance costs (FBREITHA)
Balance at December 31, 2022 202212 A31H 502,654 21,077 165,132 688,863
B AR
Chervon Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022
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32

(b)

(c)

CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(CONTINUED)

Dividends

Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the
Company attributable to the previous financial years,
declared and approved during the years ended
December 31, 2021 and 2022 is as follow:

32

(b)

NP ET e

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwis:

P 5

e indicated)

(AZET [T IT - B = EEE)

X - RERKRE (8)

RE

HE2021F K2022F 12 A31HILFEERE
R Ko b B B A AN 1 B RE 5 AR R A B T B R

FERBMT

Year ended December 31,
BZ12A31HLEEE

2022 2021
20224 20214
USD’000 USD’000
TEx FET
Dividends in respect of previous financial BEREIERBEMRFERS 35,051 15,000
years declared and approved
Share capital (c) BE
Number of
Note Shares HKD’ 000 uUsSD’000
i3 BROHAE FET FEx
Ordinary shares, issued and TER BE8T
fully paid: R#R
At January 1, 2021 R2021%F1H1H 390,000,000 390,000 50,279
Issuance of ordinary shares RIRHARETT (i) 5,844,911 5,845 749
under right issues T E A%
Issuance of ordinary shares RIRAEAE B FT 2 11,670,500 55,435 7,107
under the Share Incentive EITE R
Scheme
Issuance of ordinary shares LEXAREES (i) 71,916,000 3,014,591 386,486
by initial public offering, NBEITEER
net of issuance costs (FNBREEITRCAN)
At December 31, 2021 R20214F 479,431,411 3,465,871 444 621
12A31H
Issuance of ordinary shares by AR 75 8 KA A AR (iii) 10,787,400 452,656 58,033
public offering pursuant to AAREE
the over-allotment option, FREBETEBR
net of issuance costs
At December 31, 2022 20224 490,218,811 3,918,527 502,654
12H31H
RIEZBRARAT T _FFR 219
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=R RLET ek

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZETT[FET 137 - BIESEIEH)

32

()

(d)

220

CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(CONTINUED)

Share capital (continued)

Notes:

(i) Pursuant to a written resolution dated March 17,
2021, the Company issued and allotted a total
of 5,844,911 shares by way of rights issue at the
subscription price of HKD1.00 to the shareholders.

(i) On December 30, 2021, the Company issued
71,916,000 shares at an offer price of HKD43.60
per share by way of public offering. Net proceeds
from these issues amounted to HKD3,014,591,000
(USD386,486,000 equivalent) (after offsetting
costs directly attributable to the issue of shares
of HKD120,947,000 (USD15,506,000 equivalent),
which were recorded in share capital.

(iii) On January 26, 2022, the Company issued and
allotted additional 10,787,400 shares at an offering
price of HKD43.60 per share by way of public
offering pursuant to the over-allotment option.
Net proceeds from these issues amounted to
HKD452,656,320 (USD58,032,862 equivalent)
(after offsetting costs directly attributable to the
issue of shares of HKD17,674,320 (USD2,265,938
equivalent), which were recorded in share capital).

In accordance with section 135 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, the ordinary shares of the
Company do not have a par value.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive
dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled
to one vote per share at meetings of the Company.
All ordinary shares rank equally with regard to the
Company'’s residual assets.

Nature and purpose of reserves

(i) Other reserve

Other reserve primarily represented the portion
of the grant date fair value of shares granted by
the Share Incentive Scheme to the directors and
employees of the Group.

Chervon Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022
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(c)

(d)

X - RERKRE (8)

R ()
e

(i) RIEBEA2021F3 17 HNEERZ
R ARE AR IR REE .00
TCIAAR R 89T AL 85 3£5,844,911 %
B&1D o

(ii) MR2021F12 8308 » AR F AAF
BEMNFNIREEBETRI3.608THE
f7771,916,000 /%17 - ZEEHTH
Fr{S 3B $543,014,591,0008 T
(386,486,000FE L& (H) (4L eHE1T
B0 B B AR A 120,947,000 7T
(15,506,000 L% E) 1) + WARZA
FRaCE% o

(iiiy  HR2022%1A26H @ AARIBRIEBE
RRREAARABEE T NIRBEETR
43.6075 81T R FL 3 %E5M 0,787,400
B - ZSBITHAERIEBFER
452,656,320/ 7T (fHE 758,032,862
E) (BIREBITROEEEMERAE
17,674,320 7T (ME 12,265,938
o) & BETARE) o

REEERRIKHE135F
WA -

AR EEER

=

EREBRFEAREERRIREIRNEE AR
ARBEHLURERBROHER —REREE
RARRWRBEENS AT BEREAR
EES::fvat

o

REMEREHN
(i)  EfbEE

HibfE#H T 2B &R T
AEEEZERESNRMVRLAH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

32

(d)

CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(CONTINUED)

Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)

(1)

(iii)

PRC statutory reserve

Statutory reserve is established in accordance
with the relevant PRC rules and regulations and
the articles of association of the companies
comprising the Group which are incorporated in
the PRC.

In accordance with the PRC Company Law,
certain subsidiaries of the Group which are
domestic enterprises are required to allocate
10% of their profit after tax, as determined in
accordance with the relevant PRC accounting
standards, to their respective statutory reserves
until the reserves reach 50% of their respective
registered capital. For the entity concerned,
statutory reserves can be used to make good
previous years’ losses, if any, and may be
converted into capital in proportion to the
existing equity interests of investors, provided
that the balance of the reserve after such
conversion is not less than 25% of the entity’s
registered capital.

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation
of the financial statements of operations with
functional currency other than USD. The reserve
is dealt with in accordance with the accounting
policy as set out in Note 2(x).

IN=RRLET e IR

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated))
(UZET[ETT 137 - BRIESEHEH)

32 #HX  RmERKRE (H)

(d) REEERBW A
(i) PEAEFE

VA TE R 1R R AR B o B AR B AN AR B A
REREZEMRINAEEETER
RIM S EIZ A AIRTE -

BEFRAGNE  BEAGENHARE
EETETHBARESEEEKRTE
FEE10% (EHBER E gt E8]E
E)EHZEMNEERE EE2FE
ENHZEEMELARS0% - HRE
FAERmME  EERENARREER
AFEMEE (INE)  WARERE
ERBERSTEEOLERSER -
FBESRTEREN DR ZE BT M
BARH25% °

(i)  FEREE
ERFEREREDEEETIEET
R E IRz BRI A INE =
B o ZEBIREN 2 ) ENE
FTBURRIE ©
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(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZETT[FET 137 - BIESEIEH)

32

(e)

222

CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(CONTINUED)

Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns
for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders,
by pricing products and services commensurately with
the level of risk and by securing access to finance at a
reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages
its capital structure to maintaining a balance between
the higher shareholders returns that might be possible
with higher levels of borrowings and the advantages
and security afforded by a sound capital position, and
makes adjustments to the capital structure in light of
changes in economic conditions.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of
a net gearing ratio. For this purpose, the Group defines
net debt as total current and non-current bank loans
and lease liabilities less cash and cash equivalents
and pledged deposits. The Group defines capital as
including all components of equity.

Chervon Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022
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(e)
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32

(e)

IN=RRLET e IR

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated))

CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 32

(CONTINUED)

Capital management (continued)

(e)

The Group’s net debt to capital ratio are as follows:

(AZET [T IT - B = EEE)

X - RERKRE (8)

EXEHE (#)
REBRFEHERLLFMT

As at December 31,

M12A318
2022 2021
20224 20214
USD’000 UsSD’000
SEESm FET
Current liabilities: mEBIE
Bank loans IRITER 192,904 424,948
Lease liabilities HEaE 7,583 6,114
200,487 431,062
Non-current liabilities: EmRBAE -
Bank loans RITER 136,589 8,698
Lease liabilities HEaE 14,460 17,121
151,049 25,819
Less: Cash and cash equivalents W RERIBEEED (466,713) (664,990)
Pledged deposits TR (36,495) (48,340)
Adjusted net debt (Note) RARFEL (M) - -
Total equity QB 946,099 797,017
Net debt to capital ratio BEKERLRE 0% 0%

Note:

Net debt to capital ratio is zero when the amount of cash
and cash equivalent and pledged deposits of the Group is

higher than gross debt.

e

EAKENRE IR EBYRERERNE

BB EG AR

FEBEALERLAE -
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(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZETT[FET 137 - BIESEIEH)

33

(a)

224

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency
risks arises in the normal course of the Group's
business.

The Group’s exposure to these risks and financial risk
management policies and practices used by the Group
to manage these risks are described below:

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will
default on its contractual obligations resulting in a
financial loss to the Group. The Group’s credit risk is
primarily attributable to trade and other receivables.
The Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from cash
and cash equivalents, pledged deposits and bills
receivable is limited because the counterparties are
reputable financial institutions with high credit standing,
for which the Group considers to have low credit risk.

Except for the financial guarantees given by the Group
as set out in Note 35 the Group does not provide any
other guarantees which would expose the Group to
credit risk. The maximum exposure to credit risk in
respect of these financial guarantees at the end of the
reporting period is disclosed in Note 35.

Trade receivables

The Group has established a credit risk management
policy under which individual credit evaluations are
performed on all customers requiring credit over
a certain amount. These evaluations focus on the
customer’s past history of making payments when
due and current ability to pay and take into account
information specific to the customer as well as
pertaining to the economic environment in which the
customer operates. Trade receivables are due within
30 to 180 days from the date of billing. Normally, the
Group does not obtain collateral from customers.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit
risk in industries or countries in which the customers
operate. Significant concentrations of credit risk
primarily arise when the Group has significant exposure
to individual customers. As at December 31, 2022,
32% (2021: 30%) of the total trade receivables was
due from the Group’s largest customer and 68% (2021:
68%) was due from the Group’s five largest customers
respectively.
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33

(a)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Credit risk (continued)
Trade receivables (continued)

The Group measures loss allowances for trade
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs,
which is calculated using a provision matrix. As the
Group’s historical credit loss experience does not
indicate significantly different loss patterns for different
customer segments, the loss allowance based on past
due status is not further distinguished between the
Group’s different customer bases.

The following table provides information about the
Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade
receivables:

33

(a)

2= A = >3
SN E e
(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated))
(UZETT [T /57 - BRI H59)
MERBREEREMIANAAEE

(&)

FERRE (&)
E SN R (B)

AEBEZASR2HRREEE RN B
EESREGABREE  FRSBIER
BEEEFESH  ERNAKENBEREER
BRERIT BRI TIAEPIHEEAER
PEIRELRE - URB AR E R B IEEE
TEEAEETREPREEE —FED -

TRE®RTAKEMERNE S RYKKARE
ERkRIRREEERENER

At December 31, 2022
"2022%12A31H

Gross

Expected carrying Loss

loss rate amount allowance

FEHE IR R BRE4A% BERE

% USD’000 USD’000

% TER TER

Current (not past due) BIER (R HR) 0.51% 151,904 (770)

Less than 3 months past due BMEA = AL T 1.02% 11,364 (116)

More than 3 months but less than B E =8 A 5.28% 5,057 (267)
12 months past due BLR12(EA

More than 12 months but less than B R R121E A 11.86% 953 (113)
24 months past due BAR241E A

More than 24 months but less than B BRER R 24 18 A 16.67% 6 (1)
36 months past due BR361E A

More than 36 months past due BHEAFE @36 1E A 100.00% 203 (203)

169,487 (1,470)
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=R RLET ek

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD”) unless otherwise indicated)
(UZETT[FET 137 - BIESEIEH)

33 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(a) Credit risk (continued)

Trade receivables (continued)

33

(a)

BEEREEREMIANAAEHE
(&)

FERRE (&)
E SN R (B)

At December 31, 2021
R2021F12/831H

Gross

Expected carrying Loss

loss rate amount allowance

TEHIBEX BRMERE E IR R

% USD’000 USD’000

% FETT TFETT

Current (not past due) BIER (R Hd) 1.00% 148,298 (1,480)

Less than 3 months past due BEA=E AT 1.02% 17,566 (180)

More than 3 months but less than EHAER A — ([ A 5.59% 4,415 (247)
12 months past due BAR12(EA

More than 12 months but less than w AR 1218 A 10.78% 436 (47)
24 months past due BLR24EA

More than 24 months but less than mEAE @24 (E A 20.13% 149 (30)
36 months past due BR361EA

More than 36 months past due B HARR A 36 1 H 100.00% 242 (242)

171,106 (2,226)

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss
experience over the past years. These rates are
adjusted to reflect differences between economic
conditions during the period over which the historic
data has been collected, current conditions and the
Group’s view of economic conditions over the expected
lives of the receivables.
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33

(a)

(b)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Credit risk (continued)
Trade receivables (continued)

Movement in the loss allowance in respect of trade
receivables is as follows:

IN=RRLET e IR

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated))
(UZET[ETT 137 - BRIESEHEH)

33 UHREREEREMIANQIAEE
(&)

(a RFERRGE

EZENTE (F)
BB ZERMGANBEEEEZESHMT

As at December 31,

M12A31H
2022 2021
2022F 20214
USD’000 UsD’000
F=75 FET
At the beginning of the year RF ] 2,226 2,152
Impairment loss recognised EHERBIEEE 1,401 278
Amounts written off during the year FEHENSRE (2,159) (207)
Exchange adjustment ME H 5 2 3
At the end of the year RER 1,470 2,226

The following significant changes in the gross carrying
amounts of trade receivables contributed to the change
in the loss:

- origination of new trade receivables net of those
settled resulted in an increase of USD1,401,000
(2021: an increase of USD278,000).

- change in past due trade receivables resulted in
a decrease in loss allowance of USD2,159,000
(2021: USD207,000).

Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management, including
the short-term investment of cash surpluses and the
raising of loans to cover expected cash demands,
subject to approval by the parent company’s board
when the borrowings exceed certain predetermined
levels of authority. The Group’s policy is to regularly
monitor its liquidity requirements and its compliance
with lending covenants to ensure that it maintains
sufficient reserves of cash and adequate committed
lines of funding from major financial institutions to meet
its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

B 5 RERIRREAEN T EREEEHN

— EXFESRIRFZE (HMREesEE)
WEIEHN1,401,000FE 7T (20214 -
#N278,000%7T) °

- 80 B B 5 E Y Bk 0R B B E BUES 1A
4 2,159,000% J¢ (20214 :
207,000%7T) ©

(b) REBMEREME

AEEETEIGCEERARSAREE
B BRRSAKEHRERRNEEHRR
SERMEBEER - EEFREL —ERER
ERFERARBHATNESSHE - AEE
MERAERERERDESTFRREET
EERHENER  NERERTENR S
BRKE T B REEN T HAERE M
REEHEEMNRBESFFR -
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33

(b)

228

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 33 B XEEBREERSMIANAAEE
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (#&)
(CONTINUED)
Liquidity risk (continued) (b) RENVERER ()
The following tables show the remaining contractual TEREINAEESRBEENH TE NI G
maturities of the Group's financial liabilities, which o EDEREGHARMRBeRE (B
are based on contractual undiscounted cash flows AT RFE R W F BT ETE - BIIRA
(including interest payments computed using #Ed:ElﬁéﬁE’JZéﬁqﬁ"Ja—\E SR ENR) kAR
contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates current EAEMNFH&ETE B
at the reporting date) and the earliest date the Group
can be required to pay:
At December 31, 2022
#2022512A31
More than More than Carrying
Within 1yearbut 2 years but amount at
1 year or on less than less than More than December 31,
demand 2 years 5 years 5 years Total 2022
120225
1£/3 BBI1E BiB2E 12A318K
BER BORE BHR5E BiB5F @t BEE
USsD’000 UsD’000 UsD’000 USsD’000 UsD’000 USsD’000
FTxn FTxn FTxn Txn Txn Txn
Bank loans RITER 201,323 106,287 33,854 1,103 342,567 329,493
Lease liabilities RERE 8,187 4,147 6,535 3,745 22,614 22,043
Trade and bills payables EHRNTER 294,452 - - - 294,452 294,452
AES
Other payables and accruals EHERTER 177,166 - - = 177,166 177,166
JE;tBA
Refund liabilities from right of retun ~ REEFINEZBE 6,432 = = = 6,432 6,432
687,560 110,434 40,389 4,848 843,231 829,586
Financial quarantees issued: B ARHER:
Maximum amount guaranteed RRERSE (M235) 7,897 = = = 7,897 =
(Note 35)
Derivatives settled gross: TEIERRRAE
Foreign currency forward and MERHRBESD
option contracts (Note 76) (H:18)
- outflow i (223,745) - - - (223,745) -
- inflow A 222,452 - - - 222,452 -
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(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated))
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 33 H¥EMEERESBIAENAAEBE

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (&)
(CONTINUED)
Liquidity risk (continued) (b) REMERR(E)
At December 31, 2021
#2021%12A318
More than More than Carrying
Within Tyearbut 2 years but amount at
1 year or on less than less than More than December 31,
demand 2 years 5 years 5 years Total 2022
R2020F
B BEE farerks 128318
BEX [ER2F [BAH55E EBoE st HEREE

USD'000 USD'000 UsD'000 USD'000 USD'000 USD'000
TEL TEL TEL TEL TEL TEL

Bank loans RITER 440,705 1,934 7,649 - 450,288 433,646
Lease liabilities HEskE 6,926 6,138 7,712 5,181 25,957 23,235
Trade and bills payables EHRNFERENRE 513,252 - - - 513,252 513,252
Other payables and accruals EfRNEREER 205,404 - - - 205,404 205,404
Refund liabilities from right of REENNESREE 4,252 - - - 4,252 4,252
return
1,170,539 8,072 15,361 5,181 1,199,153 1,179,789
Financial guarantees issued: BILABTBER :
Maximum amount guaranteed RRERSE 10,038 - - - 10,038 -
(Note 35) (Hit3s)
Derivatives settled gross: fETAREER:
Foreign currency forward and SMERERBEAY
option contracts (Nos 18) (Hri18)
- outflow — it (291,409) - - - (291,409) -
- inflow -mA 296,004 - - - 296,004 -
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33 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 33
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(c) Interest rate risk (c)

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from
short-term and long-term borrowings. Borrowings issued
at variable rates and at fixed rates expose the Group to
cash flow interest rate risk and fair value interest rate
risk respectively. The Group’s interest rate profile as
monitored by management is set out in (i) below:

(i) Interest rate profile (i)

The following table details the interest rate profile of the

Bt 7 &, Bax
(&)

MZ=E R

EEREMTIANQIAREBE

$%IE’J7’FU}FJ—L T BEREEHREHE
CEFEBME R EENEERMERS

E@/'\ J

mERERENXRAREAAEE

MR o B IR S B R R B R R BDR

RT() -

FIEBER

TRFADNFE PRA KB B REEOFIE

Group’s total borrowings as at the end of the reporting BOR
period:
2022 2021
20224 20214
Effective Effective
Interest rate Amount Interest rate Amount
BIRF= ©8 RS o
% USD’000 % UsD’000
% TER % FET
Fixed rate borrowings: BIER ZEK :
Bank loans RITER 2.650% — 192,770 1.2000% 254,871
3.650% -4.6000%
Variable rate borrowings: FEARER
Bank loans BITER 0.7000% — 136,724 0.7000% 178,775
5.1450% -5.1450%
Total borrowings et 329,494 433,646
Fixed rate borrowings as a & E F R ER 59% 59%
percentage of total IhfEF A
borrowings BB
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33

(c)
(ii)

(d)

(i)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Interest rate risk (continued)
Sensitivity analysis

At December 31, 2022, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates,
with all other variables held constant, would have
decreased/increased the Group’s profit after tax and
retained profits by approximately USD1,156,000 (2021:
USD1,332,000).

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the
instantaneous change in the Group’s profit after taxation
(and retained profits) that would arise assuming that
the change in interest rates had occurred at the end of
each reporting period and had been applied to floating
rate non-derivative instruments held by the Group,
which expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk.
The impact on the Group’s profit after taxation (and
retained profits) is estimated as an annualized impact
on interest expense of such a change in interest rates.
Fixed rate financial instruments are excluded for the
above analysis. The analysis is performed on the same
basis as 2021.

Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily
through sales, purchase and borrowings which give
rise to receivables, payables, cash balances and bank
loans that are denominated in a currency other than
the functional currency of the operations to which the
transactions relate. The currencies giving rise to this
risk are primarily USD.

Exposure to currency risk

The following table details the Group’s exposure as
at December 31, 2022 to currency risk arising from
the recognized assets or liabilities denominated in
a currency other than the functional currency of the
entity to which they relate. For presentation purpose,
the amounts of exposure are shown in USD translated
using the spot rate of the end of each reporting period.
Differences resulting from the translation of the financial
statements of the Group's subsidiaries with functional
currency other than USD into the Group’s presentation
currency are excluded.

33

(c)
(ii)

(d)

(i)

IN=RRLET e IR

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated))

(AZET [T IT - B = EEE)

HREREERERIANAAEBE
(&)

F=mk (4)

K2022%F 12 318 « BIAGH - FIKERE £
Ft/ THRA00EES - EFBEMESR
BTENERT « AEERRBEFERR
BFEm A IN%1,156,0003% 7 (2021
£ 1 1,332,000%7T)

b 8RR E o5 AT BRUT AN S B e B AR B
(RREBFE) JRREENESEE  ZHR
RUXZPHORNERERREL  YOAR
150 7 55 (3 T W 38 2 2 M) 3 L B ) A 5 [
FEFBNEIFTET A - REBRBRZF
B(RREMNE) IXZETIRBRANEES
HBERCNEHWPEEMGT - LA
TetREBMB TR - BENIIL2021FH
MARIEEETT o

E¥ER

AEBETRFEBHE BEREFEEEY
Bk MZEHE  BEMERELENRS
HENE LN EE AN TEHENE
WkIE - ERRIR - B AR RIRITER
SIEZERMNEETERET -

B RO

TRFMAEBR2022F12 531 BEER
NEEENAEEEEAUIINNEETENE
REEXBEMIIEHNEERR - BE7
ZER BEMOSENRASHRERRD
BVHATE R E BIEITIIR o LAEITTAIN B
ERBEASBEETHNB AR MERERES
REBHEYEEERNEBIEREA o
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33

(d)
(i)
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 33 HKEKREERSMIANAAEE
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (#&)
(CONTINUED)
Currency risk (continued) (d)y E¥RAR(E)
Exposure to currency risk (continued) (i) ErE O (&)
As the HKD is pegged to the USD, the Group considers R THEETTEN  NEERR/B THEE
the risk of movements in exchange rates between the T2 RMEREEREBR K -
HKD and the USD to be insignificant.
As at December 31,
M®12A31H
2022 2021
2022F 20214
USD’000 USD’000
F=75 FEx
USsD E
Cash and cash equivalents BelRe5EY 16,208 44,288
Trade and bills receivables B S RUGRIE R BN EE 176,036 205,030
Bank loans RITER - (75,078)
Trade and bills payables B 5 R FRIE R R R (49,589) (36,352)
Gross exposure arising from recognized ERAREERBEELANMOBE 142,655 137,888
assets and liabilities
Notional amounts of forward exchange FRYELC BT PR R ONE & 49 &2 (7,500) (136,000)
contracts and foreign currency option SNEBRER AN EE SR
contracts used as economic hedges
Net exposure arising from recognized ERAEERBEEEN 135,155 1,888

assets and liabilities pmb]
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33

(d)
()

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 33 H¥EMEERESBIAENAAEBE

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(CONTINUED)
Currency risk (continued)

Exposure to currency risk (continued)

(&)

(d) E¥ERRE)
() EEREERKO (&)

As at December 31,

MW12H31H
2022 2021
20224 20214
USD’ 000 USD’000
SFEEoE FET
EUR T
Cash and cash equivalents RekBReEEY 916 4,358
Trade and bills receivables B 5 e W 5 I R N i 75,970 148,896
Bank loans RITER (13,855) -
Trade and bills payables B S ENFIERENRE (12,113) (59,011)
Other payables and accruals HiERFIERETER - -
Gross exposure arising from recognized ERAEERBREEEN 50,918 94,243
assets and liabilities gL
Notional amounts of forward exchange R ESFREINES L (18,705) (15,457)
contracts and foreign currency option RONERREA O EESE
contracts used as economic hedges
Net exposure arising from recognized ERAEERAEEEN 32,213 78,786
assets and liabilities w1 SRR
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33 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 33
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(d)  Currency risk (continued) (d)
(ii) Sensitivity analysis (ii)

The following table indicates the instantaneous change
in the Group’s (loss)/profit after taxation (and retained
profits) that would arise if foreign exchange rates to
which the Group has significant exposure at the end
of the reporting period had changed at that date,
assuming all other risk variables remained constant.

Bt 7 &, Bax
(&)

EEREMTIANQIAREBE

E¥RER (E)
BRI

TRERHARERREARFAZERR
BEIMEEXNZ A HIREBE - AEEH

E%%EH?: B,/ FE (RREBFE) & BN
2 (RRAEEMEREEERFTE) -

234

2022 2021

2022 20214
Increase/ Effect on Increase/ Effect on
(decrease) profit after (decrease) profit after
in foreign taxation and in foreign taxation and
exchange rates retained profits exchange rates  retained profits
HNEEEX HERHERBR SNEER  HERBIERER
EH/(FH)  REMNEHIE H/(TH)  REFENZZ
% usD’ 000 % USD’'000
% eV % T
usb = 1% 1,146 1% 15
(1%) (1,146) (1%) (15)
EUR BT 1% 27 1% 725
(1%) (271) (1%) (725)

Results of the analysis as presented in the above table
represent an aggregation of the instantaneous effects
on each of the Group subsidiaries’ profit after tax and
equity measured in the respective functional currencies,
translated into USD at the exchange rate ruling at the
end of the reporting period for presentation purpose.

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change
in foreign exchange rates had been applied to re-
measure those financial instruments held by the
Group which expose the Group to foreign currency
risk as at December 31, 2022, including inter-
company payables and receivables within the Group
which are denominated in a currency other than the
functional currencies of the lender or the borrower. The
analysis excludes differences that would result from
the translation of the financial statements of entities
whose functional currency is not USD. The analysis
is performed on the same basis for the years ended
December 31, 2022.
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33

(e)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Fair value measurement
Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the
Group’s financial instruments measured at the
end of each reporting period on a recurring basis,
categorized into the three-level fair value hierarchy as
defined in HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement. The
level into which a fair value measurement is classified
is determined with reference to the observability
and significance of the inputs used in the valuation
technique as follows:

- Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using
only Level 1 inputs i.e.
unadjusted quoted prices in
active markets for identical
assets or liabilities at the
measurement date;

Fair value measured
using Level 2 inputs i.e.
observable inputs which
fail to meet Level 1, and
not using significant
unobservable inputs.
Unobservable inputs are
inputs for which market
data are not available;

- Level 2 valuations:

- Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using
significant unobservable

inputs.

33

(e)

IN=RRLET e IR

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated))
(UZET[ETT 137 - BRIESEHEH)

BEEREEREMIANAAEE
(&)

DMREETE
AR BEER

TRINTHRERERRIZEEEETELRSE
EemTAMNAREE  UHEABTBVBR
ERANFIFEAABEFEATH=ARAR
BEEMR ARBEFESHEERIZEM
BEREPAERGASBNATSERREE N
EEmT

- F1REE: ERBAEIRBARE
(BNEEEERBER
FRERMERRMS
EREHENRE) 71
ENRAEE:

- F2dfhiE: WAE2H 8 ABUE
(AT mERE1REKX
M BEBEABE) &
W ERBEKRTAIE
RRABEGFENR
REE- - THEES
ABEBERELESD
SRR B ABIE

- FIREE: RAERTABESH
ABBFENRAAE

E-
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33 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 33 HMEERREERSEBMIANAIAEBE
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (#&)
(CONTINUED)
(e)  Fair value measurement (continued) (e) AAREEE(E)
Fair value hierarchy (continued) DABEER (&)
Analysis on fair value measurement of derivative TEERIANARBEFEDTET :
financial instruments are as follows:
Fair value at
December 31,
2022 Fair value measurement at
20225 December 31, 2022 categorized into
12A31BH M2022F12 831 H
AREE DAEEFERA
USD’000 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
SFEE -5 ) B2k FEIR
Recurring fair value measurement EEMEQAAEE
&
Financial assets at FVPL UAREEFER
HBBHHAEH
BENESREE
- Insurance product — REBESR 6,202 = = 6,202
- Convertible bond — #RRES 20,019 20,019 - -
Derivative financial instruments TESRMIA
— Foreign currency forward contracts — SMEIREIA4) (1,291) - (1,291) -
— Foreign currency option contracts ~ — SMNEEIES 4 2 - 2 -
Trade receivables g EWNFE 51,029 - - 51,029
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(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated))

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 33
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)
Fair value measurement (continued) (e)
Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Fair value at

December 31,

(AZET [T IT - B = EEE)

HERBEEREMIANAAREE
(&)

REES
A BEER (&

™
i

o
E‘_

)

E(

oy

5

2021 Fair value measurement at
720214 December 31, 2021 categorized into
1243188 R2021F12 A31 B/
DREE RABEFERBA
UsD'000 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
FET 1R RN EPE
Recurring fair value measurement EEMAABENE
Financial assets at FVPL UAREEFER
HEETTAEH
BENEREE
— Insurance product —REBEmM 6,011 - - 6,011
~ Convertible bond — AR ES 38,031 38,031 - -
Derivative financial instruments fTESMIA
— Foreign currency forward contracts — SMERHIAA) 4,497 - 4,497 -
— Foreign currency option contracts ~ — SMNEHIES 4 98 - 98 -
— Interest rate swap contract — MEEHEL (6) - (6) -
Trade receivables EEY e e 118,554 - - 118,554

During the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021,
there were no transfers, or transfers into or out of Level
3. The Group’s policy is to recognize transfers between
levels of fair value hierarchy as at the end of the
reporting period in which they occur.

Valuation techniques and inputs used in Level 2 fair
value measurements

The fair value of forward exchange contracts in Level
2 is determined by discounting the difference between
the contractual forward price and the current forward
price. The discount rate used is derived from the
relevant government yield curve as at the end of the
reporting period plus an adequate constant credit
spread.

B E2022F K2021F1231HIEFE « I
MEAEIMLEFIMEL - AEEECEK
ROTBEENREARBRAAEBEERZ
FEEJE'\]E%’ ©

FoRmrn BEMETEANGBERNRE
ABUE

F2MERINESNNRIABETEEBTHE
BHEREREEMEMER CHNEZEE
E o FT{E M AOBEIR R DR IE S HIR #4868
R iRm it eiRENEREER
H o

FRIBERARAT —E-_—FFR
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33 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 33 HERKREEFRSBMIANQIAEE

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (#&)

(CONTINUED)

(e)  Fair value measurement (continued) (e) ADAREEFEE)

Fair value hierarchy (continued) DAEEER (&

The fair value of interest rate swaps is the estimated FEBHAH AR BEALAEEBRREHK

amount that the Group would receive or pay to transfer EEE MG eE - BEF

the swap at the end of the reporting period, taking FTRIRITR R RIS F A BRIEE -
into account current interest rates and the current

creditworthiness of the swap counterparties.

Information about Level 3 fair value measurements ERAZEIP A BEFENER

Significant
Valuation techniques unobservable inputs
B B i BERAFTUHERAHE

Insurance product Cash value (Note (i)) Expected return rate

RERE M RS EE (M) TE BBl #7 F

Trade receivables Discounted cash flow (Note ii)(Note (ii)) Expected return rate

2 5 FEWGRIE ARIRIRERE (B i)) (HaE i) TEHE] i F

Notes: BiaE -

0 The fair value of insurance product is the cash (i) REQE MBI R 7 BE AR AR A A
value that can be recovered from insurance WEMIREEE - DA BENFSEER
company. The fair value measurement is positively B3R R IE#ERFF - 720229128318
correlated to expected return rate. As at December B EMBEMESTENBERT @ &
31, 2022, it is estimated that with all other variables [RE R ARBEEM,BP5% &
held constant, an increase/decrease in fair value SEENFRFBEIEIM 5L 293,000
of insurance product by 5% would have increased/ =T (20214 : 221,000FT) °
decreased the Group’s profit for the year by
USD293,000 (2021: USD221,000).

(i) The fair value of trade receivables is calculated by (ii) B O RWHIEN AR BEEBIRTELS
discounting the expected future cash flows. The AR\ REAFEBL - AAEHEFE
fair value measurement is positively correlated to EATE BR[Ol ¥R R E AR RS o EA2022¢12ﬂ
expected return rate. As at December 31, 2022, 318 - A EFBEEMEETE NG
it is estimated that with all other variables held T BSEBGIBBH DR Tﬁi‘bﬂ//ﬁ,&
constant, an increase/decrease in fair value of trade LE5% - REEMFERFEBEEN R
receivables by 5% would have increased/decreased 4>2,130,0003 7T (20214 : 4,950,000
the Group's profit for the year by USD2,130,000 EJT) °
(2021: USD4,950,000).
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(e)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUES OF FINANCIAL
(CONTINUED)

Fair value measurement (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

INSTRUMENTS

The following table shows a reconciliation from the
beginning balances to the ending balances for fair
value measurement for financial assets at FVPL in Level

3 of the fair value hierarchy:

IN=RRLET e IR

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated))
(UZET[ETT 137 - BRIESEHEH)

33 UHREREEREMIANQIAEE
(&)

(e) AREMEE (HE)
R BEER(E)
TERERANBEEREIRPURAREE
SAEEHEHAANEHERNEREEND
RBEFENBRVEREBAREROENRY
AE -

E‘I_'

Financial assets

at FVPL
UAREESE
BEH#EHTAE
HEZNESREE
USD’ 000
FER
As at January 1, 2021 M2021F1H1H 11,221
Net realized and unrealized losses on LAk BEFEAESEHTAZHEEN 544
financial assets at FVPL CRIEEMND SR NRE IR EE T
Purchases BE 244,139
Sales and settlements HEREE (250,567)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEME AR (474)
Exchange difference M =5 1,148
As at December 31, 2021 and January 1, 2022 72021F 12 H31H k20221 1H 6,011
Net realized and unrealized losses on NAREEE A AEHERZD 1,654
financial assets at FVPL CRIEEMND IR RRE R EE T

Purchases BE 253,555
Sales and settlements HENRGEE (255,018)
Exchange difference M =8 =
As at December 31, 2022 2022912 H31H 6,202
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(e)

34

240

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 33 B XEEBREERSMIANAAEE
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (4&)
(CONTINUED)
Fair value measurement (continued) (e) AAREEE(E)
Fair value hierarchy (continued) DA EEER ()
Trade receivables carried at FVOCI are not materially A2021F 2 2022F 12 8318 » MARBE
different from their values as at December 31, 2021 and FFEREHEFHT AHEMEZARENE SRR
2022. HEHEESEETEEANER o
All financial instruments carried at cost or amortized R2021F 202212 A31H - R Al
cost are at amounts not materially different from their MR BENMESR TAMSEEER S
values as at December 31, 2021 and 2022. BEVESAER-
CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 34 BRI
Capital commitments outstanding at 31 December 2022 M2022F 12 A31 BRERE BB E= ARt
not provided for in the consolidated financial statements BENARBITERNAENT
were as follows:
As at December 31,
MW12A31H
2022 2021
20224 20214
USD’000 USD’000
ST FET
Contracted for EHES 2,017 2,203
Authorised but not contracted for DEREERETN 426,228 465,462
428,245 467,665
Represented by: 5
Construction of plant and buildings BERMWE REF 426,965 461,211
Acquisition of machinery and equipment BB E# a5 & 24 1,280 6,454
428,245 467,665
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(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated))
(UZET[ETT 137 - BRIESEHEH)

35 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 35 HEEAERE
Guarantee to customers mEFRENER
Guarantees were given by certain subsidiaries in the REBEFHWBAR G AEBBYIE=FX
Group to financial institutions in the PRC for certain PHETEERBETES RMEREIER o A
indebtedness of independent third-party customers of CEEENSARBERAEFEARNZE YR
the Group. The maximum exposures to the Group are B o MRS EREERIINT -

limited to the facilities granted to individual customer.
Details of guarantee to customers are set out below:

2022 2021
2022 20214

Maximum Maximum
guarantee Guarantee guarantee Guarantee
amount issued amount issued
BReEREHE BEHARER BeEReRE B AER
uUsSD’ 000 uUsSD’000 USD’000 USD’000
FER FERT FET FET
Bank A RTTA 7,897 1,304 8,626 2,113
Bank B #R17B - - 1,412 33
7,897 1,304 10,038 2,146

36 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 35 ®ABESXS

(a) Key management personnel remuneration (a) BREE A SHH

Remuneration for key management personnel of the FEEEREEABTH (BEDNAAT

includi [ h ’ n 5 = \ -
Group, including amounts paid to the Company’s EENRE (SEEESHEe) RENET

directors as disclosed in Note 8 and certain of the
S S EEBHEHIE = B 3
highest paid employees as disclosed in Note 9, is as BEFEROFE (FRRERMGE)) M

follows: e

Year ended December 31,

BZE12A31ALEE
2022 2021
20224 20214
USD’ 000 USD’000
SFEiom FEx
Short-term employee benefits HAEE®RA 4,531 5,262
Contributions to defined contribution FE HFCGRIRE IR 189 215

retirement plans

4,720 5,477

Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (see Note BN sERT AT B IR (RIEE6(b)) -

6(b)).
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36 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 36 EXBEHIRTS (E)

TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(b) Names and relationships of the related parties (b) HEAEEEHMEARIZINEBHINGE

that had other material transactions with the

Group

Name of related party

BBAKE B8

&/ EBRBR

Relationship

B

Mr. Pan Longquan
EERLE

Ms. Zhang Tong
R RL

Mr. Ke Zugian
BEE S

Nanjing Chervon Auto Precision Technology Co., Ltd.

BRRE R ERE R BR AR

Nanjing Yaoquan Investment Management Co., Ltd.
HRERREERERAR

Chervon Global Holdings Limited

Chervon Global Holdings Limited

Chervon (Nanjing) Management Services Co., Ltd.

K& (BR) EERBERD

242 Chervon Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022

Ultimate controlling shareholder of the Group

AL B FEERRER

Director of the Group

AEEEE

Director of the Group

AEEES

Associate of the Group

e SETk:q) i UNG

Controlled by directors of the Group

BAEEN —ZEEEE

Controlled by the ultimate controlling shareholder of the Group
PR AR B 0 SR AR R PRAR SR A

Controlled by the ultimate controlling shareholder of the Group

F AR (B A B AR R SR 2
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36

(c)

4= A

N [ /\ﬁﬁ%ﬁ&ﬁ

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated))
(UZET[ETT 137 - BRIESEHEH)

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 36 EXBEHAIRXS (E)

TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

Other significant related party transactions (c) HMBEXRBHAIRS

The Group had following transactions with related

parties:

AEEEBBTETTATRS ¢

P 5

Year ended December 31,
BZ12A31HLEE

2022 2021
2022F 20214
USD’ 000 USD’000
SRESE FET
Purchase of goods and service BEEmMRR®E
Nanjing Chervon Auto Precision R ST E AR E AT AR (9 77 -
Technology Co., Ltd. BRAF]
Lease payment from AT &AFHNEERR
Nanjing Chervon Auto Precision Technology & & I& /58 48 2 &7 AL 15 313 328
Co., Ltd. BRAT
Nanjing Yaoquan Investment Management @ RRBRREEERER AR 7 17
Co., Ltd.
320 345
Disposal of interest in subsidiaries and HERMBARREE QT
associates R
Chervon (Nanjing) Management Services RIE(FAR) BERBERAR - 33,665
Co., Ltd.
REERBRAT T _FFH 243
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36 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 36 EXBEHIRTS (E)

TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(c) Other significant related party transactions

(c) HtEXBEHIXS

Year ended December 31,
BZ12A31BLEE

2022 2021
2022F 20214
USD’ 000 UsD’000
ETT FET
Acquisition of non-controlling interests WS FEEE R S
Pan Longquan ERER - 14,236
Zhang Tong b2 - 8,514
Ke Zugian ] 1E Sk - 5,676
= 28,426
Acquisition of Convertible bond WEEATRRES
Nanjing Chervon Auto Precision Technology A R AR e T B AE B B AT — 18,300
Co., Ltd. f& 17 B PR 2 7]
Dividends received BWRE
Nanjing Chervon Auto Precision Technology R IR B T B AR B B AT AR 19 510 540
Co., Ltd. BRARA
Payments made on behalf of related parties X ZKBE S EH TR
Nanjing Chervon Auto Precision Technology R AR B R B S B B AT 1,303 1,631
Co., Ltd. I 17 B PR 2 7]
Receivables made on behalf of a related party {X3&R @B 7 EH KT E
Nanjing Chervon Auto Precision Technology AR I R B AS B R AT 196 153
Co., Ltd [SREE] YN
Advance to related parties BRTFRBS
Chervon Global Holdings Limited Chervon Global - 781
Holdings Limited
Repayment from related parties B IER
Pan Longquan ERER - 508
Zhang Tong SRk - 277
- 785
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36

(d)

IN=RRLET e IR

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated))
(UZET[ETT 137 - BRIESEHEH)

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 36 EXBEEIXS(E)
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)
Significant related party balances (d) EXBBLEE
The Group had following trade in nature balances with REEB AT B RIBEEE S 4k
related parties:
As at December 31,
MW12A31H
2022 2021
2022F 20214
USD’ 000 USD’000
SPEEoE FEx
Prepayments, deposits and other ENARE -  KRFSRHEMEBEKRE
receivables (Non-trade) (Note 21) (EEZB) (Kaz21)
Nanjing Chervon Auto Precision B LR &R BB E T IR D - 204
Technology Co., Ltd. BRAF]
Trade and bills payables (Note 25) EZREWRERERERE (KF725)
Nanjing Chervon Auto Precision B LR &S BB E R IR D 37 -
Technology Co., Ltd. BRAF]

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts
in relation to the Group’s business to which the
Company was a party and in which a director of the
Company had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year.

RERSEF NEAIRERE - ANQEBHmET 7
AEBEXBEAMARREENERERRK
MEEEEARENEARS  RHRE
#) o
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37 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF 37
FINANCIAL POSITION

D E B B B AR R

As at December 31,

R12A318

2022 2021
20224 20214
Note USD’000 UsD’000
Kz FE FE=

Non-current assets FREEE
Interests in subsidiaries SN NGIEop = 403,902 248,192
Loans to subsidiaries HHEARNER 13,429 -
417,331 248,192

Current assets RBEE
Prepayments, deposits and other TERHIE - REE2 K 21 269,539 8,235
receivables H b fE W SRR
Pledged deposits [ wieN - 403
Cash and cash equivalents ReRIBEEEYD 2,152 393,025
271,691 401,663
Current liability nBAE

Other payables and accruals H b B RIE R EET & A 159 52,408
159 52,408
Net current assets RBEEFE 271,532 349,255
Total assets less current liabilities REERABER 688,863 597,447
NET ASSETS EEFE 688,863 597,447

CAPITAL AND RESERVES EXRFHE
Share capital [N 32 502,654 444,621
Reserves 1 32 186,209 152,826
TOTAL EQUITY ERAE 688,863 597,447

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of

directors on 28 March, 2023.

Pan Longquan Zhang Tong
BRER 5327
Director Director
o= HE
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38

39

NON-ADJUSTING EVENTS AFTER THE
REPORTING PERIOD

On January 12, 2023, the Company, Panmercy
Holdings Limited, as the Seller and China International
Capital Corporation Hong Kong Securities Limited,
as the Placing Manager entered into a placing and
subscription agreement, pursuant to which, (a) the
Seller has agreed to appoint the Placing Manager, and
the Placing Manager has agreed to act as an agent of
the Seller and to procure purchasers to purchase on
a best efforts basis, an aggregate of up to 20,835,000
existing Shares at the price of HK$37.50 per Sale Share
(the “Placing Price”); and (b) the Seller has agreed to
subscribe for, and the Company has agreed to allot and
issue to the Seller, an aggregate of up to 20,835,000
new Shares at the Subscription Price (being the same
as the Placing Price).

Net proceeds from these issues amounted to
HKD773,800,000 (USD114,342,288 equivalent) (after
offsetting costs directly attributable to the issue of
shares of HKD7,513,000 (USD1,110,175 equivalent),
which were recorded in share capital).

IMMEDIATE AND ULTIMATE CONTROLLING
PARTY

At December 31, 2022, the Directors of the Company
consider the immediate parent of the Group is
Panmercy Holdings Limited, a company incorporated
in Hong Kong. This entity does not produce financial
statements available for public use.

The ultimate controlling party of the Group is Mr. Pan
Longquan, Chairman of the Group.

38

39

IN=RRLET e IR

(Expressed in US dollar (“USD’) unless otherwise indicated))
(UZET[ETT 137 - BRIESEHEH)

BRERRNFERARER

R2023F 1128 » AAR) - BEZERKRE
RAR(EAER) BAFBEEKRSREBE
HFHMRRA (EAREEHA)FIURE R
RERE Bt () BEFEREZTRE
EHRA - MEESEHACREBEETE W
RIE WREEFERENEENGREE
EH37.50BTHER(TREE])EBES
HE&%20,835,000 ARG : K(b)EF
ERERE  MAQARCEERREE (&
REBER) ABFRERETERARES
20,835,000 8% # A7 °

ZEEITH RTS8 F 5 /773,800,000
T (FEMR114,342,288% 70 ) (RE BT
B0 B FE1E X A 7,513,000/8 7 (ME R
1,110,175 7T) %% BT ARA) ©

HERBRERS

M2022F 128318 ARAEERAE K
SENEET AR AEBEERERAR © %
ANEIREB M - X EREY ERFR A
NEBEANITERE o

AEENERERT AAEEEERERR
FeHE o

FRIBERARAT —E-_—FFR
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40

248

POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS,
NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements,
the HKICPA has issued a number of new or amended
standards, which are not yet effective for the year
ended 31 December 2022 and which have not
been adopted in these financial statements. These
developments include the following which may be
relevant to the Group.

40

BZE2022F12A31HLEEECEM
EEAREMNIEE] - FEIARREN

A
B4

=

BEEZSUBREEMHAE  FESHMA
GHM T IERREEETER - ZEHER
DA EBIAE E2022F12 A31 B I
EMAERBESTERZEMHREPER
Mo HBfEr e RS BRI TSE -

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after
RUTBHRRS 2%
METTHBER

Amendments to HKAS 1, Classification of liabilities as current or non-current

BEREHENFE IR 2ER] BABEIEARDIIFRD

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2, Disclosure of

accounting policies

A EUF IRV BERELNERREL 2R ZEFT

Amendments to HKAS 8, Definition of accounting estimates

BREHERFESR2ER] - FefAEINER

Amendments to HKAS 12, Deferred tax related to assets and liabilities

arising from a single transaction

BREGRENF12R2ER] > BE-XSEANEENABRMNELRE

Amendments to HKAS 1, Classification of liabilities as current or non-current

ARG EUF IR 2ER] BABIBER/RBIIRD

Amendments to HKAS 1, Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

BFEGFENFE1RZER] - BREDERRDIIIRD

Amendments to HKFRS 16, Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

BRPBREEAE16ER] - ERBALTHHEERE

Amendments to HKAS 1, Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

BEREHEEIRER  HHERONFERDER

The Group is in the process of making an assessment
of what the impact of these developments is expected
to be in the period of initial application. So far it has
concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to
have a significant impact on the consolidated financial
statements.

Chervon Holdings Limited Annual Report 2022

BEEEER

1 January 2023
20231 H1H

1 January 2023
2023%F1H1H

1 January 2023
20231 H1H

1 January 2023
2023%F1A1H

1 January 2023
2023%F1A1H

1 January 2024
20241 H1H

1 January 2024
2024%F1A1H

1 January 2024
20241 H1H

RE B LR % S HRIAHN V6 E A
HENZE - 25 AEERBRAZFE
7] HRIRZRBIAT G HEE HBRE
EREATE -



CHERVON sz
Chervon Holdings Limited



	Cover
	Inside front cover
	Contents
	Company Introduction


	Corporate Information
	Financial Summary
	Chairman’s Statement
	Management Discussion and Analysis
	Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
	Directors’ Report
	Corporate Governance Report
	Independent Auditor’s Report
	Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
	Consolidated Statement of Other Comprehensive Income
	Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
	Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
	Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
	Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
	Back cover



